New Materials for Biological Applications Prepared by Olefin Metathesis Reactions

Thesis by

Heather Dawn Maynard

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

California Institute of Technology Pasadena, California

2001

(Defended July 5, 2000)

©2001 Heather Dawn Maynard All Rights Reserved Dedicated to my Mum, whose strength and will have been an inspiration Two Chinamen, behind them a third, Are carved in lapis lazuli, Over them flies a long-legged bird, A symbol of longevity; The third, doubtless a serving-man, Carries a musical instrument.

Every discoloration of the stone, Every accidental crack or dent, Seems a water-course or an avalanche, Or lofty slope where it still snows, Though doubtless plum or cherry-branch Sweetens the little half-way house Those Chinamen climb towards, and I Delight to imagine them seated there; There, on the mountain and the sky, On all the tragic scene they stare. One asks for mournful melodies; Accomplished fingers begin to play. Their eyes mid many wrinkles, their eyes, Their ancient, glittering eyes, are gay.

> -From Lapis Lazuli by William Butler Yeats

Acknowledgement

First and foremost, I would like to thank my advisor, Bob Grubbs for allowing me to venture into areas of my own interest, even when it meant working outside of the normal scope of the group. As a result, I learned how to research independently and become a free thinker. I appreciate your kindness and support over the last five years. I will look back fondly on my time at Caltech as some of the best years of my life.

I am grateful for the support of my committee members (past and present), John Bercaw, Dave Tirrell, Harry Gray, Barbara Imperiali, and Jeff Hubbell. I would especially like to thank Dave Tirrell and Jeff Hubbell for their advice and for letting me use their cell culture rooms.

Thank you Sheldon Okada. I owe a lot to Sheldon for his efforts on the polynorbornene-oligopeptide project. Not only is he an excellent chemist and cell biologist, but a generous, kind person, whom I feel lucky to know.

Many people helped me out in the beginning. I would like to thank Mike Marsella for getting me started on the polyether project and for giving me a lot of advice. Scott Miller, Geoff Coates, Eric Dias, Mike Wagaman, and Amy Giardello guided me as well.

Thank you to other past group members, Delwin Elder, Marcus Weck, LeRoy Jones, Michèle Cucullu, Erika Bellmann, Mike Ulman, Dave Lynn, Tom Kirkland, Tom Wilhelm, Andrew Morehead, Adam Matzger, and Matthias Scholl, for their assistance and great personalities. Students in Jeff Hubbell's group were invaluable in my acquiring knowledge of cell culture techniques. I'd especially like to thank Natalie Winblade who's been a good friend and Jason Schense for running cell toxicity tests for me. A big thanks also goes to Shelly Sakiyama, Don Elbert, and Alison Pratt.

The present "Grubbies" have contributed to a pleasant working environment. Thank you Tina Trnka and Eric Connor for being invaluable friends over these last years. I will miss going to coffee with Eric and listening to his Irish music. Tina has such a balanced life and makes time for her many talents. She has been an excellent example. After I discovered Tina's talent with English grammar, I enlisted her to proofread many documents, including parts of this thesis. Thanks to Arnab Chatterjee for keeping me company in the computer room, making coffee, and bringing donuts. He has been a huge asset to the group's social calendar. A big thanks to Jen Love and Melanie Sanford for reading parts of this thesis and for Wednesday lunch chats. My gratitude to JP Morgan for his pleasant attitude and for taking over the safety commitment, Jon Seiders, for contributive discussions, and Todd Younkin for helping me with the 400 NMR. Thank you to the rest of the group, Bill Ward, Dan Sanders, Oren Scherman, Diego Benitz, Tae-Lim Choi, Hyunjin Kim, Choon Woo Lee, Chris Bielawski, Janis Louie, and Mike Koscho.

The Tirrell group has been of great help. I really appreciate Kristi Kiick, for being a good friend and someone I can bounce ideas off of. Sarah Heilshorn helped get me started in the cell culture room, answered lots of questions and read parts of this thesis. Jeffrey Linhardt spent many hours helping me fight with the GPC to get decent

vi

spectra. And thank you to the rest of group, especially Kathy DiZio, Jill Sakata, and Dave Flanagan for their assistance over the last year.

I'd like to acknowledge the staff at Caltech for their help. Thank you, Linda Clark and Dian Buchness, for your support and for answering tons of questions. Paul Carroad and Chris Smith keep this place running and aided me when I was safety officer. Dana Roth has spent evenings helping me locate obscure library articles. Thank you, Peter Green, for getting me started on the ICP-MS; Steve Gould for ordering chemicals; Tom Dunn for fixing things; and the staff in the peptide lab for making peptides. I'd like to thank Scott Ross for his patience while teaching me the 600 NMR. JoAnn Fantino-Ruffolo in the career center made applying for a post doc a smooth process.

My friends outside of Caltech have kept me sane! I can not thank them enough for feeding my intellect and as well as my spirit. Melissa has been such a huge help through the good and bad times. Without her to call, I don't know what I would have done. I can't thank Aline enough for being a wonderful guide as well as a friend. I am so grateful to Linda (A.K.A. Westcoast mom) for being there for me. Di is way hip; I just hope I'm half as cool as you when I'm your age. Marie and Bobbie, you've been like sisters to me. Thanks to Eileen for helping me laugh at myself. Stephanie, thank you for taking me out of myself. Amber, Ali, Caz, and Robin, thanks for all the fun. My friends out of town have helped more than they know. Heath J., is as a best friend always is, the best. Thank you, Jamie, Mara, Christina, and Cam for all the fun vacations and telephone laughs.

I am so blessed to be part of such a warm and supportive extended family. Since I was born, Gee has been one of the most understanding people in my life; our relationship

has been invaluable to me. Hop was the same way. Thank you, Marylou, my aunts and uncles Nedra, Mary, Jerry, Julie, Len, and Patty. Thanks to my cousins, Nathan, Susan, Tonya, Tip, Tara, Holly, Jayson, Devon, Joanne, Katie, Bethany, and Kimberly. I would not be the person I am today without all of you.

Without the people closest to me, I would not have been able to complete this. Jim, I feel blessed to know such a good man. Thank you for your love and support. Jarod, you are the most creative and special person I have ever met. Life with you as a brother is never dull, not for one moment! Dad, you're the logical one. Thanks for "real"ing me in sometimes and for being there for me. Last but certainly not least, a big thanks to my Mum. Without you I wouldn't be here (literally). You gave me my love of poetry, which is what has always kept me sane. Thank you for always cheering me on.

Abstract

With the advent of well-defined ruthenium olefin metathesis catalysts that are highly active and stable to a variety of functional groups, the synthesis of complex organic molecules and polymers is now possible; this is reviewed in Chapter 1. The majority of the rest of this thesis describes the application of these catalysts towards the synthesis of novel polymers that may be useful in biological applications and investigations into their efficacy.

A method was developed to produce polyethers by metathesis, and this is described in Chapters 2 and 3. An unsaturated 12-crown-4 analog was made by template-directed ring-closing metathesis (RCM) and utilized as a monomer for the synthesis of unsaturated polyethers by ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP). The yields were high and a range of molecular weights was accessible. In a similar manner, substituted polyethers with various backbones were synthesized; polymers with benzo groups along the backbone and various concentrations of amino acids were prepared. The results from *in vitro* toxicity tests of the unsubstituted polyethers are considered.

The conditions necessary to synthesize polynorbornenes with pendent bioactive peptides were explored as illustrated in Chapter 4. First, the polymerization of various norbornenyl monomers substituted with glycine, alanine or penta(ethylene glycol) is described. Then, the syntheses of polymers substituted with peptides GRGD and SRN, components of a cell binding domain of fibronectin, using newly developed ruthenium initiators are discussed.

In Chapter 5, the syntheses of homopolymers and a copolymer containing GRGDS and PHSRN, the more active forms of the peptides, are described. The ability of the polymers to inhibit human dermal fibroblast cell adhesion to fibronectin was assayed using an *in vitro* competitive inhibition assay, and the results are discussed. It was discovered that the copolymer substituted with both GRGDS and PHSRN peptides was more active than both the GRGDS-containing homopolymer and the GRGDS free peptide.

Historically, one of the drawbacks to using metathesis is the removal of the residual ruthenium at the completion of the reaction. Chapter 6 describes a method where the water soluble tris(hydroxymethyl)phosphine is utilized to facilitate the removal of residual ruthenium from RCM reaction products.

Table of Contents

.

Chapter 1:	And Its Application to Bioactive Materials	1
	Part 1. Olefin Metathesis	2
	General Aspects	2
	Ring-Opening Metathesis Polymerization	6
	Ring-Closing Metathesis	8
	Cross Metathesis and Acyclic Diene	
	Metathesis Polymerization	10
	Part 2. Manipulation of Biological Response Through	
	the Incorporation of Poly(ethylene glycol) and	
	Arg-Gly-Asp into Synthetic Materials	12
	Poly(ethylene glycol) as a Biomaterial Incorporating Arg-Gly-Asp to Elicit a	12
	Biological Response	14
	Thesis Research	16
	References	19
Chapter 2:	The Synthesis of Polyethers Using a Tandem Approach: Template-Directed Ring-Closing Metathesis Followed by Ring-Opening Metathesis Polymerization	29
	Abstract	30
	Introduction	31
	Template-Directed RCM to Synthesize Unsaturated	
	Crown Ether Monomers	32
	Results and Discussion	35
	Polymer Synthesis and Characterization	35
	Depolymerization	40
	Toxicity of Polyether 6	41
	Summary	45
	Experimental Section	45
	Monomer Synthesis	47
	Polymer Synthesis	48
	Cell Culture	50
	Acknowledgements	51
	References	51

Chapter 3:	Synthesis of Peptide-Substituted Polyethers by Ring- Opening Metathesis Polymerization of Unsaturated Crown Ethers	54
	Abstract Introduction Results and Discussion Monomer Synthesis Polymer Synthesis and Characterization Polymers Containing RGD Summary Experimental Section Monomer Synthesis Polymer Synthesis Polymer Synthesis Acknowledgements References	55 56 57 57 62 69 70 71 72 78 81 81
Chapter 4:	Synthesis of Norbornenyl Polymers With Pendent Bioactive Oligopeptides by Ring-Opening Metathesis Polymerization	84
	Abstract Introduction	 85 86 88 88 93 101 106 107 109 109 111 122 130 131 131
Chapter 5:	Inhibition of Cell Adhesion to Fibronectin by Oligopeptide Substituted Polynorbornenes	134
	Abstract Introduction Results and Discussion	135 136 137

	Monomer and Polymer Synthesis and Characterization Inhibitory Activity of Polynorbornenes	137
	Substituted With Oligopeptides	140
	Summary	143
	Experimental	144
	Acknowledgements	152
	References	152
Chantan		
Chapter 6:	Purification Technique for the Removal of Ruthenium from Olefin Metathesis Reaction Products	154
Chapter 6:	Purification Technique for the Removal of Ruthenium from Olefin Metathesis Reaction Products	154 155
Chapter 6:	Purification Technique for the Removal of Ruthenium from Olefin Metathesis Reaction Products Abstract Introduction	154 155 156
Chapter 6:	Purification Technique for the Removal of Ruthenium from Olefin Metathesis Reaction Products Abstract Introduction Results and Discussion	154 155 156 157
Chapter 6:	Purification Technique for the Removal of Ruthenium from Olefin Metathesis Reaction Products Abstract Introduction Results and Discussion Summary	154 155 156 157 162
Chapter 6:	Purification Technique for the Removal of Ruthenium from Olefin Metathesis Reaction Products. Abstract. Introduction. Results and Discussion. Summary. Experimental.	154 155 156 157 162 162
Chapter 6:	Purification Technique for the Removal of Ruthenium from Olefin Metathesis Reaction Products. Abstract. Introduction. Results and Discussion. Summary. Experimental. Acknowledgements.	154 155 156 157 162 162 164

List of Figures, Tables, and Schemes

Chapter 1

Figures	
Figure 1	3
Figure 2	6
Figure 3	7
Figure 4	10
Figure 5	13
Figure 6	15
Figure 7	17
Figure 8	18

Schemes

Scheme 1	2
Scheme 2	2
Scheme 3	5
Scheme 4	9
Scheme 5	9
Scheme 6	1
Scheme 7	1

Chapter 2

Figure	S	
	Figure 1	42
	Figure 2	43
	Figure 3	44
Tables		
	Table 1	34
	Table 2	37
Schem	es	
	Scheme 1	32
	Scheme 2	33
	Scheme 3	35
	Scheme 4	36
	Scheme 5	37
	Scheme 6	40

Chapter 3

Figures	S		
	Figure 1	67	
Tables			
	Table 1	64	
	Table 2	66	
Schem	es		
	Scheme 1	58	
	Scheme 2	59	
	Scheme 3	59	
	Scheme 4	61	
	Scheme 5	61	
	Scheme 6	63	
	Scheme 7	69	
Chapter 4			
Tables			
	Table 1	96	
	Table 2	99	
	Table 3	105	
Schem	Schemes		
	Scheme 1	89	
	Scheme 2	90	
	Scheme 3	91	
	Scheme 4	91	
	Scheme 5	92	
	Scheme 6	102	
	Scheme 7	108	
Chapter 5			

Figures

	Figure 1	141
	Figure 2	142
Tables		
	Table 1	139

Schem	es Scheme 1	138
Chapter 6		
Figure	s Figure 1 Figure 2 Figure 3	157 158 160
Tables	Table 1	159
Schem	es Scheme 1 Scheme 2	158 161

Chapter 1

General Introduction to Olefin Metathesis

And Its Application to Bioactive Materials

Part 1. Olefin Metathesis

General Aspects. Olefin metathesis is a transition metal catalyzed reaction in which the groups of two substituted alkenes are transposed (Scheme 1).¹ Since this method is a catalytic way to both break and form C-C double bonds, it has developed into a powerful tool for organic molecule and polymer synthesis.



Scheme 1. General olefin metathesis reaction with unsymmetrically substituted olefins.

The mechanism of olefin metathesis, originally proposed by Chauvin *et al.*,² was shown to proceed through a metallacyclobutane intermediate (Scheme 2). A [2+2]cycloaddition between an olefin and a transition metal-carbene complex forms the intermediate. Cleavage of the metallacyclobutane can occur in a productive fashion to form a new metal-carbene and olefin or in a nonproductive fashion to revert back to the original starting materials. Each step in the reaction is reversible, and the reaction is under thermodynamic control.



Scheme 2. Chauvin mechanism of olefin metathesis.

The potential of metathesis in organic synthesis was greatly increased by the advent of single component catalysts.^{1,3} Because these well-defined complexes react in a controlled and consistent fashion, their activities and levels of functional group tolerance *can* be studied. As a result, the catalyst performance has been attenuated by altering the metal or ligand sphere, leading to the development of increasingly more active and tolerant catalysts. Many of the modern catalysts (representatives shown in Figure 1) are well suited for the synthesis of complex organic molecules and polymers.



Figure 1. Representative single-component, metathesis-active catalysts.

The molybdenum and tungsten catalysts, particularly **1**, developed by Schrock and coworkers (Figure 1), are highly active and able to affect a variety of transformations.⁴ However, the viability of these catalysts has been limited by their

3

extreme sensitivity to oxygen, water, and several common functional groups, such as aldehydes and alcohols. This limitation has restricted the application of these compounds to certain substrates and necessitated the use of rigorously purified solvents and starting materials.

Metathesis catalysts that are tolerant of both polar and protic functional groups were first discovered by Grubbs and coworkers, when the first ruthenium bisphosphine catalysts were developed (Figure 1).⁵ Since then, a number of ruthenium-based complexes have been synthesized that offer synthetic advantages over the molybdenum and tungsten alkylidenes.^{6,7} For example, **2** was found to be selective for olefins in the presence of a wide variety of functional groups, including alcohols and aldehydes.⁶ These ruthenium alkylidenes are also stable to many impurities including air, protic solvents, and water. In fact, catalyst **2** affects polymerizations in water under emulsion conditions using a surfactant.⁸ By altering the phosphine ligands on **2** to be water soluble, the catalyst is active in pure water or methanol.⁹ The only drawback of these bisphosphine catalysts is that they display lower activity compared to the molybdenum catalyst **1**, and they are not particularly stable to primary or secondary amines.

It was discovered by Herrmann,¹⁰ Grubbs,¹¹ and Nolan¹² that the activity of ruthenium catalysts could be increased by substituting one or both of the phosphines with basic N-heterocyclic carbene ligands. When the substitution was made with one 2,3-dihydroimidazolyidine ligand by Grubbs and coworkers,¹³ the resulting catalyst, **3**, was found to be more active than the molybdenum-based catalyst **1**.¹⁴ This activity was coupled with high stability and functional group tolerance demonstrated by the other ruthenium-based metathesis catalysts. This recent breakthrough has allowed for the

4

synthesis of materials previously inaccessible and for the reduction in catalyst loadings, making reactions more cost-effective.^{13,14,15}



Scheme 3. Metathesis processes: A) ring-closing metathesis; B) cross metathesis; C) ring-opening metathesis polymerization; D) acyclic diene metathesis polymerization.

Metathesis catalysts have been employed to synthesize small molecules, natural products, and polymers. These have been accomplished using the reactions shown in Scheme 3. Organic molecules have been synthesized by ring-closing metathesis (RCM) and cross metathesis (CM), while polymers have been synthesized using ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP) and acyclic diene metathesis polymerization

(ADMET). These processes are interrelated, and the particular pathway is determined by the olefin structure and reaction conditions.

Ring-Opening Metathesis Polymerization. Many olefin metathesis catalysts initiate the ROMP of cyclic olefins to yield poly(olefins) (Scheme 3C).^{1a,3b,16} ROMP is driven enthalpically by the release of ring-strain in the monomer. Highly strained monomers, such as norbornenes, cyclobutenes, and barrelenes (Figure 4, A-C), have been successfully polymerized using metal alkylidenes. Many metathesis catalysts will also affect the polymerization of less-strained olefins, such as cyclooctene, cyclopentene and cyclooctadiene (Figure 4, D-F). However, cyclohexene (Figure 4, G) will not polymerize under equilibrium conditions.¹⁷ Since ROMP is an equilibrium process, depending on the monomer and conditions used, depolymerization can also occur, where the growing chain "back-bites" to form cyclic olefins.^{1a,18}



Figure 2. Cyclic Olefins: A) norbornene, B) barrelene, C) cyclobutene, D) cyclooctene, E) cyclooctadiene, F) cyclopentene, and G) cyclohexene.

Compared to other types of polymerizations methods, ROMP has several advantages.^{3b,16a} Many of the metathesis catalysts already described initiate the living polymerization of strained cyclic olefins. A living polymerization proceeds in the absence of chain termination and can be used to synthesize polymers with predictable molecular weights and narrow polydispersities.¹⁹ In some cases, the architecture can also

be controlled, and block copolymers have been synthesized.²⁰ The synthesis of random copolymers is straightforward, because unlike other polymerization methods, generally the monomer incorporation is dependent only on the concentration in the feed. In *addition, the synthesis* of polymers with well-defined end groups (telechelic polymers) has been accomplished.²¹ Polymers have even been polymerized off of surfaces.²²

Many of the monomers shown in Figure 2 can be derivitized and polymerized by metal alkylidenes to form functionalized materials for a variety of purposes. Functionalized cyclooctenes have been polymerized and hydrogenated to make perfectly linear, functionalized polyethylene.²³ Conducting polymers²⁴ and polymers with photoluminescence properties²⁵ have been made. Polymers for use in light emitting diodes (LEDs)²⁶ and those that are liquid-crystalline²⁷ have also been synthesized by ROMP.



V. C. Gibson



With the advent of metathesis catalysts that react preferentially with olefins over many other functional groups and are active in water, the ROMP of monomers with

7

biologically relevant units has been realized. Only a few of the polymers, however, have been characterized for their biological activity. Polymers with pendent sugars have been synthesized²⁸ and used to explore protein-saccharide interactions (Figure 3).^{28c-e} Kiessling and coworkers found that the polymers were much more active than the monomers at inhibiting cell agglutination. This was thought to be due to multivalent interactions between the saccharide-substituted polymers and the cell surface proteins. Polymers substituted with nucleotide bases²⁹ and amino acid esters³⁰ have been synthesized using ruthenium and molybdenum metathesis complexes as initiators. In addition, polymers with pendent drugs such as penicillins (Figure 3)³¹ and vancomycins³² have been made. In the latter study, the polymers were found to have significantly increased (8 to 60 fold) antibacterial activities against resistant strains of bacteria compared to the vancomycinderived monomer, again potentially due to multivalent interactions provided by the polymer scaffold.

Ring-Closing Metathesis. Ring-closing metathesis is a relatively new reaction compared to ROMP.^{1b,33} Unlike ROMP, RCM of an α,ω -diene to form a cyclic olefin is enthalpically disfavored; the reaction is entropically driven by the release of a volatile small molecule such as ethylene. The formation of the ring is limited by the relative ring strain of the product. Because of its usefulness and versatility, this reaction has been applied towards the synthesis of small to large rings, including those found in natural products.

8



Scheme 4. RCM of functionalized α, ω -diene to form 5-7 membered rings.

In 1992, Grubbs and coworkers demonstrated that RCM was a viable way to synthesize 5-7 membered rings with various functionality in high yields (Scheme 4).³⁴ Several years later, it was shown that 8-membered rings could be synthesized, provided that the diene substrate contained a steric constraint to restrict the conformation to one favorable for ring-closure.³⁵ Since then, a large number of compounds synthesized by RCM have been reported.³⁶ Among the many examples, tri- or tetrasubstituted cyclic alkenes,³⁷ bicyclic diaza compounds,³⁸ chromenes,³⁹ and bicyclic β -lactams⁴⁰ have been made. RCM has been extended to include tandem reactions in which multi-cyclization can occur by attaching metathesis relays such as acetylenes or cyclic olefins.⁴¹ An example of this strategy where a one step tricyclization was accomplished using acetylene relays, is shown in Scheme 5.^{41c}



Scheme 5. Tandem one step tricyclization RCM reaction.

Many large-sized ring systems have been synthesized in a highly efficient manner, whether the substrates contain rigorous conformational constraints or not. Hydrogen bonding between amino acids has been exploited to synthesize conformationally-stabilized cyclic β -turn analogs (Figure 4),⁴² α -helices,⁴³ and peptide-based nanotubes.⁴⁴ RCM in the presence of a metal template accomplished the synthesis of [2]catenanes in high yields.⁴⁵ Steric constraints built into the substrates provided a bridged calix[4]arene⁴⁶ and the tricyclic core of roseophilin.⁴⁷ The synthesis of large macrocycles, such as cyclic lactones⁴⁸ and crown ethers,⁴⁹ was accomplished in good yields in the absence of any steric constraint by slow addition techniques.



Figure 4. Peptide β -turn covalently stabilized by RCM.

The synthetic importance of RCM is demonstrated in the number of natural products that have recently been reported where ring-closing was the key step. For example, small molecules such as frontalin⁵⁰ to complex, biologically active epothilione A and its derivatives⁵¹ have been synthesized where RCM was the key step.

Cross Metathesis and Acyclic Diene Metathesis Polymerization. The cross metathesis process resembles RCM thermodynamically in that the reaction is driven entropically by the evaporative loss of a small molecule such as ethylene.^{1b,33c}

Historically, the practical use of this reaction has been hampered due to poor selectivities for the desired products.^{33c} For the CM of two terminal olefins, one desired heterodimeric product and two undesired homodimers are obtained (Scheme 6A). Despite this, cross *metathesis* has been used to successfully synthesize compounds in good yields,^{1b,33c} including dimers of the immunosuppressant FK 506.⁵² Recently, by using symmetric disubstituted olefins as coupling agents (Scheme 6B), the yields of the desired heterodimeric products were significantly increased.⁵³



Scheme 6. Cross metathesis: A) Two terminal olefins cross to form the desired heterodimer and the undesired homodimers. B) A terminal olefin crossed with a symmetric disubstituted olefin yields the desired heterodimer product.

ADMET provides a means to synthesize unsaturated polymers from linear α,ω dienes.^{1b} It is closely related to CM and has a similar thermodynamic profile. The reaction is typically carried out in neat monomer under vacuum, where the removal of a volatile compound, such as ethylene, drives the reaction. Since it is a step-growth polymerization, where very high conversions are necessary to obtain good yields,¹⁹ this method typically suffers from low conversions and produces a number of undesirable side-products. It has, however, been used successfully employed to produce perfectly branched and linear poly(ethylene),⁵⁴ ethylene/CO⁵⁵ and ethylene/vinyl alcohol⁵⁶ copolymers, poly(ethers),⁵⁷ poly(acetals),⁵⁸ and highly conjugated polymers such as poly(phenylvinylenes)s,⁵⁹ among other examples.^{1b} To date, however, ADMET has not been developed as extensively as ROMP.

Part 2. Manipulation of Biological Response Through the Incorporation of Poly(ethylene glycol) and Arg-Gly-Asp into Synthetic Materials

The control of biological response through rational macromolecular design is a key issue in many biomaterial applications. For example, minimal biological response to a material may be desired in a specific application. To this end, many researchers have incorporated poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) into materials to limit biological adhesions.⁶⁰ Alternatively, a specific response may be desired and obtained by incorporation of a bioactive compound, such as the peptide arginine-glycine-aspartic acid (Arg-Gly-Asp, RGD), into a material. Much work in this area has focused on the modification of existing materials through the covalent attachment of bioactive moieties.

Poly(ethylene glycol) as a Biomaterial. PEG (Figure 5) is a flexible polyether that has a number of unique properties.^{60,61} It is soluble in most organic solvents and water and has a large exclusion volume in water. It is nontoxic, weakly immunogenic, and hospitable to biological materials. It is even FDA approved for internal consumption. As a soluble polymer, PEG has many applications.^{60,61} When linked to

molecules or proteins, it solublizes them, helps move them across cell membranes, and reduces the rate of clearance through the kidney.^{60,61} Because of these properties, it has been widely used in the biomedical and bioengineering communities.

Figure 5. Poly(ethylene glycol), PEG.

Because PEG resists protein absorption.⁶² as an insoluble material it is useful for a variety of applications. Absorbed on a surface or cross-linked as a gel, it renders the material protein rejecting and is dubbed "nonfouling." PEG and various copolymers of PEG are utilized as protein-rejecting materials for implants and as barrier materials during the wound healing response.^{60,61,63} A notable example of the latter is the application of PEG-based hydrogels for use in polymeric endoluminal gel paving applications where resorbable hydrogels are extremely effective at preventing postangioplasty adhesions in animal models.⁶⁴ By covalently attaching a bound peptide to PEG-based materials, the material can be rendered selectively adhesive to certain cell types, while remaining resistant to protein absorption.⁶⁵ In this manner, the wound healing response may be manipulated and controlled. This has been accomplished by attaching short bioactive peptides, such as RGD, to PEG hydrogels⁶⁶ or oligo(ethylene glycol) self-assembled monolayer surfaces,⁶⁷ among other examples.^{60,61,65} Ongoing work includes the development of functionalized PEGs or PEG-containing polymers and materials for use in various applications as a soluble or insoluble material.

Incorporating Arg-Gly-Asp to Elicit a Biological Response. Many extracellular matrix proteins bind to cell surface integrins through the short peptide sequence RGD.^{68,69} In fact, RGD alone has been shown to promote cell adhesion.⁷⁰ Since cell attachment mediated by integrin-protein interactions influences cell survival, differentiation, and migration, this sequence has been targeted to study integrin function and provide treatments for diseases.⁷¹ For example, fibronectin and RGD containing peptides have been shown to have anti-metastatic activity and thus may have good prospects as drugs for tumor therapy.⁷²

Although the RGD peptide is effective in certain applications, its therapeutic potential is low. One reason for this is that the affinity of the peptide to cellular integrins is significantly lower (> 1000 times lower) than the proteins from which it is derived.^{68b} This is partly due to the presence of synergistic sites on the proteins that enhance RGD-integrin binding. For example, in fibronectin the sequence Pro-His-Ser-Arg-Asn (PHSRN), which is on the same side of the protein 30-40 Å from RGD (Figure 6),⁷³ acts synergistically with RGD.⁷⁴ Interestingly, PHSRN acts in synergy only when covalently attached in proximity to RGD.⁷⁴ Although most biomaterials only contain RGD and not the PHSRN sequence, efforts have been made to synthesize RGD mimics that have enhanced activities. A second reason for the low therapeutic potential is because RGD, as a small peptide, has a have half-life *in vivo* of only a few minutes.⁷⁵ As a result, efforts have been made to synthesize non-peptide RGD mimics and materials that contain this oligopeptide sequence to increase the lifetimes *in vivo*.

14



Figure 6. Ribbon diagram of the seventh through the tenth (RGD-containing) type III repeats of human fibronectin. The cell-binding RGD loop and its synergy site, PHSRN, are on the same side of the protein. This structure was obtained from the Protein Data Bank; see reference 73.

Efforts have been made to increase the therapeutic potential of the RGD peptide. The activities have been increased by cyclizing the peptides,^{75,76} altering the flanking groups,⁷⁶ and synthesizing nonpeptide mimetics.⁷⁶ The D-forms of the amino acids and nonpeptide mimetics also have increased lifetimes *in vivo*.^{76,77} Since linking a peptide to a polymer can also increase lifetimes *in vivo*, polymers substituted with RGD have been synthesized.^{77,78} The presentation of many RGDs on one molecule may lead to multivalent interactions and increased activities.⁷⁹ Polypeptides with RGD repeats⁸⁰ and a synthetic polymer with RGD units linked to a poly(carboxyethylmethacrylamide) backbone⁸¹ have been reported and shown to have an increased therapeutic potentials to interfere with cancer metastasis compared to the free peptide. Ongoing research has focused on creating synthetic materials with increased lifetimes, activities, and selectivities.

Thesis Research

With the advent of well-defined ruthenium metathesis catalysts that are highly active and stable to a variety of functional groups, the synthesis of biologically relevant organic molecules and polymers is now possible. The majority of this thesis describes the application of 2-4 towards the synthesis of novel polymers that may be useful in biological applications. Polymers with polyether and polynorbornene backbones that are substituted with peptides have been synthesized. The efficacy of some of these polymers for biological applications is addressed.

A novel method to prepare polyethers by metathesis is described in Chapter 2. An unsaturated analog of 12-crown-4 that was made by template-directed RCM was utilized as a monomer for the synthesis of unsaturated polyethers by ROMP (Scheme 7). In contrast to previous syntheses of polyethers by metathesis,⁵⁷ the yields were high and a range of molecular weights was accessible. The unsaturated polymer could be contacted with **2** under RCM conditions to quantitatively regenerate the unsaturated crown ether monomer. Hydrogenation of the unsaturated polymer yielded the saturated polyether. Since the polyethers were water soluble and contained PEG units, the toxicities were investigated by *in vitro* cytotoxicity tests. They were found to have similar toxicities as PEG and unlike PEG, to have a limited shelf life.



Scheme 7. Synthesis of polyethers by ROMP of an unsaturated crown ether.

The first synthesis of substituted polyethers by olefin metathesis is described in Chapter 3. Template-directed RCM yielded unsaturated benzo-crown ethers and a benzocrown ether with a pendent phenylalanine methyl ester. These monomers were homopolymerized and copolymerized with the 12-crown-4 analog to form polymers with different backbones and amino acid concentrations (Figure 7). Generally, peptides are attached to the ends of a polyether chain, and therefore the concentration of peptide per polymer chain is low.^{60,61} With this technique, the peptide is substituted along the backbone and the concentration was determined simply by the initial concentration in the feed. As a demonstration, polymers substituted with the bioactive sequence RGD were made.



 $R = H, CH_2CH_2CO$ -Phe-OCH₃, or CH_2CH_2CO -Phe-OH

Figure 7. Polyethers with different backbones and concentrations of phenylalanine.

The synthesis of polynorbornenes with pendent amino acids is described in Chapter 4. Various norbornenyl monomers substituted with glycine, alanine or penta(ethylene glycol) were polymerized using 2 as a catalyst and compared in terms of monomer and polymer yield, reaction time, and molecular weight distribution. Polymers with GRGDS and SRN, components of an integrin-cell binding domain of fibronectin, were also made. Since, catalyst 2 is unstable to amines,³⁴ the highly active ruthenium catalysts 3 and 4 were necessary to synthesize polymers containing high concentrations of the oligopeptides. Using these catalysts, homopolymers substituted with bioactive sequences and copolymers also substituted with penta(ethylene glycol) (Figure 8) were prepared. These results demonstrate that ROMP is an excellent way to produce complex biopolymers.



Figure 8. Copolymer substituted with GRGD, SRN, and penta(ethylene glycol).

The biological activity of polymers with bioactive peptides is described in Chapter 5. Homopolymers and a copolymer containing GRGDS and PHSRN, the more active forms of the peptides, were synthesized. The ability of the polymers to compete with fibronectin for human dermal fibroblast cell binding was assayed using an *in vitro* competitive inhibition assay. The homopolymer with many pendent GRGDS peptides was significantly more active at inhibiting cell binding to fibronectin than was the free peptide, presumably due to multivalent interactions.⁷⁹ The copolymer substituted with both GRGDS and PHSRN was more potent than both the GRGDS-containing homopolymer and the free peptide, demonstrating that synthetic polymers that inhibit cellular adhesion to fibronectin are now accessible through ROMP.

Historically, one of the drawbacks to using olefin metathesis is the removal of the residual ruthenium at the completion of the reaction. Residual metal can pose problems, such as olefin isomerization during distillation of the product, decomposition over time, and increased toxicity of the final material. Chapter 6 describes a method where the water soluble tris(hydroxymethyl)phosphine ligand is utilized to facilitate the removal of residual ruthenium from olefin metathesis products. Several simple procedures are described and compared for the purification of the RCM product of diethyl diallylmalonate. It was found that for an aqueous extraction, only 10 equivalents of the phosphine (based on ruthenium) were necessary to remove most of the metal. This method was also applied to the synthesis of unsaturated crown ethers to circumvent the typically time-consuming purification procedures of these RCM products.

References

- For a general introduction of olefin metathesis, see: (a) Ivin, K. J.; Mol, J. C. *Olefin Metathesis*, Academic Press: London, 1997. (b) Schuster, M.; Blechert, S. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **1997**, *36*, 2036-2056.
- (2) Herisson, J. L.; Chauvin, Y. Makromol. Chem. 1971, 141, 161-167.

19

- (3) For reviews of metathesis catalysts, see: (a) Schrock, R. R. Acc. Chem. Res. 1990, 23, 158-165. (b) Schrock, R. R. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 8141-8153. (c) Trnka, T. M.; Grubbs, R. H. Acc. Chem. Res., submitted.
- (4) (a) Schrock, R. R.; Feldman, J.; Cannizzo, L. F.; Grubbs, R. H. *Macromolecules* 1987, 20, 1169-1172. (b) Bazan, G. C.; Khosravi, E; Schrock, R. R.; Feast, W. J.; Gibson, V. C.; O'Regan, M. B.; Thomas, J. K.; Davis, W. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 8378-8387. (c) Schrock, R. R.; Murdzek, J. S.; Bazan, G. C.; Robbins, J.; DiMare, M.; O'Regan, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 3875-3886. (d) Bazan, G. C.; Oskam, J. H.; Cho, H. -N.; Park, L. Y.; Schrock, R. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 6899-6907.
- (5) (a) Nguyen, S. T.; Johnson, L. K.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 3974-3975. (b) Nguyen, S. T.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 9858-9859.
- (6) (a) Schwab, P.; France, M. B.; Ziller, J. W.; Grubbs, R. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 2039-2041. (b) Schwab, P.; Grubbs, R. H.; Ziller, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 100-110.
- (7) (a) Chang, S.; Jones, L.; Wang, C.; Henling, L. M.; Grubbs, R. H. Organometallics 1998, 17, 3460-3465. (b) Dias, E. L.; Grubbs, R. H. Organometallics 1998, 17, 2758-2767. (c) Sanford, M. S.; Henling, L. M.; Grubbs, R. H. Organometallics 1998, 17, 5384-5389. (d) Kingsbury, J. S.; Harrity, J. P. A.; Bonitatebus, P. J.; Hoveyda, A. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 791-799.
- (8) Lynn, D. M.; Kanaoka, S.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 784-790.
- (9) (a) Mohr, B.; Lynn, D. M.; Grubbs, R. H. Organometallics, 1996, 15, 4317-4325.
 (b) Lynn, D. M.; Mohr, B.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 1627-1628.
- (10) (a) Weskamp, T.; Schattenmann, W. C.; Spiegler, M.; Herrmann, W. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1998, 37, 2490-2493. (b) Herrmann, W. A. et al. Corrigenda. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 38, 262. (c) Weskamp, T.; Kohl, F. J.; Hieringer, W.; Gleich, D.; Herrmann, W. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1999, 38, 2416-2419.
- (11) Scholl, M.; Trnka, T. M.; Morgan, J. P.; Grubbs, R. H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1999, 40, 2247-2250.
- (12) Huang, J.; Stevens, E. D.; Nolan, S. P.; Petersen, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 2674-2678.
- (13) Scholl, M.; Ding, S.; Lee, C. W.; Grubbs, R. H. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 953-956.
- (14) Bielawski, C. W.; Grubbs, R. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 2000, in press.
- (15) (a) Chatterjee, A. K.; Grubbs, R. H. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 1751-1753. (b)
 Chatterjee, A. K.; Morgan, J. P.; Scholl, M.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
 2000, 122, 3783-3784.
- (16) (a) Grubbs, R. H.; Tumas, W. Science, 1989, 243, 907-915. (b) Grubbs, R. H. J.
 Macromol. Sci. Pure Appl. Chem. 1994, A31, 1829-1833. (c) Noels, A. F.;
 Demonceau, A. J. Phys. Org. Chem. 1998, 11, 602-609.
- (17) Patton, P. A.; Lillya, C. P.; McCarthy, T. J. *Macromolecules* 1986, 19, 1266-1268.
- (18) Höcker, H.; Keul, H. Adv. Mater. 1994, 6, 21-36.

- (19) Odian, G. Principles of Polymerization, 3rd ed.; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 1991.
- (20) For example, see: (a) Wu, Z.; Grubbs, R. H. *Macromolecules* 1994, 27, 6700-6703. (b) Weck, M.; Schwab, P.; Grubbs, R. H. *Macromolecules* 1996, 29, 1789-1793.
- (21) (a) Hillmyer, M. A.; Nguyen, S. T.; Grubbs, R. H. *Macromolecules* 1997, *30*, 718-721. (b) Maughon, B. R.; Morita, T.; Grubbs, R. H. *Macromolecules* 2000, *33*, 1929-1935. (c) Bielawski, C. W.; Grubbs, R. H. *Macromolecules* 2000, *33*, 678-680.
- Weck, M.; Jackiw, J. J.; Rossi, R. R.; Weiss, P. S.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Am. Chem.
 Soc. 1999, 121, 4088-4089.
- (23) Hillmyer, M. A.; Laredo, W. R.; Grubbs, R. H. *Macromolecules* 1995, 28, 6311-6316.
- (24) (a) Gorman, C. B.; Ginsburg, E. J.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 1397-1409. (b) Jozefiak, T. H.; Ginsburg, E. J.; Gorman, C. B.; Grubbs, R. H.; Lewis, N. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 4705-4713. (c) Royappa, A. T.; Saunders, R. S.; Rubner, M. F.; Cohen, R. E. Langmuir 1998, 14, 6207-6214.
- (25) (a) Tasch, S.; Grapner W.; Leising, G.; Pu, L.; Wagaman, M. W.; Grubbs, R. H. Adv. Materials 1996, 8, 125-125. (b) Wagaman, M. W.; Grubbs, R. H. Synthetic Met. 1997, 84, 327-328. (c) Wagaman, M. W.; Grubbs, R. H. Macromolecules 1997, 30, 3978-3985.

- Bellmann, E.; Shaheen, S. E.; Thayumanavan, S.; Barlow, S.; Grubbs, R. H.;
 Marder, S. R.; Kippelen, B.; Peyghambarian, N. *Chem. Mater.* 1998, 10, 1668-1676.
- (27) For recent examples, see: (a) Maughon, B. R.; Weck, M.; Mohr, B.; Grubbs, R.
 H. *Macromolecules* 1997, *30*, 257-265. (b) Weck, M.; Mohr, B.; Maughon, B. R.;
 Grubbs, R. H. *Macromolecules* 1997, *30*, 6430-6437.
- (28) (a) Fraser, C.; Grubbs, R. H. *Macromolecules* 1995, 28, 7248-7255. (b) Nomura, K.; Schrock, R. R. *Macromolecules* 1996, 29, 540-545. (c) Manning, D. D.; Hu, X.; Beck, P.; Kiessling, L. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 3161-3162. (d) Kanai, M.; Mortell, K. H.; Kiessling, L. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 9931-9932. (e) Strong, L. E.; Kiessling, L. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 6193-6196.
- (29) Gibson, V. C.; Marshall, E. L.; North, M.; Robson, D. A.; Williams, P. Chem. Commun. 1997, 1095-1096.
- (30) (a) Coles, M. P.; Gibson, V. C.; Mazzariol, L.; North, M.; Teasdale, W. G.;
 Williams, C. M.; Zamuner, D. *Chem. Commun.* **1994**, 2505-2506. (b) Biagini, S.
 C. G.; Coles, M. P.; Gibson, V. C.; Giles, M. R. Marshall, E. L.; North, M. *Polymer* **1998**, *39*, 1007-1014. (c) Biagini, S. C. G.; Davies, R. G.; Gibson, V. C.;
 Giles, M. R.; Marshall, E. L.; North, M.; Robson, D. A. *Chem. Commun.* **1999**, 235-236.
- (31) Biagini, S. C. G.; Gibson, V. C.; Giles, M. R.; Marshall, E. L.; North, M. Chem. Commun. 1997, 1097-1098.
- (32) Arimoto, H.; Nishimura, K.; Kinumi, T.; Hayakawa, I.; Uemura, D. Chem. Commun. 1999, 1361-1362.

- (33) For reviews see: (a) Grubbs, R. H.; Miller, S. J.; Fu, G. C. Acc. Chem. Res. 1995, 28, 446-452. (b) Schmalz, H. -G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 1833-1836. (c) Chang, S.; Grubbs, R. H. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 4413-4450. (d) Ivin, K. J. J. Mol. Cat. A 1998, 133, 1-16.
- (34) (a) Fu, G. C.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 5426-5427. (b) Fu, G.
 C.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1992, 114, 7324-7325. (c) Fu, G. C.; Grubbs,
 R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 3800-3801.
- (35) Miller, S. J.; Kim, S. -H.; Chen, Z. -R.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 2108-2109.
- (36) These have been extensively reviewed, see:1b and 33.
- (37) Kirkland, T. A.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 7310-7318.
- (38) Dyatkin, A. B. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 2065-2066.
- (39) Chang, S.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Org. Chem 1998, 63, 864-866.
- Barrett, A. G. M.; Baugh, S. P. D.; Gibson, V. C.; Giles, M. R.; Marshall, E. L.;
 Procopiou, P. A. *Chem. Commun.*, **1997**, 155-156.
- (41) (a) Zuercher, W. J.; Hashimoto, M.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 6634-6640. (b) Kim, S. -H.; Zuercher, W. J.; Bowden, N. B.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 1073-1081. (c) Zuercher, W. J.; Scholl, M.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Org. Chem 1998, 63, 4291-4298.
- (42) a) Miller, S. J.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 5855-5856. b)
 Miller, S. J.; Blackwell, H. E.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 9606-9614.

- (43) Blackwell, H. E.; Grubbs, R. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Eng. 1998, 37, 3281-3284.
- (44) Clark, T. D.; Ghadiri, M. R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 12364-12365.
- (45) Mohr, B.; Weck, M.; Sauvage, J. -P.; Grubbs, R. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 1308-1310.
- (46) McKervey, M. A.; Pitarch, M. Chem. Commun., 1996, 1689-1690.
- (47) Kim, S. H.; Figueroa, I.; Fuchs, P. L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1997, 38, 2601-2604.
- (48) Fürstner, A.; Langemann, K. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 3942-3943.
- (49) König, B.; Horn, C. Synlett **1996**, 1013-1014.
- (50) Scholl, M.; Grubbs, R. H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1999, 40, 1425-1428.
- (51) (a) Nicolaou, K. C.; He, Y.; Vourloumis, D.; Vallberg, H.; Roschangar, F.; Sarabia, F.; Ninkovic, S.; Yang, Z.; Trujillo, J. I. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1997, *119*, 7960-7973. (b) Meng, D.; Su, D. -S.; Balog, A.; Bertinato, P.; Sorenson, E. J.; Danishefsky, S. J.; Zheng, Y.-H.; Chou, T. -C.; He, L.; Horwitz, S. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1997, *119*, 2733-2734.
- (52) Diver, S. T.; Schreiber, S. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 5106.
- (53) (a) O'Leary, D. J.; Blackwell, H. E.; Washenfelder, R. A.; Grubbs, R. H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1998, *39*, 7427-7430. (b) Blackwell, H. E.; O'Leary, D. J.; Chatterjee, A. K.; Washenfelder, R. A.; Bussmann, D. A.; Grubbs, R. H. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2000, *122*, 58-71.
- (54) Wagener, K. B.; Valenti, D.; Hahn, S. F. *Macromolecules* **1997**, *30*, 6688-6690.
- (55) Watson, M. D.; Wagener, K. B. *Macromolecules* **2000**, *33*, 3196-3201.
- (56) Valenti, D. J.; Wagener, K. B. *Macromolecules* **1993**, *31*, 2764-2773.

- (57) (a) Wagener, K. B.; Brzezinska, K. Macromolecules 1991, 24, 5273-5277. (b)
 Wagener, K. B., Brzezinska, K.; Bauch, C. G. Makromol. Chem., Rapid Commun, 1992, 13, 74-81.
- (58) Wolfe, P. S.; Wagener, K. B. Macromol. Rapid Commun. 1998, 19, 305-308.
- (59) Kloppenburg, L.; Song, D.; Bunz, U. H. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 7973-7974.
- (60) Harris, J. M.; Zalipsky, S., Eds. *Poly(ethylene glycol) Chemistry and Biological Applications*; American Chemical Society: Washington, D.C., 1997.
- (61) Harris, J. M., Ed. Poly(ethylene glycol) Chemistry, Biotechnical and Biomedical Applications; Plenum Press: New York, 1992.
- (62) For a theoretical treatment of protein resistance on PEG surfaces, see: Jeon, S. I.;
 Lee, J. H.; Andrade, J. D.; De Gennes, P. G. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 1991, 142, 149-158.
- (63) Elbert, D. L.; Hubbell, J. A. Ann. Rev. Mater. Sci. 1996, 26, 365-394.
- (64) As a review, see: Slepian, M. J.; Hubbell, J. A. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 1997, 24, 11-30.
- (65) For reviews, see: (a) Hubbell, J. A. *Biotechnology* 1995, *13*, 565-576. (b)
 Hubbell, J. A. *Curr. Op. Solid State Mat. Sci.* 1998, *3*, 246-251. (c) Hubbell, J. A. *Curr. Op. Biotech.* 1999, *10*, 123-129.
- (66) Some notable examples include: (a) Drumheller, P. D.; Hubbell, J. A. Anal. *Biochem.* 1994, 222, 380-388. (b) Hern, D. L.; Hubbell, J. A. J. Biomed. Mater. *Res.* 1998, 39, 266-276.

- (67) Roberts, C.; Chen, C. S.; Mrksich, M.; Martichonok, V.; Ingber, D. E.;
 Whitesides, G. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 6548-6555.
- (68) For reviews see: (a) Ruoslahti E.; Pierschbacher, M. D. Science 1987, 238, 491497. (b) Ruoslahti, E. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 1996, 12, 697-715.
- (69) For reviews see: (a) Hynes, R. O. Cell 1992, 69, 11-25. (b) Ruoslahti, E. Kidney Int. 1997, 51, 1413-1417. (c) Cary, L. A.; Han, D. C.; Guan, J. –L. Histol. Histopathol. 1999, 14, 1001-1009. (d) Jones, J. L.; Walker, R. A. J. Clin. Pathol.: Mol. Pathol. 1999, 52, 208-213.
- (70) For examples see: (a) Pierschbacher, M. D.; Ruoslahti, E. *Nature* 1984, *309*, 30-33. (b) Massia, S. P.; Hubbell, J. A. *J. Cell Biol.* 1991, *114*, 1089-1100.
- (71) For reviews see: (a) Pierschbacher, M. D.; Polarek, J. W.; Craig, W. S.; Tschopp, J. F.; Sipes, N. J.; Harper, J. R. *J. Cell. Biochem.* 1994, *56*, 150-154. (b) Ojima, I.; Chakravarty, S.; Dong, Q. *Bioorg. & Med. Chem.*, 1995, *3*, 337-360.
- (72) For reviews see: (a) Akiyama, S. K.; Olden, K.; Yamada, K. M. Cancer & Metastasis Rev., 1995, 14, 173-189. (b) Ruoslahti, E. Adv. Cancer Res. 1999, 1-20.
- (73) Leahy, D. J.; Aukhil, I.; Erickson, H. P. Cell 1996, 84, 155-164.
- (74) Aota, S.; Nomizu, M.; Yamada, K. M. J. Biol. Chem. 1994, 269, 24756-24761.
- (75) Koivunen, E.; Wang, B.; Dickinson, C. D.; Ruoslahti, E. *Meth. Enzym.* 1994, 245, 346-369.
- (76) Ojima, I.; Chakravarty, S.; Dong, Q. Biorg. Med. Chem. 1995, 3, 337-360.
- (77) Pierschbacher, M. D.; Polarek, J. W.; Craig, W. S.; Tschopp, J. F.; Sipes, N. J.;
 Harper, J. R. J. Cell. Biochem. 1994, 56, 150-154.

- (78) Shakesheff, K. M.; Cannizzaro, S. M.; Langer, R. J. Biomater. Sci. Polymer Edn.
 1998, 9, 507-518.
- (79) For a review of polyvalent interactions, see: Mammen, M.; Choi, S. K.;Whitesides, G. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Eng. 1998, 37, 2754-2794.
- (80) For a review of these materials, see Saiki, I. Jpn. J. Pharmacol. **1997**, 75, 215-242.
- (81) Komazawa, H.; Saiki, I.; Igarashi, Y.; Azuma, I.; Kojima, M.; Orikasa, A.; Ono,
 M.; Itoh, I. J. Bioact. & Compat. Polymers 1993, 8, 258-274.

Chapter 2

The Synthesis of Polyethers Using a Tandem Approach:

Template-Directed Ring-Closing Metathesis Followed by Ring-

Opening Metathesis Polymerization[‡]

Abstract

This chapter describes the synthesis of polyethers by a tandem approach of template-directed ring-closing metathesis (RCM) followed by ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP) using RuCl₂(=CHPh)(PCy₃)₂ (1) as an initiator. Templatedirected RCM is a process which utilizes non-covalent interactions between a diene and an appropriate template to enhance the RCM of the substrate devoid of other conformational constraints. Template-directed RCM was found to be an excellent synthetic protocol for the synthesis of unsaturated crown ethers in high yields with selectively for the *cis* olefins. ROMP of these crown ethers produces unsaturated polyethers with different molecular weights (M_p from 10,900 to 206,300) depending on the initial monomer to catalyst ratios. Hydrogenation of these polymers proceeded quantitatively to yield the saturated polyethers. Template-directed depolymerization of unsaturated polyether to completely regenerate the parent crown ether is also described. Results from *in vitro* cytotoxicity tests are discussed which suggest that the polyethers are nontoxic to at least a concentration of 1 wt.% and have a limited shelf life.

Introduction

Polyethers are of commercial importance in areas such as polyurethane synthesis, lubricants, cosmetics, and elastomers.¹ A notable example is poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) which has been widely used in the bioengineering and biomedical communities due to its water solubility, low toxicity, and protein resistant properties.² PEG has been attached to surfaces and to molecules such as proteins, enzymes, and small-molecule pharmaceuticals to impart stability and biocompatibility to these materials.^{2,3} Since PEGs are not commercially available between molecular weights of 20,000 to 200,000,⁴ a new versatile route to synthesize water soluble polyethers of various molecular weights, that can readily adapted to make functionalized polyethers, is desirable. This chapter focuses on such a route where water-soluble polyethers with PEG segments are synthesized by ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP) using RuCl₂(=CHPh)(PCy₃)₂ (1)⁵ as an initiator.

Few examples of the synthesis of polyethers by olefin metathesis polymerization have been published. Wagener *et al.* reported the synthesis of polyethers having the structure [-CH₂=CH-(CH₂)_n-O-(CH₂)_n-] by acyclic diene metathesis polymerization (ADMET) using a tungsten or molybdenum catalyst.⁶ The polymerization of α, ω -dienes, di-4-pentenyl ether (n=3) and di-5-hexenyl ether (n=4) resulted in high yields of polymers with moderate molecular weights. However, these polyethers do not contain PEG units (which are necessary to impart water solubility to the polymers). The ADMET of ethylene glycol diallyl ether was described, but this gave only oligomers. They also reported the ROMP of 2,5-dihydrofuran to give a polymer with high molecular weight; however, the yields were low (~33%).^{6b} An alternative approach described in this chapter was undertaken to produce polyethers in high yields from unsaturated crown ether monomers.

Template-Directed RCM to Synthesize Unsaturated Crown Ether Monomers

Grubbs and coworkers reported the first demonstration of template-directed ringclosing metathesis (RCM), were non-covalent interactions between a diene and an appropriate template were utilized to enhance the RCM of linear dienes devoid of other conformational constraints.^{‡a} It was determined that the yields of crown ethers derived from linear polyethers could be significantly increased when an appropriate metal ion "template" was used to preorganize the substrate and promote the desired macrocyclization.^{‡a} For example, 12-crown-4 is a known ionophore for Li⁺ (Scheme 1).⁷ Analogously, it was anticipated that the preorganization of a linear α, ω -diene **2** about a complementary metal ion would provide the conformational restrictions required to enhance RCM and form the 12-crown-4 analog **3** in high yields (Scheme 2).^{‡a}



12-crown-4

Scheme 1. Complexation of a lithium ion by 12-crown-4.



Scheme 2. Synthesis of unsaturated crown ethers by template-directed RCM.

By this approach, crown ethers **3** and **5** were synthesized (Scheme 2); these are similar to known ionophores 12-crown-4 and 15-crown-5, respectively. The findings are summarized in Table 1. Noting the preferential binding of Li⁺ by 12-crown-4, it was anticipated from the structural similarities between **3** and 12-crown-4 that the RCM of **2** would afford the highest yield of **3** when Li⁺ is used as the template. As anticipated, a > 95% yield of the *cis* ring-closed product was obtained when the RCM of **2** was performed with LiClO₄. For the 17-membered ring, **5**, the RCM was enhanced by both LiClO₄ and NaClO₄ demonstrating that both Li⁺ and Na⁺ ions are capable of restricting the diene to a conformation favoring RCM. In general, it was evident that the ions which function best as templates to give the highest yield of ring-closed product also favored the formation of the *cis* isomer. This trend implies that the *cis* isomer allows the macrocycle to adopt a conformation which best accommodates the template ion. As predicted, yields of the ring-closed product were much lower in the absence of a complementary template.

substrate	M +	yield ^b	cis : trans ratio
2	none	39%	38 : 62
	Li ⁺	> 95 (85)%	100:0
	Na ⁺	42%	62 : 38
	K ⁺	36%	36 : 64
4	none	57%	26:74
	Li ⁺	89%	61 : 39
	Na ⁺	90%	68 : 32
	K ⁺	64%	25 : 75

Table 1. Template-directed Ring Closing Metathesis of 2 and 4.^a

^a[Substrate]=0.02M in CH₂Cl₂/THF, MCIO₄/substrate=5/1, 5 mol% **1**. ^bYields determined from ¹H NMR analysis of the crude reaction mixture. Bracket denontes isolated yield.

The *cis* isomer of an unsaturated, 12-crown-4 analog (**3**) was formed in high yields utilizing this approach. After the reaction, all ionic species were removed by a single aqueous extraction. In this chapter, the ROMP of **3** to form water-soluble, unsaturated polyethers containing PEG units is described. ADMET as a route to the polyethers was also explored. Template-directed depolymerization of the unsaturated polyether to reform the crown ether monomer is discussed. Finally, results from toxicological investigations of the ethers are described.

Results and Discussion

Polymer Synthesis and Characterization. By olefin metathesis, polymers are synthesized by two pathways: ROMP and ADMET. Since the ADMET of **2** and the ROMP of **3** should both result in the desired water-soluble polyether **6** (See Scheme 3), the strengths and limitations of both routes were explored.



Scheme 3. Metathesis routes to the synthesis of polyethers with PEG segments.

Since ADMET is the most straightforward route to **6**, this avenue was explored first. Subjecting **2** to standard ADMET conditions (5 mole % **1**, neat, 15 mtorr) at 50 °C (Scheme 4) yielded relatively low molecular weight polymer and oligomers (total yield of 95%) with a *trans* to *cis* ratio of 6.3/1 as detected by ¹H NMR spectroscopy. The polymer had a number-averaged molecular weight (M_n) of 11,200 (relative to

polystyrene standards) with a broad molecular weight distribution (polydispersity index, PDI) of 3.4. These results were not surprising since ADMET is a step-growth polymerization route, which usually leads to low molecular weight polymers unless high conversions are achieved.



Scheme 4. Synthesis of polyethers by ADMET.

ROMP, which is a chain growth polymerization route, was then explored for the synthesis of **6**. In a typical polymerization, complex **1** in CH_2Cl_2 was added to a vial containing **3** (Scheme 5). The solutions were stirred for 4 hours and ethyl vinyl ether was added to terminate the reactions, as the resulting metal species is metathesis inactive. The polymers were isolated by precipitation into ether chilled to 0 °C. The polymers were all viscous oils at room temperature.

The ROMP of **3** with an initial monomer to catalyst ratio ([M]/[C]) of 100/1 gave polymer **6** in quantitative yield, as determined by ¹H NMR spectroscopy of the crude reaction mixture (78% isolated yield). The *trans* to *cis* ratio of the isolated product was 4.1/1 by ¹H NMR spectroscopy. The M_n determined by gel permeation chromatography (GPC) was 65,900 and the PDI was 1.96 (Table 2). The glass transition temperature (T_g) of this polymer at –59.0 °C was obtained by differential scanning calorimetry (DSC).



Scheme 5. Synthesis of polyethers by ROMP.

A wide range of polymer molecular weights was accessible by this methodology. The molecular weight of polymers produced by living ROMP of strained monomers can be readily controlled by the initial monomer to catalyst ratio ([M]/[C]). Although the monomers described here do not polymerize in a living fashion, since the initiator remains active throughout the reaction, the molar mass should be proportional to the [M]/[C] ratio.

[M]/[C]	yield ^b	M _n x 10 ^{-4c}	PDI ^c	trans/cis ^b
25	>95%	1.09	1.50	5.4
100	>95%	6.59	1.96	4.1
1000	83%	9.12	2.29	3.1
3000	78%	15.5	1.83	2.6
4000	71%	20.6	1.73	2.4

Table 2. Results for polymerization of **3** with various [M]/[C].^a

^a[**3**]=1.2M in CH₂Cl₂, 25 °C, 4 h. ^bDetermined from ¹H NMR spectra. ^cDetermined by GPC, polystyrene calibration.

To test this, the polymerization of **3** with monomer to catalyst ratios between 25/1 and 4000/1 was performed and the results are shown in Table 2. The molecular weights did increase as the [M]/[C] was increased to yield polymers with M_n 's between 10,900 and 206,300. PDI values were all between 1.7 and 2.3. As the catalyst loading was decreased, the polymer yields (determined by ¹H NMR spectroscopy) decreased from > 95% ([M]/[C] = 25/1) to 71% ([M]/[C] = 4000/1).

At a low loading of **1**, the polymerization of **3** sometimes resulted in very low yields of **6**. Inspection of the crude reaction mixtures in these cases revealed the presence of a small amount (< 5%) of a vinyl ether species suggesting that isomerization of an allyl ether (from monomer and/or polymer) to a vinyl ether had occurred. It is known that the reaction of **1** with a vinyl ether forms the metathesis-inactive RuCl₂(=CHOR)(PCy₃)₂ complex.^{5b} In fact, as previously indicated, ethyl vinyl ether is frequently used to terminate metathesis reactions catalyzed by **1**. The isomerization and subsequent termination of **1** (Equation 1) could therefore compete with polymerization resulting in low yields of **6**. Occurrence of this on a small scale would be more problematic when using low concentrations of catalyst.



To study this possibility, **3** was polymerized in CD_2Cl_2 and the propagating alkylidene of **1** was monitored by ¹H NMR spectroscopy. In the cases where low yields

were obtained, a peak at 14.45 ppm was observed in the ¹H NMR spectrum in addition to the desired α -H alkylidene resonance at 19.19 ppm. The propagating carbene resonance decreased in intensity as the peak at 14.45 ppm increased in intensity until no propagating carbene was observed.⁸ The peak at 14.45 ppm compares very closely to the α -H peak of RuCl₂(=CHOCH₂CH₃)(PCy₃)₂ at 14.51 ppm obtained by the reaction of **1** with ethyl vinyl ether in CD₂Cl₂. This supports the hypothesis that isomerization to a vinyl ether and subsequent termination of **1** was occurring in these cases. The reason for this isomerization is not yet understood, although it is probably related to ruthenium hydride impurities in the catalyst.⁹ However, this detrimental reaction was not problematic unless very low concentrations of **1** (high [M]/[C]) and impure catalyst were used.



Metathesis yields polyethers with unsaturated backbones, and in order to obtain saturated backbones, the polymers must be hydrogenated. First this was attempted by subjecting **6** to hydrogen in the presence of palladium on carbon, which resulted in quantitative hydrogenation. However, it was apparent by ¹H NMR that a significant amount of chain scission had also occurred. Quantitative hydrogenation of **6** using Crabtree's catalyst,¹⁰ however, gave the desired saturated polyether (**7**) in 66% isolated yield. No chain scission products were apparent in the ¹H NMR spectrum. The T_g of the resulting polymer was slightly lower than **6** (-65 °C versus –59.0 °C respectively). **Depolymerization.** One key feature of olefin metathesis is that, unlike other carbon-carbon bond forming reactions, the reversible formation and breaking of a carbon-carbon double bonds allows the thermodynamic product distribution to be attained. This concept, with respect to template-directed RCM, implies that unproductive coupling (i.e., "mistakes" which do not result in the desired product) can be "corrected" to yield the desired product if the template effect is a significant driving force. It is also known that when dilute solutions of polymers obtained *via* ROMP are reacted with an olefin metathesis catalyst, an equilibrium concentration of cyclic monomers is re-established.¹¹ In an attempt to exploit these processes, the reactions between polymer **6** and catalyst **1** in the presence and absence of Li⁺ were undertaken. It was anticipated that the template-directed "backbiting" of **6** should yield macrocycle **3**. In the absence of a template, "backbiting" should result in a complex mixture of macrocycles of various ring sizes and linear oligomers.



Scheme 6. Depolymerization of polyether 6 to reform 3 (cis).

Performing the lithium ion-templated degradation of **6** under the same RCM conditions employed in the conversion of **2** to **3** resulted in a nearly quantitative conversion of **6** to the *cis* isomer of **3** (83% isolated yield) (Scheme 6). Polymer degradation in the absence of a Li⁺ template gave only ~20% combined yield of both *cis*

and *trans* **3**, the remainder consisted of low molecular weight polymer ($M_n = 9,000$) and oligomers. In addition to demonstrating the concept of template-directed backbiting, this result also illustrates the concept that if "mistakes" (i.e., ADMET dimers) are formed during the template-directed RCM of **2**, they can in principle be converted to **3** via this process.

Toxicity of Polyether 6. PEG is a nontoxic polymer that is FDA approved for human consumption.^{2,3} Since the polyethers synthesized from **3** contain PEG segments, the toxicity of **6** was investigated and compared to PEG.

A quantitative *in vitro* cytotoxicity test¹² of **6** ($M_n \sim 69,000$) was undertaken using normal human dermal fibroblast (HDF) cells. HDF cells were harvested using trypsin/EDTA, suspended in serum-supplemented media, and seeded into 24-well tissue culture polystyrene (TCPS) plates at a density of 35,700 cells/cm². The cells were allowed to spread for 24 hours, at which time the media was removed. Fresh media and sterilized solutions of **6** or PEG in HBSS of various concentrations were added to the wells. The cells were incubated with the polymers for 24 hours before the polymer solutions were removed. The wells were then washed with HBSS, and the amounts of live cells were determined using a live/dead assay.

Both calcein AM and ethidium homodimer were added to the wells to allow differentiation between the live and dead cells. Under fluorescein excitation optical filters, live cells fluoresce blue/green ($\lambda = 485$ nm) due to esterase activation of calcein AM. The nuclei of dead cells fluoresce red ($\lambda = 530$ nm), as ethidium homodimer passes through the compromised membranes of the dead cells only. Because the excitation wavelengths are resolved for these two compounds, the number of live and dead cells in each well can be counted. The average percent of live cells for **6** was compared to the average for PEG at the same concentration (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Percent live HDF cells incubated with increasing concentrations of **6** or PEG. All values are an average of 2 wells. PEG is the average of wells containing PEG molecular weight of 20K and 100K.

The results (Figure 1) indicate that polymer **6** has similar toxicity to PEG up to 0.1 wt.% (0.5 mM based on the repeat units) polymer. However, at 1 wt.% (5 mM based on the repeat units), **6** was toxic to the cells while PEG was not. The polymer in this study was synthesized using 0.1 equivalents ([M]/[C]=100) of **1**, and ruthenium is known to be toxic.¹³ Although it was possible that the polymer itself was toxic, it was thought that residual ruthenium contained in the polymer was causing the response. To test this, **6** was synthesized using a lower concentration of catalyst (0.001 equivalents of **1**) and the toxicity of the resulting polymer was studied.



Figure 2. Number of live HDF cells per well incubated with various concentrations of **6**, RuCl₃, and PEG. The values are $x10^3$ cells and are an average of 3 wells. The RuCl₃ concentration was 79.2 μ M in PBS buffer.

Polymer **6** was synthesized using a 1000/1 initial monomer to catalyst ratio. The amount of ruthenium in a 1 wt.% solution of **6** was quantified by ICP-MS. It was found by comparing to ruthenium standards that after purification, a 1 wt.% solution of **6** contained 79.2 μ M of residual ruthenium. As a control, the toxicity of a 79.2 μ M solution of RuCl₃¹⁴ was assessed along with 1x10⁻⁵ to 1 wt.% solutions of **6** and 1 wt.% solutions of PEGs using the same method described above. Because all of the cells appeared alive when observed by phase contrast microscopy and were adhered normally with several focal contacts, the cells were enzymatically removed from the surface and counted by an automatic cell counter. The results showed (Figure 2) that the polymer

synthesized with a lower catalyst loading ([M]/[C] = 1000/1 versus 100/1) was nontoxic to the HDF cells to at least at 1 wt.%. The concentration of ruthenium in the 1 wt.% solution was also nontoxic. From these results it appeared that toxicity was decreased dramatically by reducing the catalyst loading employed in the preparation of the polymer.



Figure 3. Percent live HDF cells incubated with increasing solutions of **6**, RuCl_3 , and PEG in PBS that have been aged over one month. The values are an average of 3 wells. The RuCl₃ concentration was 79.2 μ M in PBS buffer.

However, when the tests were repeated for the solutions kept at room temperature for over a month, a different result was obtained. It was found that a 1 wt.% solution of 6 ([M]/[C]=1000) was now toxic to the HDF cells (Figure 3). The cells were still alive after being subjected to the RuCl₃ (79.2 µM) solution that was stored for over a month, suggesting that the ruthenium was not causing the toxic affect. The same results were

obtained if the solutions were made the day of the experiment from bulk polymer that was kept at room temperature for over a month. This indicates that **6** has a limited shelf life both in solution or in the bulk, and that over time, the polymer degrades into toxic side-products. Various autooxidation reactions can be envisioned that would result in toxic degradation products. The shelf life of the materials may be increased by hydrogenating the double bonds, as described above. Alternatively, the polymer may be investigated for applications where low concentrations or short therapeutic time periods are needed. Also, there are many nonbiological applications for these polyethers.^{1a}

Summary

Water-soluble polyethers were synthesized using a tandem approach involving template-directed RCM followed by ROMP. ROMP of an unsaturated analog of 12crown-4 synthesized by templated directed RCM, yielded polymers containing PEG and butenediol units. By altering the catalyst loadings, the polymer was synthesized in a wide range of molecular weights. ADMET was not as effective and resulted in low molecular weight oligomers and polymers. Template-directed depolymerization of the unsaturated polyethers quantitatively reformed the starting crown ether monomer. Toxicity testing of the polymers showed that the materials are nontoxic up to 1 wt.% when made with a low catalyst loading, although the unsaturated polymer has a limited shelf life.

Experimental Section

Materials. Allyl bromide, sodium hydride, lithium perchlorate, ethyl vinyl ether, and ruthenium standards was purchased from Aldrich and used as received. Triethylene

glycol and ethylene glycol were purchased from Aldrich and dried over 4 Å molecular sieves (Linde). Crabtree's catalyst was purchased from Strem Chemicals and used as received. Dry tetrahydrofuran (THF) and methylene chloride (CH₂Cl₂) were rigorously degassed and passed through purification columns.¹⁵ All other solvents were purchased from EM Science and used as received. Trypsin/EDTA was purchased from Sigma. Dulbecco's modified eagle medium (DMEM) and other cell culture reagents were purchased from GIBCO and used as received. The sterile flasks and plates were purchased from Becton Dickinson Labware. All other sterile culture materials were purchased from Falcon. The human dermal fibroblast neonatal cells isolated from foreskin tissue from a single male donor were purchased from Clonetics. The live/dead kit was obtained from Molecular Probes.

Techniques. Unless otherwise noted, all operations were carried out under a dry nitrogen or argon atmosphere. Dry box operations were performed in a nitrogen-filled Vacuum Atmospheres dry box. Column chromatography was performed using silica gel 60 (230-400 mesh) from EM science. ¹H NMR (300.1 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (75.49 MHz) spectra were recorded on a General Electric QE-300 spectrometer. ¹H NMR (399.65 MHz) spectra to monitor polymerizations were taken on a JEOL GX-400 spectrometer. Chemical shifts are reported downfield from tetramethylsilane (TMS). Polymer ¹H NMR spectra were obtained using a pulse delay of 60 sec. Infrared spectroscopy was performed on a Perkin Elmer Paragon 1000 FT-IR spectrometer using a thin film of sample cast on a NaCl plate. High-resolution mass spectra were provided by the Southern California Mass Spectrometry Facility (University of California, Riverside). Gel permeation chromatographs were obtained with CH₂Cl₂ as the eluent (flow rate of 1

mL/min) using an HPLC system equipped with an Altex model 110A pump, a Rheodyne model 7125 injector with a 100 µL injection loop, two American Polymer Standards 10 micron mixed bed columns, and a Knauer differential refractometer. The molecular weights and polydispersities were reported versus monodispersed polystyrene standards. Differential scanning calorimetry was measured on a Perkin-Elmer DSC-7. The results are given for the second heating using a scan rate of 20 °C/min. for all cases. All cell manipulations were performed in a vertical laminar flow hood. Phase contrast microscopy was performed on an Olympus CK 2, 100x magnification. Fluorescence microscopy was performed on a Zeiss Microscope using 485 and 530 nm optical filters. Inductive-coupled mass spectrometry data was obtained on an Elan 5000A. The samples were weighed on a microbalance and diluted in 1% nitric acid. Results for Ru isotopes 99, 101, and 102 were obtained and compared to standards.

Monomer Synthesis

Synthesis of triethylene glycol diallyl ether (2). To a room temperature, stirred solution of allyl bromide (4 mL, 46.2 mmol) and sodium hydride (1.35 g, 56.3 mmol) in dry THF (125 mL) was added, over a period of 1 h, a solution of triethylene glycol (3.0 mL, 22.5 mmol) in THF (25 mL). The reaction was allowed to stir at room temperature for a total of 12 h. THF was removed *in vacuo*, and the crude product was taken up in ether and extracted with water 3 times. The ether layer was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and the solvent removed *in vacuo*. The crude product was purified by column chromatography (ether eluent) to afford 3.52 g (70%) of **2** as a colorless oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 5.82-5.95 (m, 2H), 5.13-5.28 (m, 4H), 3.98-4.01 (m, 4H), 3.56-3.66 (m, 12 H).

¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 134.65, 116.99, 72.12, 70.52, 69.30. IR: 3072, 2864, 1462, 1420, 1348, 1291, 1249, 1109, 995, 917. HRMS (CI) calcd for (MH)⁺ 231.1596, found 231.1596.

Synthesis of 1,4,7,10 tetraoxa-cyclotetradec-12-ene (3). THF (59 mL) was added to 2 (3 g, 13.0 mmol) and LiClO₄ (6.91 g, 65.2 mmol) and the solution stirred for 30 min or until all solids had dissolved. *[Precaution should be used when handling perchlorate salts due to the explosive nature of these compounds; a blast shield should be used at all times.]* Dry CH₂Cl₂ (580 mL) was added to the flask followed by a solution of 1 (537 mg, 0.652 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (10 mL). The mixture was heated to 40 °C for 90 min before cooling to room temperature, adding ~ 1 mL of ethyl vinyl ether and stirring for an additional 30 min. The solution was extracted with a minimal amount of water to remove the lithium, the organic layer was dried over MgSO₄, and the solvent was removed *in vacuo*. The residue was subjected to chromatography (ether eluent) to yield 3 as a brown liquid in 74-99 % yield. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 5.75-5.78 (m, 2), 4.29-4.30 (m, 4H), 3.64-3.72 (m, 12 H). ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) 129.80, 71.77, 70.21, 66.77. HRMS: calcd: 203.1284 (m+H⁺), obsd. 203.1290 (m+H⁺).

Polymer Synthesis

Experimental procedures and data not reported within the text are reported below.

ADMET of 2. In a round bottom, 3.6 mg of **1** (0.0044 mmol) in a minimal amount of CH_2Cl_2 was added to 20 mg (0.087 mmol) of **2**. The flask was evacuated to 15 mtorr and the mixture was heated in an oil bath at 50 °C for 3 h. Ethyl vinyl ether (0.1 mL) was added and the mixture stirred for 30 min. The ethyl vinyl ether was removed

under vacuum and the ¹H NMR spectrum of the crude reaction mixture taken. The polymer was isolated by precipitation into cold ether, collected by centrifugation, and dried under vacuum. Analytical data, except for the GPC results, of the isolated polymer were identical to that obtained for **6** (*vide infra*).

ROMP of 3 with various [M]/[C] (6). In a nitrogen-filled dry box, a solution of complex **1** in CH_2Cl_2 (to give a final monomer concentration of 1.2 M) was added to **3** and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 4 h. The [M]/[C] was varied between 25 and 4000. The polymerizations were terminated by ethyl vinyl ether and the solutions stirred for an additional 15-30 min. The polymers were precipitated into cold ether, stirred for 15 min, subjected to centrifugation, washed with cold ether (3x), and dried under vacuum. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 5.78-5.81 & 5.70-5.73 (*trans* & *cis*, both m, 2H), 4.08-4.09 & 4.00-4.02 (*trans* & *cis*, both m, 4H), 3.56-3.66 (m, 12H). IR: 3570, 2864, 1457, 1353, 1296, 1249, 1114, 979, 881, 855 cm⁻¹.

Hydrogenation of 6 (7). The hydrogenation of 6 was undertaken using Crabtree's catalyst (2.5 mol %) according to literature procedure.¹⁶ ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 3.54-3.63 (m, 12H), 3.43-3.46 (m, 4H), 1.59-1.63 (m, 4H). IR: 3926, 2866, 1479, 1449, 1351, 1297, 1247, 1115, 844 cm⁻¹.

Templated-Depolymerization of 6. The same procedure as for the synthesis of **3** was followed, with 75 mg (0.37 mmol) of polymer **6** as the substrate. ¹H NMR spectroscopic analysis of the crude showed a quantitative conversion of polymer **6** to macrocycle **3**. The crude was dissolved in CH_2Cl_2 and washed several times with deionized water. The organic layer was concentrated under vacuum and purified by silica

column chromatography (EtOAc) to afford 62 mg (83%) of **3**. Analytical data for the product was identical to those reported for **3** above.

Cell Culture

Cell Maintenance. HDF cells were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 400 U/mL penicillin, and 400 mg/mL streptomycin in an incubator at 37 °C and 4.9% CO₂. Subculturing was accomplished by rinsing the cells with HEPES buffered saline solution (HBSS), enzymatically removing them from the surface with trypsin/EDTA, and neutralizing the trypsin with supplemented DMEM. The cells were suspended in DMEM and added to 25 cm² flasks.

Toxicity Test. HDF cells of passage 4-7 were harvested with trypsin/EDTA, seeded onto 24 well TCPS plates, and incubated for 24 h after which time the media was withdrawn. Fresh supplemented DMEM and polymer solutions in HBSS that had been sterile filtered through 0.2 µm filters were placed into the wells. The cells were incubated for another 24 h before the polymer solutions were removed. The wells were washed with HBSS buffer and aspirated to assure complete removal of the medium and polymer. The morphology was observed under phase contrast microscopy. The cells were then counted by one of the assays described below.

Simple Cell Counting Assay. If *all* the cells appeared normal and were adhered with several focal contacts (not rounded), the following simple cell counting assay was undertaken. The cells were removed using trypsin/ETDA and the number of cells per well counted by a automatic cell counter.

Live/Dead Counting Assay. If some of the cells were rounded and appeared dead, the following counting assay was undertaken. A solution containing 2 μ M calcein

AM and 4 μ M ethidium homodimer in HBSS was freshly prepared and kept in the dark until use. 100 μ L of the live/dead solution was added to each well, and the plates were incubated for 10 min in the dark. The cells were viewed using fluorescence microscopy. For each view, the cells were counted first with the 485 nm filter followed by the 530 nm filter. A cell was deemed live if it was colored green/blue when viewed through the 485 nm filter and dead if the nucleus was stained red when viewed through the 530 nm filter. At least 3 views per well were counted. The percent live cells was determined by dividing the total number of live cells by the number of live and dead cells.

Acknowledgements

Dr. Michael J. Marsella is thanked for his intellectual and experimental contributions to the template-directed RCM portions of this work. Dr. Jason Schense is thanked for his intellectual and experimental contributions to the cytotoxicity testing of polymer **6**. The National Science Foundation (grant CHE-9809856) and the National Institutes of Health (grant GM 3133213) are appreciated for their funding of this research.

References

Portions of this chapter have been published as: a) Marsella, M. J.; Maynard, H.
 D.; Grubbs, R. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 1101-1103. b)
 Maynard, H. D.; Grubbs, R. H. Macromolecules 1999, 32, 6917-6924.

- (1) (a) Clinton, N.; Matlock, P. In *Encyclopedia of Polymer Science and Engineering*, *2nd ed.*; Mark, H. F., Bikales, N. M., Overberger, C. C., Menges, G., Kroschwitz,
 J. I., Eds.; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 1986; Vol. 6, pp 225-273. (b) Odian,
 G. *Principles of Polymerization, 3rd ed.*; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 1991.
- Harris, J. M., Ed. Poly(ethylene glycol) Chemistry, Biotechnical and Biomedical Applications; Plenum Press: New York, 1992.
- Harris, J. M.; Zalipsky, S., Eds. *Poly(ethylene glycol) Chemistry and Biological Applications*; American Chemical Society: Washington, D.C., 1997.
- (4) The upper molecular weight limit for poly(ethylene glycol)s is due to side reactions during the industrial scale base-catalyzed polymerization of ethylene oxide, see reference 1
- (5) (a) Schwab, P.; France, M. B.; Ziller, J. W.; Grubbs, R. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 2039-2041. (b) Schwab, P.; Grubbs, R. H.; Ziller, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 100-110.
- (6) (a) Wagener, K. B.; Brzezinska, K. Macromolecules 1991, 24, 5273-5277. (b)
 Wagener, K. B.; Brzezinska, K.; Bauch, C. G. Makromol. Chem., Rapid Commun, 1992, 13, 74-81.
- Patai, S.; Rappoport, Z., Eds. Crown Ethers and Analogs, John Wiley & Sons: New York, 1989.
- (8) Propagating alkylidene degradation could be slowed by the use of some additives such as α , α -dichlorotoluene. Maynard, H. D.; Grubbs, R. H., unpublished results.
- (9) McGrath, D. V.; Grubbs, R. H. Organometallics **1994**, *13*, 224-235.

- (10) For a review of Crabtree's catalyst, see: Crabtree, R. Acc. Chem. Res. 1979, 12, 331-339.
- (11) a) Ivin, K. J. *Olefin Metathesis*; Academic Press, London, 1983. b) Chen, Z. R.;
 Claverie, J. P.; Grubbs, R. H.; Kornfield, J. A. *Macromolecules* 1995, 28, 2147.
- (12) For a review of cytotoxicity testing, see: Kirkpatrick, C. J.; Bittinger, F.; Wagner, M.; Köhler, H.; van Kooten, T. G.; Klein, C. L.; Otto, M. Proc. Instn. Mech. Engrs. 1998, 212, 75-84.
- (13) For example, see: Kruszyna, H.; Kruszyna, R.; Hurst, J.; Smith, R. P. J. Tox. & Environ. Health 1980, 6, 757.
- (14) RuCl₃ was used instead of 1 because the former is soluble in water, while the latter is not.
- (15) Pangborn, A. B.; Giardello, M. A.; Grubbs, R. H.; Rosen, R. K.; Timmers, F. J. Organometallics 1996, 15, 1518-1520.
- (16) Stork, G.; Kahne, D. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 1072-1073.

Chapter 3

Synthesis of Peptide-Substituted Polyethers by Ring-Opening

Metathesis Polymerization of Unsaturated Crown ${\sf Ethers}^{\ddagger}$

Abstract

Polyethers of various backbones and pendent peptides were synthesized by a tandem approach of ring-closing metathesis (RCM) followed by ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP) using RuCl₂(=CHPh)(PCy₃)₂ (**1**) as an initiator. An unsubstituted benzocrown ether and a benzocrown ether substituted with a phenylalanine methyl ester were synthesized in good yields using a lithium ion as a template and **1** as a catalyst by RCM. From the phenylalanine methyl ester crown ether, crowns substituted with a phenylalanine carboxylic acid and a arginine-glycine-aspartic acid (RGD) peptide were made. ROMP of the unsaturated crown ethers formed the respective polyether homopolymers. The copolymerization of these monomers with an unsaturated analog of 12-crown-4 formed copolymers, where the compositions corresponded to the feed ratios of the monomers. In this way, polyethers of various backbones and concentrations of amino acids were synthesized.

Introduction

There are a number of applications, such as drug delivery,¹ where having polyethers functionalized along the backbone is desirable; yet the number of synthetic *methods* to produce such polymers are few. Typically, modification is at one or both ends of the polymer, limiting the attachment sites for a linear polymer to two. Poly(oxyalkylene)s such as poly(epichlorohydrin) have been synthesized and subsequently modified with a number of functional groups.² However, since reactions on a polymer chain can prove difficult and may not result in quantitative conversions, it is advantageous to polymerize functionalized monomers. In Chapter 2, the synthesis of unfunctionalized polyethers by a tandem approach of template-directed RCM followed by ROMP was described. This chapter discusses the synthesis of polyethers with different backbones and pendent amino acids using this approach.

As was described in Chapter 1, ruthenium alkylidene 1³ is stable in the presence of many functional groups and is active in many solvents including water.⁴ Due to the development of this catalyst and others, the ROMP of monomers with biologically relevant units has been recently undertaken. As described in Chapter 1, polymers with pendent sugars have been synthesized⁵ and used to explore protein-saccharide interactions.^{5c,d} Additionally, polymers substituted with nucleotide bases,⁶ antibiotics,⁷ and amino acid esters⁸ have been prepared using ruthenium and molybdenum complexes. These examples have been based on polynorbornene and poly(7-oxanorbornene) backbones. However, polyether backbones may have advantages compared to polynorbornenes, since polyethers are flexible and water soluble. If the polyethers contain poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) segments, they may also be biocompatible and
nontoxic. This chapter describes the synthesis of polyethers with PEG units substituted with peptides. Polymers with pendent phenylalanine (Phe, F) and the cell-binding protein fragment described in Chapter 1, arginine-glycine-aspartic acid (Arg-Gly-Asp, RGD), *were synthesized.*

Results and Discussion

Monomer Synthesis. The synthesis of functionalized α , ω -diene precursors for RCM from tartaric acid or serine was not successful; however, the dienes were readily prepared from catechol derivatives. The synthesis of 1,2-bis-(2-allyloxy-ethyoxy)-benzene (4) and 1,2-bis-(2-allyloxy-ethyoxy)-benzene substituted with a pendent phenylalanine methyl ester (5) were undertaken as shown in Scheme 1. Phenylalanine methyl ester hydrochloride salt was coupled to 3,4-dihydroxyhydrocinnamic acid using standard peptide coupling procedures employing HOBT and DCC in CH₂Cl₂ to give 2 in 75% yield (Scheme 1A). Ethylene glycol was treated with allyl bromide and base to form the ethylene glycol monoallyl ether; the alcohol was subsequently converted to a tosyl group to give 3 (38% overall yield) (Scheme 1B). Reaction of 3 with catechol or 2 in the presence of potassium carbonate in DMF gave 4 (61% yield) and 5 (72% yield), respectively (Scheme 1C). The synthesis of the unfunctionalized diene, 6, was undertaken as described in Chapter 2 from triethylene glycol, allyl bromide, and base.⁹



Scheme 1. Synthesis of unsubstituted and phenylalanine substituted α , ω -dienes.

Template-directed RCM using a lithium ion (LiClO₄) as a template and complex **1** as a catalyst was undertaken to form the unsaturated crown ethers (Schemes 2 and 3). First, the unfunctionalized crown ether **7** was synthesized from **6** (Scheme 2) as described in Chapter 2.⁹ It was demonstrated that the lithium ion preorganized the diene for RCM, giving high yields and selectivity for the *cis* isomer (100/1 *cis/trans*). In a similar manner, **4** was converted to **8** in quantitative yield as determined by ¹H NMR

spectroscopy (Scheme 3); however, the isolated yields were much lower (50-63%). Template-directed RCM of **5** afforded **9** in 71% isolated yield. In both cases, the *cis* isomer was formed preferentially (94/6 *cis/trans*).



Scheme 2. Synthesis of unfunctionalized crown ether by template-directed RCM.



Scheme 3. Synthesis of unsubstituted and phenylalanine substituted crown ethers by template-directed RCM.

It was described in Chapter 2 that the synthesis of **7** in the absence of a lithium ion (all other conditions the same) favored the *trans* isomer (38/62 cis/trans) and the yield obtained was much lower (39% yield).⁹ The templating effect of the lithium ion in this reaction was further confirmed when the synthesis of **8** or **9** was performed without a

lithium ion and monitored by ¹H NMR spectroscopy. The overall yields of the crude mixtures obtained from the ¹H NMR spectrum were lower than the RCM performed in the presence of a lithium ion (73% for 8 and 60% for 9). In both cases, the *trans* isomers *formed* predominately with a *cis/trans* ratio of 35/65 for 8 and 46/54 for 9.

In RCM, an equilibrium exists between the ring-closed and the ring-opened species.^{9,10} The template effect, coupled with running the reaction under conditions of high dilution, favored the ring-closed product over the ring-opened product in these examples.⁹ This was demonstrated in both the syntheses of **7** and **8** where only the ring-closed product was observed at the end of the reaction. However, in the synthesis of **9**, a linear oligomer was detected in the crude reaction product by ¹H NMR spectroscopy. Even upon rigorous purification of the substrate, this oligomer persisted as 1-5% of the final product.

The yield of the crown product over oligomer side products was the greatest when the substituent (R, Scheme 3) of the diene substrate was CH_2CH_2 -Phe-OCH₃ (**5**). For example, when R = COOH, COOCH₃, or CH_2COOCH_3 , the desired RCM product yields were less than 32%, and significant amounts of both linear and cyclic oligomers were detected in the crude reaction mixtures by ¹H NMR spectroscopy. This was true whether a lithium ion was present in the reaction mixture or not. It was observed by ¹H NMR spectroscopy that the substrates were not templated by the lithium ion.¹¹ For the substituted products, either the spacer, bulk of the phenylalanine, or both were necessary for the substrates to be templated by the lithium ion resulting in high yields of the desired products.



Scheme 4. Generation of phenylalanine carboxylic acid monomer.

In order to obtain the crown ether with a pendent phenylalanine carboxylic acid, the saponification of **9** was carried out (Scheme 4). Reaction of **9** with hydroxide base gave **10**. The linear oligomers in the starting material were removed during product isolation to afford **10** in 75% yield.



Scheme 5. Synthesis of an RGD-containing crown ether monomer.

From 10, the RGD containing crown ether was made (Scheme 5). The R(Pbf)-G- $D(t-Bu)_2$ peptide was synthesized by standard solution-phase FMOC chemistry,¹² and then coupled to 10 with DCC and HOBT to afford 15 in 66% yield. The protected monomer was readily soluble in organic solvents such as CH₂Cl₂.

Polymer Synthesis and Characterization. The homopolymerization of **7** to form the unfunctionalized polyether **11** (Scheme 6) was described in Chapter 2. In this chapter, the synthesis of functionalized polyethers is described. In a typical polymerization, complex **1** in CH_2Cl_2 was added to a vial containing monomer or a mixture of monomers. The solutions were stirred for 4-5 hours and ethyl vinyl ether was added to terminate the reactions. The polymers were isolated by precipitation into ether chilled to 0 °C. Many of the polymers were slightly soluble in ether, and thus the isolated yields were decreased by this purification process.¹³ The polymers generally were viscous oils or sticky solids at room temperature.

The homopolymerization of **8** and copolymerizations of **7** and **8** were undertaken (Scheme 6) and the results are given in Table 1. The homopolymerization of **8** gave a 54% isolated yield of polymer **12e** with a M_n of 16,300 and polydispersity index (PDI) of 1.57. Thermal analysis by DSC indicated that polymer **12e** possessed both a glass transition ($T_g = -7.9 \, ^{\circ}C$) and a melting point ($T_m = 8.0 \, ^{\circ}C$). Copolymers **12a-d** were synthesized in good yields between 48% and 68%. The T_g of copolymers **12a-d** varied between those of the two homopolymers (**11** = -59.0 $^{\circ}C$ and **12e** = -7.9 $^{\circ}C$). However, the crystallization of the copolymers was inhibited by the incorporation of **7**, and only copolymer **12d** containing 80% of **8** exhibited a melting point ($T_m = 6.6 \, ^{\circ}C$). The PDI's and *trans* to *cis* ratios were all similar and ranged from 1.57-1.84 and 2.6-3.0/1, respectively.

An important component of a copolymerization reaction is the final concentration of the monomers in the polymer (copolymer composition) relative to the initial concentrations of the monomers (feed composition).¹⁴ A desirable characteristic for the

copolymers in this research was that the incorporation into the copolymer of the two monomers be dependent on the feed composition. In this way, the copolymer composition (and pendent groups) could be changed by simply altering the initial monomer concentrations. This was the case as demonstrated by the results for **12a-d**; for each copolymer the concentration of **8** incorporated was the same as that in the feed.



Scheme 6. The synthesis of polyethers by ROMP of unsaturated crown ethers.

Table 1.	Results for	, homopolymer	rization of 8 and	copolymeriza	ttion of 7 a	ind 8 .ª	
Polymer	mol% 8 feed	mol% 8 polymer ^b	yield ^{b,c}	M _n x 10 ^{-4d}	PDIq	trans/cis ^b	T_g (T_m), $^{\circ}C^e$
12a	11%	11%	>95% (68%)	2.75	1.84	3.0	-56.9
12b	25%	24%	83% (52%)	2.53	1.63	2.7	-49.8
12c	50%	49%	69% (55%)	1.97	1.75	2.6	-36.5
12d	75%	80%	60% (48%)	1.76	1.67	2.6	-20.7 (6.6)
12e ^f	100%	100%	58% (54%)	1.63	1.57	2.9	-7.9 (8.0)
^a [M]/[C]=1 brackets. °C / min.	100, [M]=1.1 ^d Determin ^f [M]=0.7M i	2M in CH ₂ Cl ₂ , ed by GPC, pc in CH ₂ Cl ₂ .	25 °C, 5hrs. ^b D olystyrene calibr	etermined fror ation. ^e Deterr	m ¹ H NMF mined by I	l spectra. ^o l DSC, 2nd he	solated yields in at, scan rate 20

-
œ
0
č
J
~
÷
0
ō
÷
ð
N
Φ
F
1
-
0
Q
0
0
č
b B
ω
f
0
ō
÷
đ
N
Φ
F
1
-
0
0
0
3
ō
č
-
5
Ť
ŝ
÷
T
S
Ð
m
-
-
1
-
ρ
G
F

The polymer yields decreased with increasing amounts of **8** (Table 1). The ¹H NMR spectra of the crude reaction mixtures quenched after 5 hours indicated the presence of both polymer and unreacted **7** and **8** (residual monomers were in the same ratio as initially). When the homopolymerization of **8** was carried out for 23 hours, the ¹H NMR spectrum of the crude reaction mixture indicated a > 95% yield of **12e** (compared to a 58% yield after 5 hours). This result indicates that higher yields for these polymers may be obtained by using longer polymerization times.

The homo- and copolymerizations of **9** and **7** were conducted (Scheme 6) and the results are given in Table 2. The homopolymerization of **9** using a [M]/[C] of 50/1 gave **13e** in 79% isolated yield with a molecular weight of 3,460 and PDI of 2.00. The GPC trace contained a slight low-molecular weight shoulder. The copolymerizations with various concentrations of **9** in the feed gave polymers **13a-d** in good yields. Analogous to **12a-d**, the mol % **9** incorporated into the polymers were similar to the mol % **9** in the feed.

. σ
6
and
·
0
E
÷
g
5
Ð
Ε
\geq
0
d
ö
О
L
0
σ
of
C
ō
Ħ
Z
Ľ.
e B
É
5
ă
0
E
2
-
õ
S
Ħ
S
Θ
Œ
N
0
Ĩ
at
Ē

polymer	mol% 9 feed	mol% 9 polymer ^b	yield ^{b,c}	M _n x 10 ^{-3d}	PIQ4	M _n x 10 ^{-3d,e}	PDI ^{d,e}	trans/ cis ^b ,() ^e	T _g (°C) ^f
13a	10%	13%	91% (76%)	32.0	2.95	15.8	1.74	3.8 (7.6)	-49.1
13b	25%	23%	95% (91%)	31.4	4.10	13.6	2.18	3.6 (10.0)	-34.3
13c	50%	51%	94% (82%)	9.18	3.73	4.95	2.25	3.5 (7.8)	-6.0
13d	74%	69%	84% (76%)	4.58	2.58	2.76	2.07	4.2 (13.9)	9.8
13e ^g	100%	100%	95% (79%)	3.46	2.00	2.49	1.73	5.1 (16.7)	24.9
^a lnitial [M]]/[C]=100,	[M]=1.2M in C	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , 25 °C,	5hrs. ^b Deteri	mined fr	om ¹ H NMR s _I	oectra.	^c lsolated yiel	lds in

brackets. ^dDetermined by GPC, polystyrene calibration. ^ePolymers resubjected to 1, [repeat unit]/[C]=25, [repeat unit]=2.4M in CH₂Cl₂, 25 °C, 1 week. ^fDetermined by DSC, 2nd heat, scan rate 20 °C/min. ^ginitial [M]/[C]=50. Similar to polymer **13e**, the molecular weight distributions for the copolymers were all broad, and the GPC traces of **13b-d** exhibited either a high or low molecular weight shoulder. Copolymer **13b** had the broadest molecular weight distribution and largest shoulder as shown by the GPC trace in Figure 1a. As discussed earlier, **9** contained a small amount of a linear oligomer which could have caused chain transfer reactions during ROMP.¹⁵ After only 5 hours of reaction time the polymerizations would not have reached equilibrium, leaving some long chains and some short chains.^{15,16} Typically ROMP chain transfer reactions proceed for hours to days before reaching equilibrium.^{16,17}



Figure 1. GPC traces for polymers 13b and 13f: a) Monomers polymerized for 5 hours with [M]/[C]=100 (13b); b) Polymer (13b) subjected to [repeat unit]/[C]=25 for 1 week; c) Monomers polymerized for 1 week with [M]/[C]=25 (13f).

With the addition of fresh catalyst to the polymers and longer reaction times, the chains could equilibrate to narrower molecular weight distributions due to back-biting along the polymer chain.^{15,16a} To investigate this, catalyst 1 ([repeat unit]/[C]=25)¹⁸ and isolated polymers **13a-e** were reacted for 1 week. The compositions of the polymers did not change. However, the results given in Table 2 demonstrate that the molecular weights lowered and most significantly, the PDIs narrowed and molecular weight distributions were monomodal. This change was most marked for polymer **13b** where the PDI went from 4.10 with a high molecular weight shoulder to 2.18 and monomodal (Figure 1a, b). Additionally, the *trans* to *cis* ratios of each of the polymers increased (Table 2). This demonstrates that the polymers were equilibrating to the thermodynamically more stable product. There was no discernible change in the *trans* to *cis* ratios for the polymer stirred in solution in the absence of catalyst.

In principle, the same narrowing effect should occur for the polymerization of 7 and 9 at long reaction times. To test this, 9 (25% in feed) and 7 were subjected to complex 1 ([M]/[C] = 25) for 1 week. The resulting polymer (13f) contained 24 mol % of 9. Also, the polymer had a monomodal GPC trace with a molecular weight of 12,300 and a PDI of 2.32. The GPC trace compared very closely to that obtained for 13b after reacting the polymer with 1 for 1 week (Figure 1b, c). These results indicate that long polymerization times are necessary for the copolymerization of 7 and 9 to obtain polymers with monomodal molecular weight distributions.

The homopolymerization of 10 was attempted, but yielded an intractable mixture due to the low solubility of the material formed. The copolymerizations of 10 and 7 were performed employing 1 with a [M]/[C] of 50/1 (Scheme 6). The polymerization of 10 (8)

mol % in feed) with 7 yielded polymer 14 with ~5% of 10 incorporated into the polymer, a M_n of 6,990 and PDI of 2.04 in 95% yield. Attempts at incorporating larger amounts of 10 resulted in oligomers and polymers of limited solubility. However, the copolymer made had a monomodal molecular weight distribution, which is consistent with the fact that no linear oligomers were present in this monomer.



Scheme 7. Synthesis of a polyether containing the bioactive RGD sequence.

Polymers Containing RGD. The homopolymerization of **15** resulted in < 5% of polymer. This may be due to the rapid degradation of **1** in the presence of the monomer which contains many amines, since **1** is not stable in the presence of secondary amines.¹⁹ The homo- or copolymerization of an unprotected RGD containing crown ether was unsuccessful, presumably for the same reason. However, the copolymerization of the protected RGD peptide monomer **15** with **7** (Scheme 7) to form **16** was accomplished in 66% isolated yield. The resulting polymer contained 15 mol% RGD, which is slightly higher than the 10 mol% in the feed. The M_n was 3,970 (with a slight low molecular weight shoulder), the PDI was 1.98, and the *trans* to *cis* ratio was 4.8/1.

It is known that very low concentrations, on the order of 5 pmol/cm², of RGD containing peptides promote cell adhesion.²⁰ Although the homopolymerization of **15**

was unsuccessful, copolymer **16**, which contains 15 mol% RGD, was synthesized. This amount of RGD peptide is significant and could promote cell adhesion when the polymer is absorbed on a surface or cross-linked to form a gel. The preparation of **15** demonstrates the feasibility of synthesizing polyether backbone polymers by ROMP that contain bioactive peptide substituents.

Summary

Polyethers with different backbones and pendent peptides were prepared using a tandem approach involving template-directed RCM followed by ROMP. A benzocrown ether and a benzocrown ether with a pendent phenylalanine methyl ester were synthesized in high yields with selectivity for the *cis* isomer using a lithium ion as a template for RCM. Crown ethers containing phenylalanine carboxylic acid and the bioactive sequence RGD were also made. Various polyether backbones were produced by copolymerizing different ratios of the benzocrown ether and an unsaturated analog of 12-crown-4. Excellent correlation between the initial monomer concentrations and final polymer compositions was observed. In a similar manner, polymers with pendent phenylalanine methyl esters and phenylalanine carboxylic acids were made. In the case of the phenylalanine methyl ester polymers, long polymerization times were necessary to obtain polymers with monomodal molecular weight distributions. Finally, the synthesis of a protected-RGD containing polyether, with 15 mol% of RGD, was described.

Experimental Section

Materials. Allyl bromide, sodium hydride, 4-dimethylaminopyridine (DMAP), *p*-toluenesulfonyl chloride, triethylamine (Et₃N), catechol, lithium perchlorate (LiClO₄), ethyl vinyl ether, and 1,3-dicyclohexylcarbodiimide (DCC) were purchased from Aldrich and used as received. Triethylene glycol and ethylene glycol were purchased from Aldrich and dried over 4 Å molecular sieves (Linde). 3,4-Dihydroxyhydrocinnamic acid was purchased from Aldrich and dried under vacuum at 30 mtorr for 24 h. L-Phenylalanine methyl ester hydrochloride and 1-hydroxybenzotriazole (HOBT) were purchased from Sigma and used as received. Anhydrous potassium carbonate (K_2CO_3) and potassium hydroxide were purchased from Mallinckrodt and used as received. Crabtree's catalyst was purchased from Strem Chemicals and used as received. The FMOC-protected peptides were purchased from Novabiochem and used as received. Dry tetrahydrofuran (THF) and methylene chloride (CH₂Cl₂) were rigorously degassed and passed through purification columns.²¹ N,N-Dimethylformamide (DMF) was distilled from MgSO₄ and stored over 4 Å molecular sieves (Linde). All other solvents were purchased from EM Science and used as received.

Techniques. Unless otherwise noted, all operations were carried out under a dry nitrogen or argon atmosphere. Dry box operations were performed in a nitrogen-filled Vacuum Atmospheres dry box. Column chromatography was performed using silica gel 60 (230-400 mesh) from EM science. ¹H NMR (300.1 MHz) and ¹³C NMR (75.49 MHz) spectra were recorded on a General Electric QE-300 spectrometer. ¹H NMR (399.65 MHz) spectra to monitor polymerizations were taken on a JEOL GX-400 spectrometer. Chemical shifts are reported downfield from tetramethylsilane (TMS). Polymer ¹H NMR

spectra were obtained using a pulse delay of 60 sec. Infrared spectroscopy was performed on a Perkin Elmer Paragon 1000 FT-IR spectrometer using a thin film of sample cast on a NaCl plate. High-resolution mass spectra were provided by the Southern California Mass Spectrometry Facility (University of California, Riverside). Gel permeation chromatographs were obtained with CH_2Cl_2 as the eluent (flow rate of 1 mL/min) using an HPLC system equipped with an Altex model 110A pump, a Rheodyne model 7125 injector with a 100 μ L injection loop, two American Polymer Standards 10 micron mixed bed columns, and a Knauer differential refractometer. The molecular weights were reported versus monodispersed polystyrene standards. Differential scanning calorimeter (DSC) was measured on a Perkin-Elmer DSC-7. The results are given for the second heating using a scan rate of 20 °C/min for all cases.

Monomer Synthesis

Synthesis of 2-[3-(3,4-dihydroxyphenyl)-propionylamino]-3-phenyl-propionic acid methyl ester (2). To a solution of L-phenylalanine methyl ester hydrochloride (1.33 g, 6.17 mmol) in CH_2Cl_2 (30 mL) was added triethylamine (1.3 mL, 9.34 mmol) and the mixture was stirred for 15 min. Then 3,4-dihydroxyhydrocinnamic acid (1.12 g, 6.17 mmol) and HOBT (1.08 g, 8.00 mmol) were added and the solution stirred until all solids had dissolved. DCC (1.27 g, 6.17 mmol) was added and the solution stirred for 12 h. The organic layer was filtered, washed with 10% citric acid (1x), water (2x), and brine (1x), dried with MgSO₄ and the solvent removed *in vacuo*. The residue was subjected to column chromatography (ethyl acetate eluent) to yield 1.58 g (75%) of **2** as a white, extremely hydroscopic solid. ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂) δ 7.18-7.29 (m, 3H), 6.93-6.96 (m, 2H), 6.74 (d, J=8.1 Hz, 1H), 6.69 (d, J= 2.1 Hz, 1H), 6.55 (dd, J=2.1 Hz, J=8.1 Hz, 1H), 6.04 (bd, J=7.5 Hz, 1H), 4.77-4.83 (m, 1H), 3.66 (s, 3H), 3.00-3.03 (m, 2H), 2.76 (t, J=7.5 Hz, 2H), 2.40-2.46 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂) δ 173.83, 172.45, 144.77, 143.38, 136.35, 133.22, 129.76, 129.08, 127.61, 120.70, 115.94, 115.84, 54.02, 52.91, 38.68, 38.23, 31.34. IR (NaCl plate): 3342, 2947, 1732, 1649, 1602, 1519, 1441, 1363, 1275, 1218, 1109, 808, 746, 699 cm⁻¹. HRMS (CI) calcd for (MH)⁺ 344.1498, found 344.1497.

Synthesis of ethylene glycol monoallyl ether. The compound was synthesized according to literature procedure²² with potassium hydroxide (16.8 g, 0.3 mmol), ethylene glycol (16.7 mL, 0.3 mmol), and allyl bromide (26.1 mL, 0.3 mmol) to afford 12.9 g (42%) of the product as a colorless oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 5.81-5.94 (m, 1H), 5.13-5.28 (m, 2H), 3.97-4.00 (m, 2H), 3.68-3.71 (m, 2H), 3.50-3.53 (m, 2H), 2.52 (bs, 1H).

Synthesis of ethylene glycol allyl ether p-tosylate (3). Ethylene glycol monoallyl ether (1.71 g, 16.8 mmol) and *p*-toluenesulfonyl chloride (3.20 g, 16.8 mmol) were dissolved in CH₂Cl₂ (50 mL), and triethylamine (3.5 mL, 25.2 mmol) and DMAP (catalytic amount) were added. The solution was stirred for 12 h before water was added and the solution acidified with 10% citric acid to a pH of 7. The organic layer was extracted with water (2x) followed by brine (1x), dried over MgSO₄, and concentrated *in vacuo* to give a colorless, viscous oil of **3** (3.90 g, 91% yield). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.81-7.84 (m, 2H), 7.35-7.37 (m, 2H), 5.79-5.88 (m, 1H), 5.16-5.32 (m, 2H), 4.17-4.20 (m, 2H), 3.95-3.98 (m, 2H), 3.63-3.66 (m, 2H), 2.46 (s, 3H). ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂) δ 145.65, 134.89, 133.20, 130.41, 128.39, 117.40, 72.47, 70.06, 67.94, 21.88. IR: 2868, 1598, 1452, 1357, 1190, 1177, 1097, 1019, 920, 817, 777, 665 cm⁻¹. HRMS (CI) calcd for (M+NH₄)⁺ 274.1113, found 274.1108.

Synthesis of 1,2-bis-(2-allyloxy-ethoxy)-benzene (4). Compound 3 (838 mg, 3.27 mmol), catechol (180 mg, 1.64 mmol), and anhydrous K_2CO_3 (905 mg, 6.55 mmol) were dissolved in dry DMF (8 mL) and the mixture was heated to 85-90 °C for 24 h. Ether was added and the solution washed with 10% NaOH (2x), water (3x), and brine (1x), dried over MgSO₄ and the solvent removed *in vacuo*. The residue was subjected to column chromatography (25% ethyl acetate, 75% hexanes eluent) to yield 280 mg (61%) of 4 as a colorless oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 6.89–6.96 (m, 4H), 5.88-6.01 (m, 2H), 5.17-5.35 (m, 4H), 4.16-4.20 (m, 4H), 4.10-4.12 (m, 4H), 3.81-3.84 (m, 4H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 148.90, 134.58, 121.47, 116.90, 114.72, 72.12, 68.74, 68.46. IR: 3072, 2916, 2864, 1592, 1503, 1451, 1254, 1218, 1114, 1042, 927, 798, 798, 741 cm⁻¹. HRMS (EI) calcd for (M)⁺ 278.1518, found 278.1518.

Synthesis of 2-{3-[3,4-bis-(2-allyloxy-ethoxy)-phenyl]-propionylamino}-3phenyl-propionic acid methyl ester (5). Using the same procedure as for 4 except with 2 (1.20 g, 3.50 mmol), 3 (1.79 g, 7.00 mmol), and K₂CO₃ (1.93 g, 14.0 mmol) in DMF (17.5 mL) gave the crude product which after subjecting to column chromatography (70% ethyl acetate, 30% hexanes eluent) gave 1.29 g (72%) of **5** as a white, waxy solid. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 7.21-7.26 (m, 3H), 6.92-6.97 (m, 2H), 6.68-6.84 (m, 3H), 5.84-5.96 (m, 3H), 5.15-5.32 (m, 4H), 4.85-4.89 (m, 1H), 4.06-4.14 (m, 8H), 3.75-3.80 (m, 4H), 3.69 (s, 3H), 3.05 (d, J=5.4, 2H), 2.81-2.86 (m, 2H), 2.40-2.47 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 172.48, 172.11, 149.61, 148.03, 136.26, 135.29, 134.69, 129.78, 129.10, 127.67, 121.69, 117.63, 115.65, 72.84, 69.67, 69.48, 69.20, 53.55, 52.88, 38.89, 38.41, 31.52. IR: 3294, 2931, 2868, 1741, 1651, 1510, 1451, 1433, 1261, 1216, 1139, 1116, 1035, 994, 926, 808, 745, 670 cm⁻¹. HRMS (FAB) calcd for (M)⁺ 511.2570, found 511.2570.

Synthesis of triethylene glycol diallyl ether (6). To a room temperature, stirred solution of allyl bromide (4 mL, 46.2 mmol) and sodium hydride (1.35 g, 56.3 mmol) in dry THF (125 mL) was added, over a period of 1 h, a solution of triethylene glycol (3.0 mL, 22.5 mmol) in THF (25 mL). The reaction was allowed to stir at room temperature for a total of 12 h. THF was removed *in vacuo*, and the crude product was taken up in ether and extracted with water 3 times. The ether layer was separated, dried over MgSO₄, and the solvent removed *in vacuo*. The crude product was purified by column chromatography (ether eluent) to afford 3.52 g (70%) of **6** as a colorless oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 5.82-5.95 (m, 2H), 5.13-5.28 (m, 4H), 3.98-4.01 (m, 4H), 3.56-3.66 (m, 12 H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 134.65, 116.99, 72.12, 70.52, 69.30. IR: 3072, 2864, 1462, 1420, 1348, 1291, 1249, 1109, 995, 917. HRMS (CI) calcd for (MH)⁺ 231.1596, found 231.1596.

Synthesis of 1,4,7,10 tetraoxa-cyclotetradec-12-ene (7). THF (59 mL) was added to 6 (3 g, 13.0 mmol) and LiClO₄ (6.91 g, 65.2 mmol) and the solution stirred for 30 min or until all solids had dissolved. *[Precaution should be used when handling perchlorate salts due to the explosive nature of these compounds; a blast shield should be used at all times.]* Dry CH₂Cl₂ (580 mL) was added to the flask followed by a solution of catalyst 1 (537 mg, 0.652 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (10 mL). The mixture was heated to 40 °C for 90 min before cooling to room temperature, adding ~ 1 mL of ethyl vinyl ether and stirring for 30 min. The solution was extracted with a minimal amount of water to remove the lithium, the organic layer was dried over MgSO₄, and the solvent removed *in* *vacuo*. The residue was subjected to chromatography (ether eluent) to yield **7** as a brown liquid in 74-99% yield. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 5.75-5.78 (m, 2), 4.29-4.30 (m, 4H), 3.64-3.72 (m, 12 H).

Synthesis of 6,7,9,12,14,15-hexahydro-5,8,13,16-tetraoxa-benzocyclotetradecene (8). Using the same procedure as for the synthesis of 7, treatment of 4 (238 mg, 0.856 mmol) and LiClO₄ (454 mg, 4.28 mmol) in dry THF (3.9 mL) and CH₂Cl₂ (37 mL) with catalyst 1 (35.2 mg, 0.0428 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (1.9 mL) formed 8 in quantitative yield by ¹H NMR spectroscopy. Subjecting the crude product to column chromatography (1-2 times, ether eluent) gave 50-63% (94% *cis* isomer) isolated yields of 8 as a white, crystalline solid. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 6.89-6.94 (m, 4H), 5.75-5.78 (m, 2H), 4.41-4.42 (m, 4H), 4.15-4.18 (m, 4H), 3.86-3.88 (m, 4H). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃) δ 148.99, 129.81, 121.58, 114.48, 70.80, 67.82, 67.34. IR: 2922, 2859, 1592, 1501, 1451, 1252, 1220, 1121, 1053, 971, 917, 745 cm⁻¹. HRMS (EI) calcd for (M)⁺ 250.1205, found 250.1205.

Synthesis of 2-(3-6,7,9,12,14,15-hexahydro-5,8,13,16-tetraoxa-benzocyclo tetradecen-2-yl-propionylamino)-3-phenyl-propionic acid methyl ester (9). Using the same procedure as for 7 except with 5 (1.56 g, 3.05 mmol), LiClO₄ (1.62 g, 15.3 mmol) in dry THF (13.9 mL), and dry CH₂Cl₂ (137 mL) with catalyst 1 (126 mg, 0.153 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (2 mL) gave the crude product in 77% yield by ¹H NMR spectroscopy. The product was subjected to column chromatography (70% ethyl acetate, 30% hexanes eluent) and resubjected (ethyl acetate eluent) to yield 1.04 g (71% yield, 94% *cis* isomer, <5% linear diene) of 9. ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂) δ 7.20-7.28 (m, 3H), 6.95-6.98 (m, 2H), 6.70-6.82 (m, 3H), 5.95 (bd, J=7.5, 1H), 5.65-5.76 (m, 2H), 4.77-4.83 (m, 1H), 4.34-4.35 (m, 4H), 4.07-4.11 (m, 4H), 3.77-3.81 (m, 4H), 3.67 (s, 3H), 3.02-3.05 (m, 2H), 2.80-2.85

(m, 2H), 2.39-2.45 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂) δ 172.43, 171.83, 149.65, 148.03, 136.72, 134.98, 130.39, 130.25, 129.80, 128.98, 127.50, 121.56, 115.23, 115.18, 71.53, 71.26, 68.60, 68.49, 67.94, 53.64, 52.70, 38.64, 38.31, 31.43. IR (NaCl plate): 3298, 3628, 2922, 2865, 1744, 1653, 1509, 1451, 1432, 1364, 1263, 1215, 1162, 1133, 1051, 1027, 979, 695 cm⁻¹. HRMS (CI) calcd for (MH)⁺ 484.2335, found 484.2334.

Synthesis of 2-(3-6,7,9,12,14,15-hexahydro-5,8,13,16-tetraoxa-benzocyclo tetradecen-2-yl-propionylamino)-3-phenyl-propionic acid (10). KOH (400 mg, 7.14 mmol) was added to a solution of 9 (950 mg, 1.97 mmol) in THF (14.8 mL) and deionized water (4.9 mL) and the reaction was stirred for 13 h. Water was added and the solution extracted with CH_2Cl_2 (1x). The aqueous layer was acidified with 10% citric acid to a pH 3 and with the addition of NaCl, extracted with ether (5x). The ether layers were combined, dried over MgSO₁, and the solvent removed *in vacuo*. The residue was subjected to column chromatography (97% ethyl acetate, 3% acetic acid eluent), taken up in water, and re-extracted (adding NaCl) with ether (5x). The ether layers were consolidated, dried over MgSO₄, and the solvent removed *in vacuo* to yield 10 as a white solid in 75% yield (694 mg). ¹H NMR (CD₃OD) δ 7.06-7.21 (m, 5H), 6.80-6.85 (m, 2H), 6.68-6.71 (m, 1H), 5.70-5.72 (m, 2H), 4.55-4.62 (m, 1H), 4.37-4.39 (m, 4H), 4.07-4.10 (m, 4H), 3.78-3.82 (m, 4H), 3.08-3.15 (m, 1H), 2.89-2.93 (m, 1H), 2.70-2.74 (m, 2H), 2.38-2.44 (m, 2H). ¹³C NMR (CD₃OD) δ175.73, 174.01, 149.53, 147.88, 137.88, 135.17, 130.10, 130.00, 129.50, 128.53, 126.83, 121.60, 115.30, 115.18, 71.25, 70.97, 68.34, 68.21, 67.61, 54.90 37.98, 37.79, 31.43. IR (KBr pellet): 3310, 3030, 2926, 2864, 2584, 1732, 1649, 1514, 1451, 1426, 1265, 1228, 1161, 1135, 1047, 974, 912, 808, 741, 699 cm⁻¹. HRMS (FAB) calcd for (MNa)⁺ 492.1998, found 492.2020.

Synthesis of RGD containing Monomer (15). The H₂N-Arg(Pbf)-Gly-Asp(t-Bu)₂ peptide was synthesized using standard solution FMOC chemistry,¹² and then coupled to **10**. The same procedure for **2** was followed with 53 mg (0.11 mmol) **10**, 90 mg (0.13 mmol) of the peptide, 0.02 mL (0.15 mmol) triethylamine, 24 mg (0.18 mmol) HOBT, 24 mg (0.11 mmol) DCC in 1.0 mL of CH₂Cl₂, resulting in 87 mg (66%) of **15** as a white solid. ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂) δ 7.11-7.25 (m, 5H), 6.68-6.77 (m, 3H), 6.29-6.31 (m, 1H), 5.69-5.71 (m, 2H), 4.56-4.62 (m, 2H), 4.24-4.31 (m, 5H), 4.05-4.06 (m, 4H), 3.87-4.00 (m, 2H), 3.76-3.77 (m, 4H), 3.16-3.21 (m, 2H), 3.05-3.11 (m, 2H), 2.94 (s, 2H), 2.62-2.81 (m, 6H), 2.54 (s, 3H), 2.48 (s, 3H), 2.05 (s, 3H), 1.64-1.70 (m, 4H), 1.38 (2, 18H), 1.37 (s, 6H). IR (NaCl plate): 3321, 2916, 1732, 1623, 1576, 1545, 1514, 1446, 1368, 1259, 1156, 1093, 1021, 798 cm⁻¹. HRMS (FAB, DCM/NBA/NaCl) calcd for (MNa)⁺ 1184.5610, found 1184.5566.

Polymer Synthesis

General procedure for the polymerization of crown ethers. In a nitrogenfilled dry box, a solution of complex 1 in CH_2Cl_2 (to give a final monomer concentration of 1.2M) was added to the monomer (homopolymers) or a mixture of monomers (copolymers) and the reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 5 h. The initial [M]/[C] was 100/1. The polymerizations were terminated by ethyl vinyl ether and the solutions stirred for an additional 15-30 min. The polymers were precipitated into cold ether, stirred for 15 min, isolated by centrifugation, washed with cold ether (3x), and dried under vacuum. Deviations from this literature procedure are noted in specific cases below. Data not reported within the text is also reported below. **Homopolymerization of 8 (12e).** Typical procedure given above was followed, except that the initial monomer concentration was 0.7 M. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃) δ 6.90-6.91 (bm, 4H), 5.82-5.84 & 5.73-5.76 (*trans* & *cis*, both bm, 2H), 4.13-4.17 (bm, 4H), 4.08-4.09 (bm, 4H), 3.77-3.81 (bm, 4H). IR: 3419, 2922, 2865, 2350, 2331, 1589, 1500, 1440, 1251, 1218, 1124, 1054, 1033, 744 cm⁻¹.

Copolymerizations of 7 and 8 (12a-d). Typical procedure given above was followed. For the following data, the shifts are the same for all copolymers, but peak resonances vary in intensity according to percent incorporation of the comonomers. ¹H NMR (CD_2Cl_2) δ 6.90 (bs), 5.79-5.84 & 5.69-5.73 (*trans & cis*, both bm), 4.13-4.14 (bm), 4.05-4.07 (bm), 3.98-3.99 (bm), 3.76-3.79 (bm), 3.56-3.58 (bm). IR: 3474, 2921, 2864, 1591, 1501, 1452, 1354, 1253, 1217, 1115, 1030, 977, 930 cm⁻¹.

Homopolymerization of 9 (13e). Typical procedure given above was followed, except that a [M]/[C]=50/1 was used. ¹H NMR (CD_2Cl_2) δ 7.20-7.22 (bm, 3H), 6.95-6.97 (bm, 2H), 6.66-6.79 (bm, 3H), 6.02 (bs, 1H), 5.77-5.83 & 5.68-5.73 (*trans & cis*, both bm, 2H), 4.74-4.80 (bm, 1H), 3.98-4.13 (bm, 8H), 3.70-3.73 (bm, 4H), 3.64 (bs, 3H), 2.99-3.02 (bm, 2H), 2.76-2.81 (bm, 2H), 2.36-2.42 (bm, 2H). IR: 3294, 2922, 2859, 1741, 1651, 1510, 1451, 1429, 1356, 1261, 1216, 1134, 1116, 1030, 980, 745, 700 cm⁻¹.

Copolymerizations of 7 and 9 (13a-d, f). Typical procedure given above was followed, except that for **13f**, [M]/[C]=25/1, the initial monomer concentration was 0.8M, and the polymerization proceeded for 1 week. For the following data, shifts are the same for all copolymers, but peak resonances vary in intensity according to percent incorporation of the comonomers. ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂) δ 7.23-7.25 (bm), 6.97-6.99 (bm), 6.69-6.82 (bm), 5.95 (bs), 5.77-5.84 & 5.67-5.74 (*trans & cis*, both bm), 4.76-4.82 (bm),

4.06-4.12 (bm), 3.98-3.99 (bm), 3.75-3.76 (bm), 3.67 (bs), 3.54-3.58 (bm), 3.03-3.05 (bm), 2.79-2.83 (bm), 2.39-2.44 (bm). IR: 3538, 3303, 2922, 2868, 1741, 1664, 1510, 1451, 1352, 1261, 1220, 1116, 1026, 980, 750, 700 cm⁻¹.

Polymers 13a-e subjected to catalyst 1. Typical procedure given above was followed except that 1 was reacted with polymer ([repeat unit]/[C]=25), the initial polymer concentration was 2.4M (per repeat unit), and the reaction time was 1 week. The characterization was identical to that given for polymers 13a-e above.

Copolymerizations of 7 and 10 (14). Typical procedure given above was followed except that a [M]/[C]=50/1 was used. The copolymerization with mol % **10** in the feed was conducted at 35 °C. ¹H NMR (CD_2Cl_2) δ 7.20-7.25 (bm), 7.02-7.07 (bm), 6.68-6.83 (bm), 5.77-5.80 & 5.68-5.70 (*trans & cis*, both bm), 4.68-4.78 (bm), 4.05-4.06 (bm), 3.98-3.99 (bm), 3.75-3.77 (bm), 3.56-3.58 (bm), 3.04-3.07 (bm), 2.79-2.83 (bm), 2.39-2.44 (bm). IR: 3321, 2864, 1732, 1654, 1514, 1451, 1353, 1259, 1114, 1031, 974, 875, 850, 744, 706 cm⁻¹.

Copolymerization of 7 and 15 (16). Typical procedure given above was followed except that a [M]/[C]=50/1 and concentration of 0.9 M was used. ¹H NMR $(CD_2Cl_2) \delta 7.12-7.19$ (bm), 6.65-6.74 (bm), 5.77-5.78 & 5.66-6.70 (*trans & cis*, both bm), 4.60-4.64 (bm), 4.18-4.22 (bm), 4.03-4.05 & 3.96-4.00 (*cis & trans*, both bm), 3.72-3.75 (bm), 3.52-3.57 (bm), 3.06-3.10 (bm), 2.94 (s), 2.71-2.75 (bm), 2.54 (s), 2.47 (s), 2.05 (s), 1.71 (bm), 1.39 (s), 1.38 (s).

Acknowledgements

The National Science Foundation (grant CHE-9809856) and the National Institutes of Health (grant GM 3133213) are greatly appreciated for funding this research.

References

- Portions of this chapter have been published as: Maynard, H. D.; Grubbs, R. H.
 Macromolecules 1999, 32, 6917-6924.
- (1) For a review of polymeric drug delivery, see Langer, R. *Nature*, **1998**, *392*, 5-10.
- For examples, see: Body, R. W.; Kyllingstad, V. L. In *Encyclopedia of Polymer* Science and Engineering, 2nd ed.; Mark, H. F., Bikales, N. M., Overberger, C. C., Menges, G., Kroschwitz, J. I., Eds.; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 1986; Vol. 6, pp 307-322, and references therein.
- (3) (a) Schwab, P.; France, M. B.; Ziller, J. W.; Grubbs, R. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 2039-2041. (b) Schwab, P.; Grubbs, R. H.; Ziller, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 100-110.
- (4) Lynn, D. M.; Kanaoka, S.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1996**, 118, 784-790.
- (5) (a) Fraser, C.; Grubbs, R. H. *Macromolecules* 1995, 28, 7248-7255. (b) Nomura,
 K.; Schrock, R. R. *Macromolecules* 1996, 29, 540-545. (c) Manning, D. D.; Hu,
 X.; Beck, P.; Kiessling, L. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 3161-3162. (d)
 Kanai, M.; Mortell, K. H.; Kiessling, L. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 99319932.

- (6) Gibson, V. C.; Marshall, E. L.; North, M.; Robson, D. A.; Williams, P. Chem.
 Commun. 1997, 1095-1096.
- Biagini, S. C. G.; Gibson, V. C.; Giles, M. R.; Marshall, E. L.; North, M. Chem.
 Commun. 1997, 1097-1098.
- (8) (a) Coles, M. P.; Gibson, V. C.; Mazzariol, L.; North, M.; Teasdale, W. G.; Williams, C. M.; Zamuner, D. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 2505-2506.
 (b) Biagini, S. C. G.; Coles, M. P.; Gibson, V. C.; Giles, M. R. Marshall, E. L.; North, M. Polymer 1998, 39, 1007-1014. (c) Biagini, S. C. G.; Davies, R. G.; Gibson, V. C.; Giles, M. R.; Marshall, E. L.; North, M.; Robson, D. A. Chem. Commun. 1999, 235-236.
- Marsella, M. J.; Maynard, H. D.; Grubbs, R. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl.
 1997, 36, 1101-1103.
- Miller, S. J.; Kim, S. -H.; Chen, Z. -R; Grubbs, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1995, 117, 2108-2109.
- (11) The peaks corresponding to the olefinic protons of the product shift in the ¹H NMR spectrum when the crown ether is templated by a lithium ion.
- (12) Carpino, L. A.; Han, G. Y. J. Org. Chem. 1972, 37, 3404-3409.
- (13) Ether was more effective than hexanes for the precipitation removal of residual catalyst and monomer.
- (14) Odian, G. Principles of Polymerization, 3rd ed.; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 1991.

- (15) Acyclic olefins act as chain transfer agents in ROMP, see: Ivin, K. J.; Mol, J.C. Olefin Metathesis and Metathesis Polymerization; Academic Press: San Diego, 1997.
- (16) (a) Hillmyer, M. A.; Nguyen, S. T.; Grubbs, R. H. *Macromolecules* 1997, *30*, 718-721. (b) Maughon, B. R.; Morita, T.; Grubbs, R. H. *Macromolecules* 2000, *33*, 1929-1935. (c) Bielawski, C. W.; Grubbs, R. H. *Macromolecules* 2000, *33*, 678-680.
- (17) Another explanation for the non-gaussian molecular weight distributions is that the monomers were forming homopolymers rather than copolymers. However, this is less likely because the T_g 's scale proportionally between those of the two homopolymers (-59.0 °C for **11** and 24.5 °C for **13e**) as one would expect for the copolymers.
- (18) In this case [M]/[C] is the ratio of repeat unit to catalyst concentration.
- (19) Fu, G. C.; Nguyen, S. T.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 9856-9857.
- (20) Massia, S. P.; Hubbell, J. A. Anal. Biochem. 1990, 187, 292-301.
- (21) Pangborn, A. B.; Giardello, M. A.; Grubbs, R. H.; Rosen, R. K.; Timmers, F. J.
 Organometallics 1996, 15, 1518-1520.
- (22) Mitchell, T. N.; Heesche-Wagner, K. J. Organomet. Chem. 1992, 436, 43-53.

Chapter 4

Synthesis of Norbornenyl Polymers With Pendent Bioactive

Oligopeptides by Ring-Opening Metathesis Polymerization[‡]

Abstract

Synthetic norbornenyl polymers substituted with cell adhesive sequences glycinearginine-glycine-aspartic acid (GRGD) and serine-arginine-asparagine (SRN) were synthesized by ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP) using newly developed ruthenium initiators. Initially, simpler polymers with pendent glycine, alanine, or penta(ethylene glycol) (EO₅) units attached directly or through ethyl and propyl spacers to various norbornenyl backbones were synthesized using Ru=CHPh(Cl)₂(PCy₃)₂ (1) as the initiator. The molecular weights, PDI's, polymerization times, yields, and glass transition temperatures were compared for these polymers. As a result of this comparison, poly(5-norbornene-2-carboxyl) was chosen as the backbone for the more complex oligopeptide containing polymers, and poly(norbornene) homopolymers and copolymers with pendent EO₅, GRGD, and SRN units were synthesized. It was found that the newly developed, more active, 2,3-dihydroimidazolylidene initiators, $Ru=CHPh(Cl)_{2}(PCy_{3})(DHIMes)$ (2) and $Ru=CH-CH=C(CH_{3})_{2}(Cl)_{2}(PCp_{3})(DHIMes)$ (3) were necessary to synthesize polymers containing more than 10 mol% of the oligopeptides. In order to alter the presentation of the GRGD, an EO_5 containing copolymer with a propyl spacer between the GRGD and the backbone was also made.

Introduction

Considerable effort has been directed towards increasing the therapeutic potential of the cell-binding sequence Arg-Gly-Asp (RGD).¹ As was discussed in Chapter 1, this sequence is part of integrin-cell binding domains of many extracellular proteins.² One potential way to increase the binding strength of RGD-containing materials is to incorporate additional oligopeptide sequences into the materials that increase their adhesive character. The sequence Pro-His-Ser-Arg-Asn (PHSRN), that enhances integrin binding to RGD in the protein fibronectin,³ is a possible target. However, this effort has been limited by the lack of methods to synthesize RGD and PHSRN containing materials in a controllable and reliable manner. This chapter describes an excellent approach to the synthesis of copolymers substituted with RGD and the synergy peptide by ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP) using newly developed ruthenium catalysts.

Previously, a synthetic polymer containing only GRGDS peptides linked to a poly(carboxyethylmethacrylamide) backbone has been reported and shown to have an increased therapeutic potential to cancer metastasis compared to the free peptide.⁴ However, this polymer was synthesized by nonliving, radical polymerization which provides little control over the molecular weight and resulted in PDI's between 2 and 4.6. Also with this polymerization method, the synthesis of random or block copolymers is not straightforward, and copolymers containing the synergy site PHSRN were not synthesized.

Ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP) provides a better alternative for producing well-defined copolymers with pendent bioactive oligopeptides. The copolymer composition is obtained by the feed ratio of the monomers,⁵ and the molecular weight is

controlled by the initial monomer to catalyst ratio. Also, ROMP of strained monomers can be living, so synthesizing block copolymers may be a possibility. In addition, the polymer architecture is readily altered; for example, a spacer group can be included between the peptide and the polymer backbone. Furthermore, ROMP of monomers substituted with amino acids has been demonstrated. In Chapter 3, polyethers with pendent amino acids were described,⁵ and the synthesis of norbornenyl⁶ polymers with one or two amino acids with alkyl side chains, but containing no functionality, has been reported.

In this chapter, the synthesis of various synthetic polymers with pendent GRGD, SRN, and/or penta(ethylene oxide) (EO₅) units by ROMP (see Copolymer Target) is described. Because deletion studies have determined that R is the important residue for PHSRN function,³ the synergy sequence was truncated to SRN. Since it has been shown that surfaces of oligo(ethylene oxide) are protein resistant,⁷ copolymers with EO₅ units were also made. These may be more biocompatible and water soluble than polymers with only pendent peptides. The synthesis of polymers containing these sequences, as well as various polynorbornenes with pendent glycines, alanines, and penta(ethylene glycol) using catalysts 1,⁸ 2,⁹ and 3,⁹ are discussed.



Results and Discussion

Monomer Synthesis. A series of monomers with one pendent amino acid or EO_5 was synthesized in order to study the ROMP of these monomers. First glycine and alanine monomers **9**, **10**, **15**, and **16** were prepared (Scheme 1). Starting material **4** is commercially available and the *exo* methylene-bridged anhydride (**5**) was obtained by thermally isomerizing the commercially available *endo* anhydride.¹⁰ Oxa-bridged monomers **9** and **10** were made following a slightly modified literature preparation¹¹ in 9% and 25% yields, respectively. In a similar manner, methylene-bridged monomers **15** and **16** were synthesized in 59% and 51% yields, respectively. As has been found for the

synthesis of other oxa-bridged amino acid monomers, the yields for these monomers were very low.¹¹ However, good yields of the methylene-bridged monomers were obtained.



Scheme 1. Synthesis of glycine and alanine substituted norbornene imide monomers.

Norbornenes substituted with glycine (**19** and **20**) or penta(ethylene glycol) (**21**) were synthesized (Scheme 2) in somewhat better yields compared to the imide-derived monomers. Glycine methyl ester hydrochloride was coupled to *endo* or *exo* 5-norbornene-2-carboxylic acid (**18**) with EDC, triethylamine, and HOBT in CH_2Cl_2 in 66% (**19**) and 73% (**20**) yield, respectively. The same procedure was followed to synthesize monomer **23** from **22** in 65% yield. The EO₅ monomer (**21**) was synthesized in 53% yield by reacting penta(ethylene glycol) with norbornene-*exo*-2-carboxylic acid chloride in the presence of base in anhydrous THF.



Scheme 2. Synthesis of norbornene monomers with a pendent glycine or penta(ethylene glycol). Reaction conditions: i. H-Gly-OCH₃·HCl, Et₃N, EDC, and HOBT in CH₂Cl₂ (**19**, **20**, **23**). ii. a) Oxalyl Cl and DMF in CH₂Cl₂; b) $H(OCH_2CH_2)_5OH$ and K_2CO_3 in THF, reflux (**21**).

Next, the synthesis of monomers with ethyl and propyl spacer groups between the norbornenyl group and amino acid was undertaken. First, **4** and **5** were heated to 50 °C with 2-aminoethanol for 12 hours in a mixture of THF and MeOH to give the resulting alcohols **6** and **7** in 36% and 44% yields respectively (Scheme 3). Then monomer **12** was prepared in 49% yield by mixing **6** and methyl bromoacetate with potassium carbonate and tetrabutyl ammonium bromide in anhydrous DMF (Scheme 4). Monomers **11** and **17** with a pendent N- α -*t*-Boc-alanine were made in 50% and 61% yield respectively by coupling *N*-*tert*-butoxycarbonyl-L-alanine to **6** or **7** using DCC and a catalytic amount of DMAP (Scheme 4).



Scheme 3. Synthesis of alcohol precursors.



Scheme 4. Synthesis of monomers with ethyl spacers and glycine or alanine amino acids. Reaction conditions: i. Boc-Ala-OH, DCC, and DMAP in CH_2Cl_2 (11, 17). ii. Br-CH₂COOCH₃, K₂CO₃, and Bu₄NBr in DMF (12).

Monomers 13 and 14 with propyl spacers were synthesized in decent yields from 8 (Scheme 5). The acid (8) was synthesized first in 41% yield by heating 4 and aminobutyric acid in THF and MeOH at 50 °C for 12 hours. Monomer 13 was made as for 19 and 20 in 57% yield, and monomer 14 in a 36% over-all yield by using the same procedure as for 21 except the acid chloride was generated *in situ* with oxalyl chloride and base.



Scheme 5. Synthesis of propyl spaced glycine and penta(ethylene glycol) containing monomers. Reaction conditions: i. H-Gly-OCH₃·HCl, Et₃N, EDC, and HOBT in CH₂Cl₂ (13). ii. a) Oxalyl Cl and DMF in CH₂Cl₂; b) H(OCH₂CH₂)₅OH and K₂CO₃ in THF, reflux (14).

Finally, the GR(Pbf)GD(O'Bu)-OH and S(O'Bu)R(Pbf)N(Trt)-OH containing monomers (24, 25, and 29) were synthesized. 24 and 25 were made by initially synthesizing the peptides on a 4-carboxyltrityl linker resin using standard Fmoc chemistry, followed by coupling 5-norbornene-*exo*-2-carboxylic acid to the amino terminus of the peptide. The monomer was then cleaved from the resin under mildly acidic conditions, giving the protected monomers in 76-97% and 92% yields respectively. In a similar manner, **29** was synthesized from **8** in 83% yield.


Polymers Substituted With One Amino Acid: Synthesis and Characterization. Before synthesizing polymers containing the bioactive peptides, polymers substituted with glycines, alanines, or EO_5 were studied. These were prepared by adding a solution of 1 in CH_2Cl_2 to a solution of monomer in CH_2Cl_2 to give an initial monomer concentration between 0.5 and 0.75 M. The mixtures were stirred vigorously

for 15 minutes to 3 hours before quenching with ethyl vinyl ether. The polymers were precipitated into hexanes or ether, isolated by centrifugation, and dried under vacuum before characterization. Polymers with amino acids or EO_5 units attached directly or through a spacer to the backbone were made and compared in terms of polymer yield, polymerization time, and molecular weight distribution.

First, polymers based on monomers **9**, **10**, **15**, and **16** (Scheme 1) were synthesized using initiator **1** (Table 1).¹² The monomers all reacted in 1 hour or less, giving excellent yields of polymer (82-95%). The polymers had glass transition temperatures between 147 and 158 °C. The number-averaged molecular weights (M_n) were between 17,700 and 108,000. The molecular weight distributions were narrow for poly(**9**) and poly(**16**) (PDI of 1.19 and 1.10 respectively), broader for poly(**15**) (1.47), and bimodal for poly(**10**). The broad molecular weight distribution obtained for poly(**15**) may be a result of catalyst decomposition which was detected by NMR spectroscopy during the course of the reaction. However, the source of the bimodal molecular weight distribution of poly(**10**) is unknown. This persisted regardless of the reaction solvent used (CH₂Cl₂ or benzene).

None of these monomers were suitable for further elaboration to synthesize more complex polymers. Poly(10) demonstrated a bimodal molecular weight distribution, and although poly(9) had a narrow, monomodal molecular weight distribution (1.19), the low yield of the monomer (9%) precluded its use in the synthesis of the more complex polymers. The methylene-bridged polymers both demonstrated monomodal molecular weight distributions, and the yields of both monomers were good (59% and 51%). The glycine linker was preferred to the alanine linker since GRGD is the native sequence in fibronectin.¹³ However, attempts to saponify monomer **15** in order to obtain the carboxylic acid through which RGD could be attached failed, and resulted in the regeneration of the anhydride. The synthesis of the glycine carboxylic acid monomer *directly resulted* in very low yields (< 25%). Therefore, monomer **15** was eliminated from the list of candidates, and the norbornene monomers were selected for further studies.

Norbornene monomers (19–21, 23) (Scheme 2) were polymerized and characterized. Since monomer 19 could be made from commercially available starting materials, it was synthesized and polymerized first. However, the reaction took 24 hours to reach 90% yield. This was not a surprising result since *endo* monomers often take longer to polymerize than the corresponding *exo* monomers.¹⁴ *Exo* monomer 20 was then made and reacted quickly in 45 minutes to give a quantitative yield of polymer. The penta(ethylene glycol) monomer, *exo* 21, also polymerized rapidly in 35 minutes. To determine if the polymer could be synthesized even faster, the highly strained monomer, 23, was subjected to ROMP. However, this monomer was too strained and polymerized quickly (<5 minutes) and uncontrollably, resulting in an extremely broad molecular weight distribution (PDI of 29.0).

m
acids. ⁶
t amino
penden
with
monomers
norbornenyl
for
data
Polymerization
÷
Table

Polymer	Yield	[M] ₀ /[C] ₀	Time (min)	M _n (x10 ³) ^b	PDI ^b	T _g (°C) ^c	Trans/ Cis ^d	Carbene (ppm) ^d	Free PCy ₃ ? ^e
Poly(9)	82%	100/1	30	17.7	1.19	147.6	2.4	18.67	no
Poly(10)	83%	100/1	60	97.5	bimodal	I	I	I	I
Poly(15)	%06	100/1	35	46.3	1.47	158.1	5.2	19.48, 18.58	yes
Poly(16)	95%	100/1	60	108	1.10	154.1	5.5	19.41	ou
Poly(20)	>99%	50/1	45	10.9	1.15	88.0	2.4	19.02, 18.94, 18.74	yes
Poly(21)	>99%	36/1	35	4.61	1.12	-48.9	3.6	19.07, 19.02, 18.72	yes
Poly(23)	>99%	100/1	<5	1.00	29.0	ł	2.9	1	I
^a General rea	iction con	ditions: CH	₂ Cl ₂ as th	ne solvent, rt,	1 as the init	tiator, [M] ₀ =	: 0.5-0.75 M	. ^b All determined by G	aPC,

^cDetermined by DSC, 10 [°]C/min, 2nd heat reported. ^dDetermined from ¹H NMR spectroscopy. ^eDetermined from ³¹P CH_2CI_2 eluent, poly(styrene) standards except poly(**20**) with DMF as the eluent, poly(ethylene glycol) standards. NMR spectroscopy.

96

Polymers, poly(20) and poly(21) were characterized (Table 1). The M_n 's were 10,900 ($[M]_0/[C]_0 = 50/1$) and 4,610 ($[M]_0/[C]_0 = 35/1$) for poly(20) and poly(21) respectively and the molecular weight distributions were narrow (1.15 and 1.12). The polymers had very different glass transition temperatures depending on the substituent. The glycine substituent resulted in a polymer with a higher T_g compared to unsubstituted norbornene (88.0 °C vs. 31 °C¹⁵). The flexible penta(ethylene glycol) units resulted in a polymer with a lower T_g (-48.9 °C). Because of high yields of both monomer and polymer, facile synthesis, monomodal molecular weight distributions, and fast polymerization times, the norbornene olefin was chosen for the synthesis of the monomers and polymers with GRGD and SRN units.

In an attempt to alter the presentation of the amino acids, polymers with ethyl (12) or propyl (13-14) spacer groups were synthesized and characterized (Table 2) concurrently with the norbornene monomers and polymers described above. Monomer 12 (Scheme 4) polymerized in 2.5 hours and 13 and 14 (Scheme 5) in 30 minutes to give poly(12), poly(13), and poly(14) in excellent yields. Again the T_g of the polymers depended on the substituents. Poly(12) and poly(13) had glass transitions lower than that of poly(9) with the glycine directly attached to the backbone (86.1 and 74.5 versus 147.6 °C). Similar to poly(21), the penta(ethylene glycol) substituent resulted in poly(14) having a low glass transition at -29.9 °C. The M_n 's of poly(12) and poly(14) were 66,200 and 118,000. The molecular weight of poly(13) could not be determined due to the low solubility of the polymer. Poly(12) demonstrated a monomodal, molecular weight distribution of 1.31 while poly(14) had a bimodal molecular weight distribution. The

reason for this bimodal molecular weight distribution is unknown; only one propagating species was observable by ¹H NMR spectroscopy. Attempts to saponify monomer **12** to yield the carboxylic acid functionality failed; similar to **15**, saponification resulted in the regeneration of the **6**.

Polymers with pendent Boc-protected alanines, poly(11) and poly(17), were synthesized in less than 2 hours in > 99% and 95% yields respectively (Table 2). The molecular weight distributions were monomodal for both poly(11) and poly(17), and the molecular weights were similar (M_n of 51,900 and 55,500 respectively). The polymers also had similar glass transition temperatures (T_n of 96.8 and 90.3 °C respectively).

Polymers of **11** and **17** contain an alanine linked by the carboxylic acid rather than by the amine functionality to the polymer backbone. For the purposes of this research, it was desired that the peptides be coupled to the polymer backbone through the amino terminus. However, the synthesis of poly(11) and poly(17) demonstrates the feasibility of attaching peptides through either termini, which may be useful for other types of applications. For example, since the Boc protecting group may be readily removed with acid to generate the polyamines, poly(11) and poly(17) may be useful in such applications as gene therapy.

	olymenzar					י מטועט מוומט		ju spacer arms.	
Polymer	Yield	[M] ₀ /[C] ₀	Time (min)	M _n (x10 ³) ^b	PDI ^b	Τ _g (°C) ^c	Trans/ Cis ^d	Carbene (ppm) ^d	Free PCy ₃ ? ^e
Poly(12)	>99%	75/1	150	66.2	1.31	86.1	2.3	18.70	ou
Poly(13)	81%	50/1	30	ł	I	74.5	2.8	18.68	ои
Poly(14)	>66<	50/1	30	118	bimodal	-29.9	2.9	18.69	ou
Poly(11)	>99%	100/1	06	51.9	1.07	96.8	2.3	18.68	ОЦ
Poly(17)	95%	100/1	80	55.5	1.11	90.3	5.5	19.42, 19.20	yes
^a General ré GPC, CH ₂ (^c Determine ³¹ P NMR si	action cor D ₂ eluent, d by DSC, bectroscop	iditions: CH poly(styrene 10 °C/min, 3 by.	₂ Cl ₂ as t) standa 2nd heat	he solvent, rt, rds except po reported. ^d D	1 as the init ly(14) with [etermined fr	iator, [M] ₀ = 0MF as the e om ¹ H NMF	0.5-0.75 N eluent, poly spectrosc	<i>A</i> . ^b All determine /(styrene) standar :opy. ^e Determine	d by ds. d from

Table 2. Polymerization data for norbornenyl monomers with amino acids attached through spacer units.^a

99

All of the previous polymerizations were monitored by NMR. The chemical shifts of the carbene propagating species, the presence of free phosphine, and the final *trans/cis* ratios (*vide infra*) are recorded in Tables 1 and 2. All of the initiated carbenes were broad multiplets. During the polymerization of the oxa-bridged monomers **9** and **11-14**, only one propagating carbene was observed at roughly the same shift (between 18.67 and 18.70 ppm). The methylene-bridged monomer **16** also demonstrated one propagating carbene at 19.41 ppm. Free phosphine was not observed in any of these reactions. However, methylene-bridged imide monomers **15** and **17** had two observable propagating species during polymerization (at 19.48 and 18.58 ppm for **15** and 19.42 and 19.20 ppm for **17**) and the norbornene monomers **20** and **21** demonstrated three propagating species (at 19.02, 18.94, and 18.74 ppm for **20**, and 19.07, 19.02, and 18.72 ppm for **21**). For these polymers, free phosphine was observed during the reaction.

The presence of free phosphine and two propagating species during ROMP has been observed in a previous study; it was determined that the monomer was coordinating to the ruthenium resulting in the observation of a monophosphine species, in addition to the bisphosphine species.¹⁶ For the above reactions, the presence of multiple propagating species correlated to the observation of free phosphine during the reaction. Conversely, when free phosphine was not observed, only one propagating species was detected. This suggests that the two propagating species observed for the polymerization of **15** and **17** may be the monophosphine and bisphosphine species. Polymerization of the norbornene monomers resulted in three detectable propagating species. The presence of an additional propagating species may be related to the asymmetry of the monomer. Even so, the presence of free phosphine and multiple propagating species during the reaction does not appear to have an observable detrimental effect on the final polymer characteristics, such as molecular weight distribution or reaction time.

Polymers With Pendent Biologically Relevant Oligopeptides: Synthesis and Characterization. Polymers with pendent GRGD, SRN, and EO₅ were first synthesized using initiator 1 for 4 hours at room temperature in CH_2Cl_2 with an initial monomer concentration of 0.7 M (Scheme 6). In this way, monomers 21 and 24 with 10, 27, and 50 mol% GRGD in the feed as well as 100 mol% 24 and 100 mol% 25 were polymerized, and the protecting groups were cleaved with TFA. However, only the polymerization with 10 mol% GRGD in the feed (26a) gave good results (Table 3), with a high over-all yield of 78% and a monomodal molecular weight distribution. Polymerizations with 27 to 100 mol% 24 or 100 mol% 25 in the feed resulted in extremely low yields of polymer (less than 26%) presumably due to catalyst decomposition. Also, the molecular weight distribution for some of these polymers was bimodal. Given these results, the more active catalysts, 2 and 3, were applied to the synthesis of these polymers.



Scheme 6. Synthesis of homo- and copolymers with pendent bioactive oligopeptides.

Polymerizations were carried out using initiators **2** and **3**, and the characterization results for the polymers are given in Table 3. Only a few examples of these initiators used in ROMP have been reported.¹⁷ However, in these examples and in ring-closing metathesis and cross-metathesis reactions, **2** and **3** were much more active than **1** both at room temperature and at higher temperatures.^{9,17} Also, **2** and **3** were inter-changeable with each other at higher temperatures.¹⁷ Based upon these initial studies it was hoped that these initiators would result in higher yields of the desired polymers.

Hompolymers and copolymers of **21**, **24**, and **25** were synthesized (Scheme 6) using **2** or **3** as an initiator by heating the monomers in a 1:1 mixture of CH_2Cl_2 and MeOH in an oil bath at 55 °C for 2 hours with initial monomer concentrations of 0.6 M (homopolymers) or 0.7 M (copolymers). A mixture of solvents was used to solubilize the polymers, and since the catalysts react faster at elevated temperatures, the mixtures were heated in sealed vials.¹⁸ The homopolymer of **24** (**26c**) was synthesized using initiator **3**. The rest, including the homopolymer of **25** (**27b**), were synthesized with **2**. Copolymers with GRGD and EO₅ units, **26b** (49 mol% GRGD), and with SRN and EO₅ units, **27a** (53

mol% SRN), were synthesized. Copolymers with both oligopeptides, **28a** (32 mol% GRGD, 21 mol% SRN, and 47 mol% EO₅) and **28b** (53 mol% GRGD and 47 mol% SRN), were also made. The amount of the peptide monomer incorporated into the polymer, determined from the ¹H NMR spectra of the purified polymers, corresponded to the amount in the feed for all of the copolymers.

The protecting groups of the polymers were cleaved to yield the unprotected amino acids. All of the polymers except the SRN homopolymer (**27b**) were successfully deprotected using TFA. Polymer **27b** was not fully deprotected by this acid; the polymer precipitated out of the TFA solution after 10 minutes. Presumably, the more labile protecting groups (Pbf and Trt) were cleaved first, altering the solubility of **27b** in TFA, resulting in the precipitation of the polymer before the *t*-butyl groups were removed. However, all of the protecting groups of this polymer, including the *t*-butyl groups, were cleaved using HF.

All of the deprotected polymers were solubilized in aqueous solution. Copolymer **26a**, with 90.8 mol% penta(ethylene glycol) units, was the only polymer soluble in water immediately after the deprotection steps. The rest of the polymers were solubilized in water by stirring in 0.1 N NaOH for 10 minutes to generate the sodium salt of the carboxylates and were isolated by precipitation into methanol. For copolymers **26b** and **27a**, this procedure cleaved off many of the penta(ethylene glycol) units (76% for **26b** and 65% for **27a**). However, it was later discovered that these polymers could also be made water soluble by direct treatment with milder bases such as dibasic phosphate buffer (pH 8), without saponifying the penta(ethylene glycol) units.

The over-all yields (after polymerization, cleavage, and solubilization into water) of the polymers were all between 59 and 92%, except for that of polymer **28b** which was 32% (Table 3). The low yield of **28b** was primarily due to polymer loss during the initial precipitation from the crude reaction solution. The ¹H NMR spectra of all the crude reaction mixtures indicated that most of the monomers had been consumed. However, since the monomers and protected polymers had similar solubilities, polymer purification proved to be difficult. Selective precipitation of the protected polymers was achieved by precipitating into mixtures of solvents such as CH_2Cl_2 /ether and MeOH/ether. The choice and relative amount of each mixture was different depending on the polymer. Polymer **26a** was additionally purified by Centriprep (MWCO=3000) using ethanol as the solvent.¹⁹ Regardless of the purification method, except for **28b**, the yields were all good to excellent.

The GPC results are given in Table 3. As desired, the number-averaged molecular weights were are fairly low between 10,700 and 18,700, and most importantly, the samples demonstrated monomodal molecular weight distributions. Copolymer **27b** had the largest PDI value (1.70). This was the only polymer to be deprotected by HF; the harsh deprotection conditions could have caused the molecular weight distribution to broaden from chain scission. All the other samples had low PDI's between 1.13-1.32. Remarkably, copolymer **28a**, had a low PDI of 1.21. This result indicates that synthesizing complex copolymers with three or even more monomers is possible so that drugs, for example, may also be incorporated into the polymers. The narrow molecular weight distributions also indicate that the synthesis of block copolymers may be possible.

æ.
S
5
E
5
0
ш
q
E
0
g
÷.
0
ă
9
<u> </u>
0
nt
B
2
e
d
÷
1
~
5
e
E
Ĕ
0
F
Φ
L.
Ц
J.
ğ
or
č
5
f
ta
a
0
LC
tić
73
L.
Je
Ľ,
5
ñ
ė.
e
9
a
F

Polyme	r Catalyst	% yield	[M] ₀ /[C] ₀	om	l% in fe	ed	mol%	in poly	mer ^c	M	PDIq	Τ _a (°C) ^e	Trans/
		overall		GRGD	SRN	EO5	GRGD	SRN	ΕO5	(x10 ³) ^d		D	Cis ^c
26a ^b	-	78%	20/1	10%	%0	80%	9.2%	%0	90.8%	18.7	1.13	-30.7	4.76
26b	2	81%	20/1	50%	%0	50%	49%	%0	51%	15.9 ^f	1.13	52.6	0.59
26c	Ю	78%	10/1	100%	%0	%0	100%	%0	%0	13.3	1.32	98.0	1
27a	2	92%	20/1	%0	52%	48%	%0	53%	47%	17.2 ^g	1.21	62.3	0.63
27b	0	74%	10/1	%0	100%	%0	%0	100%	%0	10.7	1.70	131.2	1
28a	0	29%	20/1	25%	25%	50%	32%	21%	47%	13.3	1.21	39.4	0.63
28b	0	32%	10/1	50%	50%	%0	53%	47%	%0	11.8	1.26	104.6	:
aGenei	ral reactior	n conditior	IS: CH ₂ Cl ₂	:MeOH ((1:1) as	the solve	ent, 55 °C	for 2 hi	s. in a sea	led vial, [M] ₀ = 0.6	6-0.7 M. ^b F	Reaction
conditio	ons: CH ₂ (Cl ₂ as the	solvent. rt f	or 4 hrs.	. [M]_ =	0.7 M.	Calculate	ed from	H NMR S	pectum. ^u l	Determir	ned by GP(C. pH

8.0 phosphate buffer eluent, poly(ethylene oxide) standards. ^eDetermined by DSC,10 °C/min, 2nd heat reported. ¹24% of EO5 remaining. $^{g}35\%$ of EO5 remaining.

105

The T_g values of the copolymers varied depending on the identity and concentrations of the substituents. For example, copolymers 26a and 26b had T_g values of -30.7 °C and 52.6 °C between that of homopolymers poly(21) at -48.9 °C and 26c at 98.0 °C. Copolymer **27a** had a T_g of 62.3 °C while homopolymer **27b** had one at 131.2 °C. The trimonomer copolymer, 28a, with 53 mol% total peptide had a lower T_g (39.4 °C) than either of the dimonomer copolymers 26b and 27a which contained 49 mol% and 53 mol% peptide, respectively. The presence of the third monomer introduces extra disorder. In addition, the GRGD and SRN containing copolymer, 28b, had a Tg of 104.6 °C, which is close to that of the GRGD containing homopolymer, 26c. The SRN and GRGD homopolymers exhibit fairly high glass transition temperatures compared to unsubstituted polynorbornene. Perhaps hydrogen bonding or other factors influenced the glass transition in these cases. Polymers containing the flexible penta(ethylene glycol) units exhibit lower T_g's. Depending on the substituent, the physical state of the polymer varied widely from an oil (poly(21)) to a powdery solid (26c, 27b, and 28b).

Polymer Stereoisomers. The *trans* to *cis* ratios of the polymers synthesized in this research revealed an interesting observation: polymers synthesized with **1** contained more *trans* olefins while those synthesized by **2** had a slight excess of *cis* olefins. The methylene-bridged imide polymers had *trans* to *cis* ratios from 5.2/1 to 5.5/1 while the oxa-bridged imide polymers had ratios between 2.3/1 and 2.9/1. The poly(norbornene)s had ratios between 2.4/1 to 3.6/1. Similarly, the GRGD containing polymer **26a** synthesized with **1** contained more *trans* olefins (*trans/cis* = 4.8/1). In contrast, the polymers synthesized with initiator **2** (**26b**, **27a**, and **28a**) exhibited slight excesses of *cis*

olefins (*trans/cis* = 1/1.6 - 1/1.7, see Table 3). (Polymers **26c**, **27b**, and **28b** were not soluble in CD₃OD, and the olefin peaks of the isomers were not resolved in D₂O.)

To examine this further, monomers **15**, **20**, and **21** were polymerized under the same conditions with either **1** or **2** as the initiator. Polymerization of **15** with **1** resulted in a polymer with a *trans* to *cis* ratio of 5.2/1, while with **2** the ratio was equal (1/1). This trend was more marked with monomer **20**, where **1** resulted in a polymer with a *trans* to *cis* ratio of 2.4/1 and **2** resulted in the reverse with a *trans* to *cis* ratio of 1/2.3. Similarly, for **21**, initiator **1** resulted in a polymer with a *trans* to *cis* ratio of 3.6/1 and **2** with a *trans* to *cis* ratio of 1/1.7. The results obtained from polymers polymerized by **2** are unusual considering that **1** usually results, as evidenced in this research, in predominantly *trans* polymers.

Polymers With Spacer Groups and Pendent Biologically Relevant Oligopeptides. To alter the polymer architecture and the presentation of the oligopeptides, it is desirable to synthesize polymers with spacer groups between the peptide and the backbone. Since in native fibronectin, the RGD is extended from the protein as a loop,¹³ it might be especially advantageous to synthesize these polymers with a spacer between the backbone and the GRGD. As a demonstration, monomers 14 and 29 were polymerized to form **30**, a polymer with a propyl spacer between the backbone and RGD and EO₅ units (Scheme 7). Initially, **30** was synthesized using initiator **1**, but the polymer obtained had a bimodal molecular weight distribution. As a result, the more active initiator, **2**, was employed instead, and a monomodal molecular weight distribution was achieved.



Scheme 7. Synthesis of a polymer with propyl spacers and pendent RGDs.

Polymer **30** was synthesized as previously described using **2** as the initiator with a $[M]_0/[C]_0 = 10/1$ (Scheme 7). The yield was approximately 90% by ¹H NMR spectroscopy. The polymer was deprotected with TFA and rendered soluble in water by first dissolving in pH 8 phosphate buffer (which did not saponify any of the EO₅ units), then precipitating into methanol. The water solubility of this polymer was dependent on the molecular weight; when higher monomer to catalyst ratios were used ($[M]_0/[C]_0 = 50/1$) the polymer did not dissolve even when subjected to strong base. The amount of **29** incorporated into the polymer (30 mol%) was slightly higher than the amount in the feed (20 mol%). The M_n obtained in aqueous buffer was fairly high, at 115,000, and the PDI was narrow (1.14). The T_g of the polymer was 70.2 °C. Similar to other polymers synthesized with **2**, the *trans* to *cis* ratio was 1/1.2. This work is readily extended to the synthesis of other homopolymers and copolymers, and demonstrates that by using the more active initiators, biopolymers with different architectures can be synthesized.

Summary

Norbornenyl polymers with pendent glycines, alanines, penta(ethylene glycol)s, or bioactive peptides GRGD and SRN attached directly or through spacers were synthesized. The ruthenium bisphosphine initiator **1** successfully polymerized monomers with glycines, alanines, and penta(ethylene glycol)s; copolymers with < 10 mol% GRGD were also prepared with this initiator. However, the synthesis of polymers with higher concentrations of the bioactive peptides required the use of the more active 2,3-dihydroimidazolylidene initiators **2** and **3**. The work described in this chapter demonstrates that with the advent of catalysts **2** and **3**, ROMP is a viable method to produce polymers substituted with complex peptidic structures in a controllable manner. Polymers with potential bioactivity, substituted with several different bioactive peptides, are now accessible.

Experimental

Materials. 5-Norbornene acid-*endo*-2-carboxylic acid (*endo* **18**) was purchased from Aldrich. 5-Norbornene acid-*exo*-2-carboxylic acid (*exo* **18**)²⁰ and acid chloride²¹ as well as 5^{10} were synthesized according to literature procedures. 2-Aminoethanol and all other solvents were purchased from EM science. Glycine methyl ester hydrochloride and alanine methyl ester hydrochloride were purchased from Sigma. Penta(ethylene glycol) was purchased from Aldrich and dried over 4 Å molecular sieves (Linde). The peptides were synthesized by the Beckman Institute Biopolymers Synthesis Laboratory (California Institute of Technology) using reagents purchased from Novabiochem. Centriprep flasks were purchased from Millipore. Methylene chloride used in the polymerization reactions was dried over CaH₂, degassed, and vacuum transferred before use. All other chemicals were purchased from Aldrich and used as received.

Techniques. All operations were carried out under a dry nitrogen or argon atmosphere. Dry box operations were performed in a nitrogen-filled Vacuum Atmospheres dry box. Column chromatography was performed using silica gel 60 (230-400 mesh) from EM science. ¹H NMR spectra were recorded on a General Electric QE-300 (300.1 MHz) spectrometer, a JEOL GX-400 (399.65 MHz) spectrometer, or a Varian UnityPlus 600 (600.203 MHz) spectrometer as indicated. ¹³C NMR (75.49 MHz) spectra were recorded on a General Electric QE-300 spectrometer. Chemical shifts are reported downfield from tetramethylsilane (TMS). ³¹P NMR spectra were recorded on a JEOL GX-400 (161.85 MHz) spectrometer referenced to an external 85% H₃PO₄ standard. Infrared spectroscopy was performed on a Perkin Elmer Paragon 1000 FT-IR spectrometer using a thin film of sample cast on a NaCl plate or a KBr pellet as indicated. Optical rotations were recorded on a Jasco P-1010 digital polorimeter at 589 nm. Highresolution mass spectra were provided by the Southern California Mass Spectrometry Facility (University of California, Riverside). Gel permeation chromatographs with CH₂Cl₂ as the eluent (flow rate of 1 mL/min) were obtained using an HPLC system equipped with an Altex model 110A pump, a Rheodyne model 7125 injector with a 100 µL injection loop, two American Polymer Standards 10 micron mixed bed columns, a Knauer differential refractometer, and poly(styrene) as the calibration standard. Aqueous GPC (0.1 M Na₂HPO₄ dibasic buffer) or DMF GPC (both with a flow rate of 1 mL/min) were conducted using an HPLC system equipped with a Waters 515 HPLC pump, a Rheodyne model 7725 injector with a 200 μ L injection loop, a Waters 2487 Dual λ

absorbance detector, a Waters 2410 refractometer, two TSK columns (TASK 3000PW, TSK 5000PW) and poly(ethylene oxide) or poly(styrene) as the calibration standard as indicated. Differential scanning calorimetry was measured on a Perkin-Elmer DSC-7 for T_g 's above 25 °C and on a Perkin-Elmer Pyris1 for T_g 's below 25 °C. The results are given for the second heating using a scan rate of 10 °C/min. The HPLC results were obtained on a Beckman 126 Solvent Module HPLC equipped with a 166 UV Detector and an Altech 18-LL column using a H₂O/CH₃CN solvent system (7% CH₃CN for 6 min, 7-90% CH₃CN over 38 min, and 90% CH₃CN for 8 min).

Monomer Synthesis

4-Hydroxymethyl-10-oxa-4-aza-tricyclo[**5.2.1.0**^{2.6}]**dec-8-ene***-exo-3*,**5-dione (6).** Prepared as for the 7 (*vide infra*) with 6.10 g (36.80 mmol) **4** and 2.22 mL (36.80 mmol) of 2-aminoethanol in THF/MeOH (30 mL, 1/1) resulting in 2.78 g (36%) of **6** as a white crystalline solid. ¹H NMR (D₂O, 500 MHz) δ 6.48 (2H, s), 5.17 (2H, s), 3.56 (2H, t, J = 4.5), 3.50 (2H, t, J = 4.5), 2.99 (2H, s). ¹³C NMR (D₂O, 300 MHz) δ 179.32, 136.28, 80.83, 58.12, 47.31, 40.87. IR (KBr pellet): 3475, 3001, 2969, 2931, 2894, 1766, 1688, 1438, 1407, 1386, 1335, 1316, 1268, 1219, 1169, 1155, 1099, 1054, 1014, 956, 938, 915, 878, 849, 810, 773, 723, 704, 653, 597 cm⁻¹. HRMS (DCI/NH₃) calcd for (MH)⁺ 210.0766 found 210.0763.

4-Hydroxymethyl-4-aza-tricyclo[**5.2.1.0**^{2,6}]**dec-8-ene***-exo***-3,5-dione** (7). 2-Aminoethanol (0.74 mL, 12.20 mmol) was added to a solution of **5** (2.00 g, 12.20 mmol) *in THF/MeOH* (1/1, 30 mL) and the mixture was heated to 50 °C for 12 h. After cooling to room temperature, the solvent was removed *in vacuo* and the product was recrystallized from MeOH/hex (2/1) to afford 1.11 g (44%) of **7** as white crystals. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 6.26-6.32 (2H, m), 3.77-3.82 (2H, m), 3.69-3.74 (2H, m), 3.30 (2H, s), 2.73 (2H, s), 2.18 (1H, bs), 1.53 (1H, d, J = 8.7), 1.35 (1H, d, J = 8.7). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 178.65, 137.70, 60.02, 47.78, 45.14, 42.68, 41.15. IR (NaCl plate): 3506, 2984, 2954, 2885, 1758, 1689, 1423, 1403, 1341, 1329, 1166, 1152, 1063, 989, 935, 900, 881, 856, 767, 733, 649 cm⁻¹. HRMS (DCI/NH₃) calcd for (MH)⁺ 208.0974, found 208.0969.

4-(*Exo*-3,5-dioxo-10-oxa-4-aza-tricyclo[5.2.1.0^{2,6}]dec-8-en-4-yl)-butyric acid (8). Same procedure as for the synthesis of the 7 was followed with 3.00 g (18.00 mmol) of 4 and 1.86 g (18.00 mmol) 4-aminobutyric acid in THF/MeOH (36 mL, 1:1). The crude product was subjected to column chromatography (EtOAc with 3% AcOH) to give 1.83 g (41%) of 8 as a white solid. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 6.51 (2H, s), 5.26 (2H, s), 3.56 (2H, t, J = 6.9 Hz), 2.85 (2H, s), 2.34 (2H, t, J = 7.5 Hz), 1.90 (2H, t, J = 7.2 Hz). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 176.01, 168.60, 136.51, 80.95, 47.40, 37.96, 30.81, 22.59. IR (NaCl plate): 3480.6, 2977.1, 2677.2, 1770.9, 1696.0, 1562.1, 1396.1, 1165.8, 1096.1, 1015.0, 914.1, 871.2, 849.8, 807.0, 721.3, 651.6, 603.4 cm⁻¹. HRMS (DCl/NH₃) calcd for (MH)⁺ 252.0872 found 252.0878.

Exo-(3,5-dioxo-10-oxa-4-aza-tricyclo[5.2.1.0^{2.6}]dec-8-en-4-yl)-acetic acid methyl ester (9). The same procedure as for 15 was followed (*vide infra*) with 1.42 g (8.53 mmol) of 4, 1.07 g (8.53 mmol) glycine methyl ester hydrochloride, and 3.50 mL (25.16 mmol) of triethylamine in CH_2Cl_2 (43 mL) to yield 0.17 g (9%) of 9 as a white solid. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 6.54 (2H, m), 5.31 (2H, s), 4.24 (2H, s), 3.76 (3H, s), 2.97 (2H, s). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 175.85, 167.62, 137.09, 81.45, 53.02,

48.22, 39.92. IR (NaCl plate): 3100, 3029, 3011, 2992, 2958, 1747, 1707, 1423, 1373, 1326, 1267, 1221, 1180, 1154, 1102, 1081, 1014, 983, 951, 915, 874, 848, 806, 713, 656, 619, 593 cm⁻¹. HRMS (DCI/NH₃) calcd for (MH)⁺ 238.0716, found 238.0704.

Exo-2-(3,5-dioxo-10-oxa-4-aza-tricyclo[5.2.1.0^{2.6}]dec-8-en-4-yl)-propionic acid methyl ester (10). Compound 10 was synthesized according to literature procedure¹¹ in 25% yield. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) δ 6.53 (2H, s), 5.29 (2H, s), 4.74 (1H, q, J = 7.4 Hz), 3.73 (3H, s), 2.84-2.92 (2H, m), 1.54 (3H, d, J = 7.5).

2-*tert*-Butoxycarbonylamino-propionic acid *exo*-3,5-dioxo-10-oxa-4-azatricyclo[5.2.1.0^{2,6}]dec-8-en-4-ylmethyl ester (11). The same procedure as for 17 (*vide infra*) was followed with 0.50 g (2.39 mmol) of **6**, 0.45 g (2.39 mmol) of N-tertbutoxycarbonyl-L-alanine, 0.49 g (2.39 mmol) of 1,3-dicyclohexylcarbodiimide (DCC), and 0.04 g (0.36 mmol) of 4-(dimethylamino)pyridine (DMAP) in 20 mL CH₂Cl₂. The product was purified by recrystallization from MeOH/hex (2/1) to yield 0.46 mg (50%) of **11** as white crystals. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 500 MHz) δ 6.51 (2H, s), 5.27 (2H, s), 5.02 (1H, bs), 4.30 (2H, t, J = 5.3 Hz), 4.23-4.29 (1H, m), 3.73-3.81 (2H, m), 2.86-2.89 (2H, m), 1.42 (9H, s), 1.34 (3H, d, J = 7.2 Hz). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 175.91, 172.76, 154.97, 136.44, 80.79, 61.17, 49.06, 47.38, 47.36, 37.63, 28.23, 18.25. IR (NaCl plate): 3356.0, 2967.3, 2936.6, 1742.0, 1701.1, 1511.8, 1455.6, 1430.0, 1394.2, 1363.5, 1332.8, 1251.0, 1158.9, 1066.8, 1020.8, 886.0, 855.4, 713.9, 647.4. [α]_D²⁵ = -10.6. HRMS (DCl/NH₃) calcd for (MH)⁺ 381.1662 found 381.1645.

(*Exo*-3,5-dioxo-10-oxa-4-aza-tricyclo[5.2.1.0^{2.6}]dec-8-en-4-ylmethoxy)-acetic acid methyl ester (12). Methyl bromoacetate (1.81 mL, 19.12 mmol) was added to a solution of the 6 (1.00 g, 4.78 mmol), potassium carbonate (0.80 g, 5.76 mmol), and

tetrabutylammonium bromide (0.02 g, 0.06 mmol) in anhydrous DMF (20 mL). The solution was stirred at room temperature for 12 h. CHCl₃ (100 mL) was added, and the organic layer was successively washed with H₂O (twice) and 5% HBr_{aq}. The aqueous 'ayers were combined and washed with CH₂Cl₂ (three times). The organic layers were pooled, dried over MgSO₄, and the solvent was removed *in vacuo*. The crude product was recrystallized from a mixture of EtOAc and ether (4:1) to give 0.66 g (49%) of **12** as a white solid. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 6.51 (2H, s), 5.27 (2H, s), 4.62 (2H, s), 4.34 (2H, t, J = 5.4 Hz), 3.81 (2H, t, J = 4.5 Hz), 3.78 (3H, s), 2.89 (2H, s). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 175.87, 167.66, 154.36, 136.44, 80.81, 63.35, 52.27, 47.39, 37.46. IR (NaCl plate): 3009.3, 2966.4, 1754.9, 1701.3, 1428.2, 1396.1, 1337.1, 1288.9, 1214.0, 1149.7, 1122.9, 1021.2, 919.4, 876.6, 849.8, 785.5, 721.3, 646.3, 592.7 cm⁻¹.

[4-(*Exo*-3,5-dioxo-10-oxa-4-aza-tricyclo[5.2.1.0^{2,6}]dec-8-en-4-yl)-

butyrylamino]-acetic acid methyl ester (13). Same procedure as for **19** was followed (*vide infra*) with 2.21 mL (15.89 mmol) triethylamine, 0.65 g (4.77 mmol) 1hydroxybenzotriazole (HOBT), 0.61 g (3.18 mmol) 1-[3-(dimethylamine)propyl]-3ethylcarbodiimide hydrochloride (EDC), 0.40 g (3.19 mmol) glycine methyl ester hydrochloride, and 0.80 g (3.18 mmol) of **8** in 64 mL CH₂Cl₂. The crude product was subjected to column chromatography (EtOAc) to give 0.58 g (57%) of **13** as a white solid. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 6.53 (2H, s), 5.28 (2H, s), 4.05 (2H, d, J = 5.1 Hz), 3.76 (3H, s), 3.62 (2H, t, J = 6.3 Hz), 2.86 (2H, s), 2.19 (2H, t, J = 6.9 Hz), 1.97 (2H, t, J = 6.3 Hz). ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 300 MHz) 177.09, 172.47, 136.98, 81.56, 54.68, 52.64, 47.99, 41.66, 38.42, 33.39, 24.22. IR (NaCl plate): 3563.8, 3292.9, 3084.6, 2949.2, 1750.7, 1698.6,1547.6, 1433.0, 1401.8, 1370.5, 1282.0, 1214.3, 1162.2, 1021.6, 917.4, 875.0, 849.7, 802.9, 719.5, 651.8, 589.3, 500.8 cm⁻¹. HRMS (EI) calcd for (MH)⁺ 323.1243 found 323.1241.

4-(Exo-3,5-dioxo-10-oxa-4-aza-tricyclo[5.2.1.0^{2.6}]dec-8-en-4-yl)-butyric acid 2-(2-(2-(2-(2-hydroxy-ethoxy)-ethoxy)-ethoxy)-ethoxy)-ethyl ester (14). The acid chloride of 8 was generated in situ using 0.70 g (2.78 mmol) of 8, 0.53 mL (6.12 mmol) oxalyl chloride, and a catalytic amount of DMF in CH₂Cl₂ following a literature procedure.²¹ To a solution of the crude acid chloride in anhydrous THF (45 mL), penta(ethylene glycol) (0.66 g, 2.78 mmol) and potassium carbonate (1.31 g, 9.47 mmol) were added. The mixture was heated to reflux and stirred for 12 h. After cooling to room temperature, CH₂Cl₂ (50 mL) was added, and the organic layer was washed with H₂O (three times). The organic layer was dried over $MgSO_4$, and the solvent was removed in *vacuo*. The crude product was subjected to column chromatography (EtOAc/MeOH, 4/1) to give 0.48 g (36%) of 14 as a yellow oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 6.51 (2H, s), 5.24 (2H, s), 4.21 (2H, t, J = 4.8 Hz), 3.64-3.66 (18H, m), 3.53 (2H, t, J=6.9 Hz), 2.84 (2H, s), 2.32 (2H, t, J=7.5 Hz), 1.88 (2H, t, J=7.1 Hz). ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 300 MHz) δ 176.80, 173.01, 136.99, 81.50, 73.04, 71.01, 70.96, 70.79, 69.53, 64.14, 62.09, 47.96, 38.34, 31.49, 23.27. IR (NaCl plate): 4015.1, 3479.7, 2878.7, 1947.7, 1767.4, 1734.6, 1696.4, 1636.3, 1439.6, 1401.4, 1352.2, 1100.9, 1019.0, 953.4, 876.9, 718.5, 647.5, 587.4 cm^{-1} . HRMS (DCI/NH₃) calcd for (MNH₄)⁺ 489.2448 found 489.2460.

Exo-(3,5-dioxo-4-aza-tricyclo[5.2.1.0^{2,6}]dec-8-en-4-yl)-acetic acid methyl ester (15). A literature procedure¹¹ was followed except that CH_2Cl_2 was used as the solvent to give 15 in 59% yield as a white solid. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 6.29-6.30 (2H,

m), 4.22 (2H, s), 3.73 (3H, s), 3.30-3.32 (2H, m), 2.75 (2H, d, J = 1.5 Hz), 1.70 (1H, d, J = 9.9 Hz), 1.52 (1H, d, J = 9.9 Hz).

Exo-2-(3,5-dioxo-4-aza-tricyclo[5.2.1.0^{2,6}]dec-8-en-4-yl)-propionic acid methyl ester (16). Compound 16 was synthesized according to literature procedure¹¹ in 51% yield. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 6.27-6.28 (2H, m), 4.75 (1H, q, J = 7.5 Hz), 3.70 (3H, s), 3.27-3.28 (2H, m), 2.69-2.70 (2H, m), 1.53 (3H, d, J = 7.2 Hz), 1.50-1.54 (2H, m).

2-*tert*-Butoxycarbonylamino-propionic acid *exo*-3,5-dioxo-4-azatricyclo[5.2.1.0^{2.6}]dec-8-en-4-ylmethyl ester (17). 7 (0.30 g, 1.45 mmol), *N*-(*tert*butoxycarbonyl)-L-alanine (0.27 g, 1.45 mmol), DCC (0.30 g, 1.45 mmol), and DMAP (0.03 g, 0.22 mmol) were stirred in CH₂Cl₂ (18 mL) for 12 h. The solution was filtered and the solvent removed *in vacuo*. The residue was subjected to column chromatography twice (EtOAc, followed by EtOAc/hex, 8/2) to give 0.33 g (61% yield) of **17** as a sticky solid. ¹H NMR (CD₃Cl, 500 MHz) δ 6.29 (2H, s), 4.99 (1H, bs), 4.11-4.32 (3H, bm), 3.75-3.79 (2H, m), 3.29 (2H, d, J = 10.1 Hz), 2.71 (2H, s), 1.52-1.54 (1H, m), 1.43 (9H, s), 1.35 (3H, d, J = 7.2 Hz), 1.27-1.29 (1H, m). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 177.89, 173.33, 155.33, 137.79, 79.87, 61.69, 49.33, 47.83, 45.22, 42.73, 37.49, 28.31, 18.39. IR (NaCl plate): 3366.2, 2977.5, 2936.6, 1747.1, 1696.0, 1506.7, 1450.4, 1389.1, 1363.5, 1327.7, 1251.0, 1164.0, 1061.7, 990.1, 775.3, 719.0, 642.3 cm⁻¹. [α]_D²³ = -19.0. HRMS (DCl/NH₃) calcd for (MH)⁺ 379.1869 found 379.1871.

[(**Bicyclo**[2.2.1]hept-5-ene-*endo*-2-carbonyl)-amino]-acetic acid methyl ester (19). Triethylamine (1.41 mL, 10.14 mmol) and glycine methyl ester hydrochloride (0.64 g, 5.06 mmol) were added to a solution of *endo* 18 (0.70 g, 5.06 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (75 mL). HOBT (1.03 g, 7.62 mmol) was added, and the solution was stirred until all solids had dissolved. Then a solution of EDC (0.97 mg, 5.06 mmol) and triethylamine (1.41 mL, 10.14 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (25 mL) was added and the mixture was stirred for 24 h. The organic layer was washed successively with 10% citric acid, H₂O, sat. NaHCO₃, and brine, dried over MgSO₄, and the solvent removed *in vacuo*. The crude product was subjected to column chromatography (ether) resulting in 0.70 g (66% yield, 11% *exo*) of **19** as a white solid. ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 300 MHz) δ 6.17-6.19 (1H, m), 5.94-5.97 (1H, m), 3.92 (2H, d, J = 5.7 Hz), 3.70 (3H, s), 3.14 (1H, bs), 2.87-2.92 (2H, m), 1.85-1.93 (1H, m), 1.28-1.43 (3H, m). ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 300 MHz) δ 174.62, 171.16, 138.03, 132.73, 52.58, 50.39, 46.77, 44.80, 43.26, 41.46, 29.84. IR (NaCl plate) : same as for **20** (*vide infra*).

[(**Bicyclo**[2.2.1]hept-5-ene-*exo*-2-carbonyl)-amino]-acetic acid methyl ester (20). The same procedure as for 19 was followed with 1.40 mL (10.06 mmol) triethylamine, 0.54 g (4.30 mmol) glycine methyl ester hydrochloride, 0.57 g (4.10 mmol) *exo* 18, 0.83 g (6.14 mmol) HOBT, and 0.79 g (4.10 mmol) EDC in 40 mL of CH₂Cl₂ resulting in 0.63 g (73%) of 20 as an off-white solid. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ 6.10-6.13 (2H, m), 6.01 (1H, bs), 4.05 (2H, dd, J = 4.8 Hz, 17.9 Hz), 3.75 (3H, s), 2.96 (1H, s), 2.91 (1H, s), 2.06-2.08 (1H, m), 1.90-1.95 (1H, m), 1.67 (1H, d, J = 8.0 Hz), 1.34 (2H, d, J = 9.2). ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 300 MHz) δ 175.92, 170.97, 138.48, 136.25, 52.43, 47.48, 46.45, 44.49, 41.94, 41.42, 30.59. IR (NaCl plate): 3315.1, 3059.3, 2957.1, 2865.0, 1747.1, 1644.8, 1532.3, 1440.2, 1404.4, 1368.6, 1327.7, 1204.9, 1097.5, 1046.4, 1010.6, 898.0, 852.0, 790.6, 719.0 cm⁻¹. HRMS (EI) calcd for (M)⁺ 209.1052 found 209.1048.

Bicyclo[2.2.1]hept-5-ene-exo-2-carboxylic acid 2-(2-(2-[2-(2-hydroxy-ethoxy)-

ethoxy]-ethoxy)-ethyl ester (21). 5-Norbornene acid-exo-2-carboxylic acid chloride (1.20 g, 7.67 mmol) was added dropwise to a stirred mixture of penta(ethylene glycol) (2.79 mL, 13.20 mmol) and potassium carbonate (3.70 g, 26.80 mmol) in THF (160 mL). The reaction was heated to reflux and stirred for 12 h, cooled, and the solvent removed in vacuo. H₂O was added and the mixture was neutralized with 10% citric acid. The aqueous layer was washed with CH₂Cl₂ (3 times), the organic layers were then consolidated, dried over MgSO, and the solvent was removed in vacuo. The residue was subjected to column chromatography (EtOAc/MeOH, 9/1) to give 1.4 g (53%) of 21 as a colorless oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 6.07-6.14 (2H, m), 4.23 (2H, t, J = 4.8), 3.58-3.73 (18H, m), 3.03 (1H, s), 2.90 (1H, s), 2.60 (1H, bs), 2.22-2.27 (1H, m), 1.88-1.94 (1H, m), 1.51 (1H, d, J = 8.4Hz), 1.32-1.38 (2H, m). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 176.01, 137.87, 135.53, 72.34, 70.38, 70.12, 69.02, 63.29, 61.45, 46.47, 46.09, 42.83, 41.43, 30.15. IR (NaCl plate): 3455.7, 2936.8, 2864.2, 1721.2, 1451.4, 1342.5, 1332.1, 1280.2, 1254.3, 1228.9, 1171.2, 1109.0, 1051.9, 942.9, 859.9, 719.8 cm⁻¹. HRMS (DCI/NH₃) calcd for (MH)⁺ 359.2070 found 359.2082.

[(Tricyclo[4.2.1.0^{2.5}]non-7-ene-*exo*-3-carbonyl)-amino]-acetic acid methyl ester (23). Same procedure as for 19 was followed with 0.97 mL (6.98 mmol) triethylamine, 0.44 g (3.49 mmol) glycine methyl ester hydrochloride, 0.57 g (3.49 mmol) 22, 0.71 g (5.22 mmol) HOBT, and 0.67 g (3.49 mmol) EDC in 30 mL CH₂Cl₂. The crude product was subjected to column chromatography (ether) to provide 0.53 g (65%) of 23 as a white solid. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 5.90-5.98 (2H, m), 4.04 (2H, d, J = 5.1 Hz), 3.74 (3H, s), 2.71 (1H, s), 2.65 (1H, s), 2.31-2.36(2H, m), 2.14 (1H, t, t)]

J = 7.2 Hz), 1.99 (1H, t, J = 7.8 Hz), 1.54-1.66 (2H, m), 1.32 (1H, d, J = 9.3 Hz). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 175.68, 170.59, 135.75, 134.39, 52.22, 43.97, 43.85, 41.16, 40.35, 40.28, 38.70, 34.12, 23.68. IR (NaCl plate): 3287.8, 3062.8, 2966.4, 2355.9, 1754.9, 1647.8, 1540.7, 1433.6, 1369.3, 1203.3, 1048.0, 989.0, 699.9, 507.1 cm⁻¹. HRMS (DEI) calcd for (M⁺) 235.1208 found 235.1201.

Norbornene G-R(Pbf)-G-D(O'Bu)-OH monomer (24). H₂N-G-R(Pbf)-G-D(O'Bu)-resin (0.50 mmol peptide, 4-carboxytrityl linker Novasyn® resin) was placed in a flask containing a frit and stopcock. The resin was swelled in 17 mL of DMF for 15 min and then rinsed with DMF (1 x 10 mL). In a vial, 0.28 g (2.00 mmol) of exo 18, 0.76 g (2.00 mmol) of 2-(1H-benzotriazole-1-yl)-1,1,3,3-tetramethyluronium hexaflurophosphate (HBTU), and 0.27 g (2.00 mmol) of HOBT in 17 mL of DMF were agitated until all solids had dissolved. N,N-diisopropylethylamine (DIEA) was added (0.70 mL, 4.00 mmol) and the solution was agitated and added to the resin. Nitrogen was gently bubbled through the mixture for 2 h. The solution was removed, and the resin was then rinsed with DMF (5 x 10 mL), CH₂Cl₂ (5 x 10 mL), and MeOH (5 x 10 mL) and dried for 24 h at 30 millitorr. In a vial, 33 mL of acetic acid, CH₂Cl₂, and MeOH (5:4:1) were added to the dry resin and the vial was periodically swirled for 1.5-2 h. The solution was filtered to remove the resin, added to an excess of hex, and the solvent was removed *in vacuo*. The procedure was repeated to remove all of the acetic acid. The product was freeze-dried from benzene to give 24 in 76-97% yield as an off-white solid. HPLC: single peak at 21.94 min. ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 600 MHz) δ 7.89 (1H, bs), 7.50 (1H, bs), 7.42 (1H, bs), 7.06 (1H, bs), 6.21 (2H, bs), 6.03 (1H, s), 5.99 (1H, s), 4.65 (1H, bs), 4.38 (1H, bs), 3.96 (1H, bs), 3.87 (2H, bs), 3.75 (1H, bs), 3.13 (2H, bs), 2.88 (2H, s), 2.83 (1H, s), 2.78 (1H, s), 2.71 (2H, bs), 2.46 (3H, s), 2.40 (3H, s), 2.07 (1H, bs), 1.99 (3H, s), 1.80 (1H, bs), 1.72-1.75 (1H, m), 1.63 (1H, bs), 1.48-1.52 (3H, m), 1.35 (6H, s), 1.29 (9H, s), 1.17-1.22 (2H, m). NOESY cross peaks (CD₂Cl₂, 600 MHz) δ 7.89 (G2_{NH}), 4.38 (R_{α}) ; 7.50 (D_{NH}) , 3.96 $(G2_{\alpha})$, 3.75 $(G2_{\alpha})$; 7.42 (R_{NH}) , 3.87 $(G1_{\alpha})$; 7.06 $(G1_{NH})$, 2.07 (norbornene). TOCSY cross peaks (CD₂Cl₂, 600 MHz) δ norbornene: 6.03, 5.99, 2.83, 2.78, 2.07, 1.72-1.75, 1.48-1.52, 1.17-1.22; G1: 7.06, 3.87; R: 7.42, 4.38, 3.13, 1.80, 1.63, 1.48-1.52; Pbf group: 2.88, 2.46, 2.40, 1.99; G2: 7.89, 3.96, 375; D: 7.50, 4.65, 2.71. ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 300 MHz) δ 178.01, 173.79, 173.58, 171.27, 170.64, 170.44, 159.11, 156.99, 138.60, 138.33, 136.42, 132.84, 132.64, 128.64, 125.19, 117.82, 86.87, 81.96, 71.73, 70.68, 70.28, 69.07, 66.95, 49.77, 47.54, 46.52, 44.31, 43.43, 41.96, 37.59, 30.77, 28.66, 28.12, 25.68, 19.48, 18.15, 12.57. IR (NaCl plate): 3445.2, 3310.3, 3050.9, 2967.9, 2936.7, 1726.4, 1638.2, 1544.8, 1456.6, 1368.4, 1291.5, 1245.2, 1152.8, 1101.4, 1029.5, 956.1, 899.6, 848.2, 807.1, 786.6, 704.4, 668.4, 560.5 cm⁻¹. HRMS (DCM/NBA/NaCl) calcd for (MNa)⁺ 854.3735 found 854.3707.

Norbornene S(O'Bu)-R(Pbf)-N(Trt)-OH Monomer (25). The same procedure as for **24** was followed with H₂N-S(O'Bu)-R(Pbf)-N(Trt)-resin (0.75 mmol, 4carboxytrityl linker Novasyn[®] resin), 0.47 g (3.00 mmol) of *exo* **18**, 1.14 g (3.00 mmol) of HBTU, 0.41 g (3.00 mmol) of HOBT, and 1.00 mL (6.00 mmol) of DIEA in 19 mL of DMF to yield 0.72 g (92%) of **25** as a fluffy, white solid. HPLC: single peak at 28.86 min. ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 600 MHz) δ 7.54 (1H, bs), 7.38 (1H, bs), 7.07-7.13 (15H, m), 6.46 (1H, bs), 6.01-6.03 (3H, m), 5.84 (1H, bs), 4.65 (1H, bs), 4.52 (1H, bs), 4.37 (1H, bs), 3.62 (1H, bs), 3.37 (1H, bm), 3.15 (1H, bs), 2.92-2.95 (2H, bm), 2.87 (2H, s), 2.75-2.79 (3H, bm), 2.43 (3H, s), 2.37 (3H, s), 2.02 (1H, bs), 1.98 (3H, s), 1.73-1.79 (2H, bm), 1.50-1.54 (2H, bm), 1.42 (2H, bm), 1.37 (6H, s), 1.18-1.26 (2H, bm), 1.07 (9H, s). TOCSY cross peaks (CD₂Cl₂, 600 MHz) δ norbornene: 6.03, 6.01, 2.79, 2.02, 1.78, 1.52, 1.22; Ser: 7.54, 4.65, 2.96, 2.75; Arg: 7.38, 5.84, 4.52, 3.15, 2.92, 1.79, 1.51, 1.42; Pbf: 2.87, 2.43, 2.37, 1.98; Asn: 7.07, 6.46, 4.37, 3.62, 3.37. ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 176.40, 176.26, 173.98, 173.16, 172.71, 170.27, 170.14, 144.14, 138.53, 138.24, 137.99, 136.14, 135.85, 132.73, 132.36, 128.68, 127.78, 126.85, 124.44, 117.46, 86.25, 73.99, 70.95, 70.53, 61.84, 53.53, 52.02, 49.89, 47.40, 46.92, 46.32, 46.21, 44.41, 43.30, 41.57, 39.40, 37.85, 30.83, 30.29, 29.71, 28.57, 27.31, 25.00, 19.28, 17.97, 12.41. IR (NaCl plate); 3434.9, 3331.1, 3061.3, 2967.9, 2926.4, 2874.5, 1726.4, 1643.0, 1550.0, 1492.9, 1446.2, 1394.3, 1368.4, 1332.1, 1254.2, 1192.0, 1155.6, 1098.6, 1031.1, 994.8, 953.3, 901.4, 854.7, 802.8, 756.1, 699.0, 667.9, 636.0, 621.1, 569.3 cm⁻¹. HRMS (DCM/NBA/NaCl) calcd for (MNa)⁺ 1068.4881 found 1068.4873.

R(**Pbf**)-**G**-**D**(**O'Bu**)-**OH Monomer** (**29**). The same procedure as for **24** was followed with H_2N -R(Pbf)-G-D(O'Bu)-resin (0.25 mmol, 4-carboxytrityl linker Novasyn[®] resin), 0.25 g (1.00 mmol) **8**, 0.38 g (1.00 mmol) HBTU, 0.14 g (1.00 mmol) HOBT, and 0.35 ml (2.00 mmol) DIEA in 8 mL DMF to yield 0.18 g (83%) of **29** as a white solid. HPLC: single peak at 21.90 min. ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 600 MHz) δ 7.97 (1H, bs), 7.61 (1H, bs), 7.19 (1H, bs), 6.37 (5H, bs), 5.10 (2H, s), 4.63 (1H, bs), 4.29 (1H, bs), 3.93 (1H, bs), 3.72 (1H, bs), 3.39 (2H, bs), 3.16 (2H, bs), 2.87 (2H, s), 2.75 (2H, bs), 2.68-2.72 (2H, bm), 2.46 (3H, s), 2.39 (3H, s), 2.18 (2H, bs), 1.98 (3H, s), 1.86 (2H, bs), 1.73 (1H, bs), 1.58 (1H, bs), 1.50 (2H, bs), 1.36 (6H, s), 1.33 (9H, s). TOCSY cross peaks (CD₂Cl₂, 600 MHz) δ norbornene: 6.37, 5.10, 3.39, 2.18, 1.86, 1.73; R: 7.19, 6.37, 4.29, 3.16, 1.86, 1.58, 1.50; Pbf group: 2.87, 2.46, 2.39, 1.98, 1.36; G: 7.97, 3.93, 3.72; D: 7.61, 4.63,

2.68-2.72. ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 300 MHz) δ 177.50, 174.09, 170.68, 170.60, 159.01, 157.04, 138.52, 136.79, 133.13, 132.55, 128.636, 125.17, 117.77, 86.85, 81.75, 81.28, 72.75, 70.47, 69.94, 61.44, 50.12, 47.90, 43.42, 38.12, 37.74, 32.33, 29.07, 28.66, 28.14, 25.76, 23.47, 19.43, 18.14, 12.55, 1.11. IR (NaCl plate): 3435.3, 3331.5, 2968.3, 2926.8, 2522.0, 1695.5, 1653.9, 1545.0, 1446.4, 1404.9, 1368.6, 1254.4, 1155.8, 1098.8, 1020.9, 917.2, 875.6, 849.7, 803.0, 730.4, 657.7, 569.5 cm⁻¹. HRMS (DCM/NBA/NaCl) calcd for (MH)⁺ 888.3813 found 888.3778.

Polymer Synthesis

General Synthesis for Polymers with Pendent alanine, glycine, or EO₅. In a nitrogen-filled dry box, a solution of **1** in CH_2Cl_2 was added to a solution of monomer CH_2Cl_2 (or CD_2Cl_2 for NMR reactions) to give an initial monomer concentration of 0.7-0.75 M. The initial $[M]_0/[C]_0$ was 100/1. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 15 min to 3 h before quenching with ethyl vinyl ether and stirring for an additional 15-30 min. The polymers were precipitated into ether or hex, stirred for 15 min, and subjected to centrifugation. The solvent was removed and the solids dried under vacuum. The polymers were all white to tan powders, except for Poly(**14**) and Poly(**21**) which were viscous oils. Deviations from this literature procedure are noted in specific cases below. (Data not reported within the text is also reported below.)

Poly(9). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 6.06, 5.79 (*trans* & cis, 2H, bs), 4.91-4.97, 4.44-4.53 (*cis* & *trans*, 2H, bm), 4.20 (*trans* & cis, 2H, bs), 3.74 (*trans* & cis, 3H, s), 3.40 (*trans* & cis, 2H, bs). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 174.77, 167.05, 130.94, 130.71, 80.74, 53.32, 52.84, 52.34, 39.37. IR (NaCl plate): 3662.0, 3468.5, 2998.0, 2957.1, 2854.8, 1782.9, 1752.2, 1711.3, 1419.8, 1368.6, 1322.6, 1220.3, 1169.1, 1020.8, 974.8, 918.5, 734.4 cm⁻¹.

Poly(10). The solvent was either CH_2Cl_2 or benzene. ¹H NMR (CD_2Cl_2 , 300 MHz) δ 6.08, 5.83 (*trans & cis*, 2H, bs), 4.87-4.97, 4.74-4.76 (*cis & trans*, 1H, bm), 4.48 (*trans & cis*, 2H, bs), 3.71, 3.70 (*trans & cis*, 3H, s), 3.37 (*trans & cis*, 2H, bs), 1.57 (*trans & cis*, 3H, bd, J = 7.5 Hz).

Poly(11). ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 400 MHz) δ 6.06, 5.78 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 5.25, 5.16 (*cis* & *trans*, 1H, bs), 4.91-5.00, 4.47 (*cis* & *trans*, 2H, bm, bs), 4.29 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 4.15-4.19 (*trans* & *cis*, 1H, bm), 3.75 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 3.35 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 1.38 (*trans* & *cis*, 9H, s), 1.30 (*trans* & *cis*, 3H, bd, J = 7.3 Hz). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 175.42, 173.22, 155.08, 130.99, 130.89, 80.63, 79.83, 61.41, 53.30, 52.28, 49.12, 38.20, 28.31, 18.12. IR (NaCl plate): 3528.3, 3372.6, 2967.9, 2936.8, 2874.5, 1778.3, 1742.0, 1705.7, 1513.7, 1451.4, 1425.5, 1394.3, 1363.2, 1332.1, 1249.1, 1160.8, 1119.3, 1067.5, 1025.9, 911.8, 730.2 cm⁻¹.

Poly(12). [M]₀ was 0.6 M. ⁻¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 300 MHz) δ 6.06, 5.79 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 4.92, 4.47 (*cis* & *trans*, 2H, bs), 4.60 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, s), 4.32 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 3.80 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 3.73 (*trans* & *cis*, 3H, s), 3.38 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs). ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 300 MHz) δ 176.04, 175.91, 168.38, 155.15, 131.78, 131.49, 131.38, 81.36, 81.30, 81.24, 77.81, 65.24, 64.07, 54.76, 54.40, 52.92, 38.30. IR (NaCl plate): 4202.5, 3631.2, 3537.9, 3468.0, 3013.2, 2954.9, 2850.0, 1754.6, 1707.9, 1433.9, 1393.1, 1119.1, 1031.7, 973.4, 915.1, 850.9, 781.0, 705.2, 676.0, 629.4, 565.3 cm⁻¹.

Poly(13). [M]₀ was 0.5 M. ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 400 MHz) δ 7.03 (*trans* & *cis*, 1H, bs), 6.03, 5.79 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 4.96, 4.48 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 3.93 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 3.66 (*trans* & *cis*, 3H, s), 3.47 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 3.37 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 2.23 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 1.85 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs). ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 300 MHz) δ 176.01, 173.21, 172.91, 135.87, 135.54, 135.24, 82.46, 81.56, 81.26, 55.10, 52.57, 48.23, 41.77, 41.55, 39.16, 38.49, 34.69, 34.21, 25.21. IR (NaCl plate): 3578.3, 3330.0, 3081.6, 2947.1, 2854.0, 1749.2, 1702.7, 1666.5, 1542.3, 1433.6, 1397.4, 1366.4, 1211.2, 1159.4, 1118.0, 1030.1, 973.2, 916.3, 771.4, 704.1, 564.4 cm⁻¹.

Poly(**14**). [M]₀ was 0.55 M. ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 400 MHz) δ 6.05, 5.79 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 4.96, 4.45 (*cis* & *trans*, 2H, bs), 4.17 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 3.51-3.62 (*trans* & *cis*, 20H, bm), 3.33 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 2.33 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 1.86 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs). ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 300 MHz) δ 176.33, 176.22, 173.03, 131.60, 81.37, 73.16, 70.95, 70.91, 70.70, 69.50, 64.20, 61.98, 54.81, 52.91, 38.67, 31.79, 31.75, 23.94. IR (NaCl plate): 4016.0, 3491.3, 2908.3, 1947.0, 1777.9, 1713.8, 1638.0, 1439.8, 833.4, 769.3, 734.3, 705.2, 670.2, 576.9, 512.8 cm⁻¹.

Poly(15). ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 300 MHz) δ 5.74, 5.53 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 4.17 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 3.72, 3.71 (*trans* & *cis*, 3H, s), 3.45, 3.09 (*cis* & *trans*, 2H, bs), 2.84, 2.76 (*cis* & *trans*, 2H, bs), 2.13-2.21 (*trans* & *cis*, 1H, bm), 1.61-1.76 (*trans* & *cis*, 1H, bm). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 177.47, 167.32, 131.89, 131.76, 52.67, 51.04, 50.93, 45.87, 45.73, 41.91, 41.07, 39.06. IR (NaCl plate): 2994.4, 2954.0, 2853.7, 1779.4, 1751.4, 1704.5, 1413.6, 1366.7, 1324.5, 1216.6, 1169.7, 972.7, 916.4, 766.3, 733.5, 616.2 cm⁻¹.

Poly(16). ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 300 MHz) δ 5.74-5.78, 5.57-5.59 (*trans* & cis, 2H, br m), 4.76 (*trans* & cis, 1H, br q, J = 7.5 Hz), 3.74, 3.71 (*trans* & cis, 3H, s), 3.19-3.25, 3.07-3.14 (cis & trans, 2H, br m), 2.76 (*trans* & cis, 2H, br s), 2.10-2.22 (*trans* & cis, 1H, br m), 1.82-1.90, 1.60-1.75 (cis & trans, 1H, br m), 1.55 (*trans* & cis, 3H, d, J = 7.2 Hz). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 177.43, 177.23, 169.70, 133.40, 132.01, 131.77, 52.75, 52.28, 50.77, 47.71, 45.78, 45.65, 41.93, 41.84, 40.87, 14.23, 14.02. IR (NaCl plate): 3003.8, 2947.5, 2863.1, 1774.8, 1742.0, 1704.5, 1451.2, 1390.2, 1357.3, 1310.4, 1230.7, 1197.9, 1118.1, 1071.2, 972.7, 911.7, 785.1, 733.5, 625.6 cm⁻¹.

Poly(17). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 5.73, 5.49 (*trans & cis*, 2H, bs), 5.17, 5.07 (*cis & trans*, 1H, bs), 4.22-4.28 (*trans & cis*, 3H, bm), 3.70 (*trans & cis*, 2H, bm). 2.96-3.05 (*trans & cis*, 2H, bm), 3.23, 2.70 (*cis & trans*, 2H, bs), 2.05-2.27 (*trans & cis*, 1H, bm), 1.55-1.67 (*trans & cis*, 1H, bm), 1.40 (*trans & cis*, 9H, s), 1.32 (*trans & cis*, 3H, d, J = 7.2 Hz). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 177.91, 173.09, 155.04, 131.87, 131.75, 79.77, 61.65, 51.65, 50. 78, 49.12, 47.55, 45.59, 42.19, 40.79, 37.73, 28.32, 18.27. IR (NaCl plate): 3439.0, 3364.9, 2973.2, 2930.9, 2867.4, 1766.8, 1745.6, 1703.3, 1512.7, 1449.2, 1422.7, 1391.0, 1364.5, 1332.8, 1248.1, 1163.4, 1115.7, 1068.1, 1020.5, 972.8, 914.6, 729.4 cm⁻¹.

Poly(19). The reaction time was 26 h. ¹H NMR (CD_2Cl_2 , 300 MHz) δ 5.40-5.59 (*trans & cis*, 2H, bm), 3.89-4.02 (*trans & cis*, 2H, bm), 3.74 (*trans & cis*, 3H, s), 2.66 (*trans & cis*, 2H, bs), 2.48 (*trans & cis*, 1H, bs), 1.57-1.98 (*trans & cis*, 2H, bm), 1.10-1.45 (*trans & cis*, 2H, bm). ¹³C NMR (CD_2Cl_2 , 300 MHz) and IR (NaCl plate): same as for Poly(**20**) (*vide infra*).

Poly(20). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, 400 MHz) δ 6.40, 6.03 (*cis & trans*, 1H, bs), 5.18-5.55 (*trans & cis*, 2H, bm), 3.88-4.08 (*trans & cis*, 2H, bm), 3.72 (*trans & cis*, 3H, s), 3.01, 2.65 (*cis & trans*, 2H, bs), 2.47, 2.38 (*cis & trans* 1H, bs), 2.17 (*trans & cis*, 1H, bs), 1.94, 1.84 (*cis & trans*, 1H, bs), 1.57-1.61 (*trans & cis*, 1H, bm), 1.15-1.20 (*trans & cis*, 1H, bm). ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 300 MHz) δ 176.12, 175.49, 171.97, 171.16, 170.79, 135.54, 134.96, 133.87, 133.04, 131.78, 128.77, 52.46, 51.76, 51.17, 50.86, 49.43, 48.30, 43.62, 42.99, 42.36, 41.48, 37.75, 37.55, 37.01, 36.73, 36.36, 36.15. IR (NaCl plate): 3300.0, 3082.1, 2947.2, 2843.4, 1752.4, 1648.6, 1534.4, 1437.7, 1404.7, 1363.2, 1259.4, 1202.4, 1181.6, 1031.1, 968.9, 844.3, 797.6, 750.9, 704.2 cm⁻¹.

Poly(21). [M]₀ was 0.5 M. ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 400 MHz) δ 5.33-5.40, 5.18-5.25 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bm), 4.11-4.19 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bm), 3.51-3.64 (*trans* & *cis*, 18H, bm), 2.69-3.07 (*cis* & *trans*, 2H, bm), 2.51-2.58 (*trans* & *cis*, 1H, bm), 1.78-2.40 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bm), 1.48-1.66 (*trans* & *cis*, 1H, bm), 1.13-1.22 (*trans* & *cis*, 1H, bm). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, 300 MHz) δ 175.74, 134.36, 133.41, 132.50, 131.92, 131.06, 128.38, 125.88, 72.53, 70.42, 70.15, 69.07, 63.28, 61.52, 49.92, 49.25, 47.30, 42.83, 41.85, 40.90, 36.91, 36.82. IR (NaCl plate): 3445.3, 2936.8, 2874.5, 1726.4, 1451.4, 1347.6, 1285.4, 1249.1, 1171.2, 1114.2, 968.9, 942.9, 875.5, 854.7 cm⁻¹.

Poly(23). [M]₀ was 0.6 M. ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 300 MHz) δ 6.43-6.81 (*trans* & *cis*, 1H, bs), 5.08, 5.31 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 3.93 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 3.67 (*trans* & *cis*, 3H, bs), 2.76 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 2.36-2.60 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bm), 2.09 (*trans* & *cis*, 1H, bs), 1.82 (*trans* & *cis*, 1H, bs), 1.15-1.43 (*trans* & *cis*, 3H, bm). ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 300 MHz) δ 176.10, 175.98, 171.19, 171.10, 133.66, 133.34, 132.58, 54.50, 52.66, 42.98, 44.27, 41.70, 35.14, 32.11, 28.23, 28.27, 25.76, 23.19, 14.42. IR (NaCl plate): 3301.9,

3073.5, 2921.2, 2856.0, 1753.7, 1650.4, 1536.2, 1438.3, 1405.7, 1373.1, 1210.0, 1188.2, 1035.9, 1003.3, 965.3, 845.6, 704.3, 671.6 cm⁻¹.

General Polymerization Procedure for RGD, SRN, and EO₅ Containing Polymers. *Method 1:* In a nitrogen-filled dry box, a solution of **1** in CH_2Cl_2 was added to a solution of monomer in CH_2Cl_2 to give an initial monomer concentration of 0.70 M. The initial $[M]_0/[C]_0$ was 10/1 (homopolymers) or 20/1 (copolymers). The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 4 h before quenching with ethyl vinyl ether and stirring for an additional 15-30 min before isolation.

Method 2: In a nitrogen-filled dry box, a solution of **2** or **3** in CH_2Cl_2 was added to a solution of monomer in MeOH (1:1 CH_2Cl_2 :MeOH) in a dram to give an initial monomer concentration of 0.6 M (polymers containing RGD/SRN only) or 0.7 M (polymers containing EO₅). The dram was sealed and removed from the box. Within 10 min, the dram was placed in an oil bath at 55 °C and the solution was stirred for 2 h. The initial $[M]_0/[C]_0$ was 10/1 (polymers containing RGD and/or SRN only) or 20/1 (polymers containing EO₅). The polymerization mixtures were cooled to room temperature, diluted, and ethyl vinyl ether was added. The solutions were stirred for an additional 15-30 min before isolation.

The polymers were precipitated into ether (26a), ether/CH₂Cl₂ (1/3) (26b, 27b, 28a), ether/CH₂Cl₂ (1/1) (27a), ether/MeOH (1/3) (28b), or MeOH (26c). The polymers were subjected to centrifugation, the solvent was removed and the solids dried under vacuum. The polymers were then characterized by ¹H NMR spectroscopy and deprotected.

General Deprotection Procedure. For all polymers, except 27b, the following procedure was undertaken. A solution of TFA, triisopropylsilane (TIS), and H₂O (95/2.5/2.5) was added to the dried polymers to make a final concentration of 20 mL/g polymer. The mixtures were stirred for 2-7 h before precipitating into cold ether. The polymers were subjected to centrifugation, the solvent was removed, and the solids washed with cold ether (2 x 5 mL) before drying under vacuum. Polymer 27b was subjected for 1 h to 9.5 mL of condensed HF and 0.5 mL of *p*-cresol in the proper containment apparatus. The HF was removed *in vacuo* and the solid washed with ether before drying under vacuum.

Solubilization in Water. The polymers (except for 26a and 30) were subjected to a minimum amount of 0.1 N NaOH for 10 min. Polymer 26a was already soluble in water, and polymer 30 was subjected to pH 8 phosphate buffer for 10 min. The polymers were then precipitated into MeOH, subjected to centrifugation, and dried under vacuum to yield the final polymers as tan powders (26c, 27b, 28b), glassy solids (26b, 27a, 28a), and a stiff gel (26a).

Specific Methods and Data. Data not reported in the text is reported below. ¹H NMR copolymer spectrum is the addition of the two homopolymer spectra. All peaks are broad. Characterization, except for GPC, of **26b** and **27a** was performed prior to treatment with base.

26a. Method 1 was followed. Additional purification was achieved before deprotection by solubilizing the polymer in ethanol and subjecting the solution to centrifugation using a Centriprep flask (MWCO=3000). The removal of the monomer was monitored by HPLC. The ethanol was removed *in vacuo*, and the polymer was dried
under vacuum. ¹H NMR (CD₃OD, 400 MHz): δ 5.41-5.48, 5.23-5.30, 4.74-4.79, 4.51-4.55, 4.37-4.41, 4.19-4.22, 3.91-3.94, 3.79-3.82, 3.54-3.69, 3.20-3.23, 3.01-3.17, 2.94-3.06, 2.86, 2.60-2.73, 1.95-2.05, 1.66-1.73, 1.18-1.28. IR (KBr pellet): 3420.9, 2929.7, 2881.6, 1781.2, 1728.2, 1665.6, 1631.9, 1554.9, 1545.2, 1453.7, 1381.5, 1352.6, 1251.5, 1203.4, 1174.5, 1097.4, 967.4, 948.2, 885.6, 803.7, 697.8, 582.3, 514.8 cm⁻¹.

26b. Method 2 was followed. Characterization is identical to **26a** except the peaks vary in intensity.

26c. Method 2 was followed except that **3** was the initiator. ¹H NMR (D₂O, 400 MHz) δ 5.20-5.48 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bm), 4.37 (*trans* & *cis*, 1H, bs), 3.76-3.99, 3.60-3.67 (*trans* & *cis*, 4H, bm), 3.17 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 2.84-3.02, 2.57-2.65 (*cis* & *trans*, 5H, bm), 1.63-2.01, 1.15-1.42 (*trans* & *cis*, 8H, bm). IR (KBr pellet): 3320.7, 2936.8, 1664.1, 1534.4, 1399.5, 1300.9, 1249.0, 1134.9, 1025.9, 968.8, 865.1, 750.9, 683.5, 621.2 cm⁻¹.

27a. Method 2 was followed. ¹H NMR (CD₃OD, 400 MHz): δ 5.38-5.49, 5.21-5.31, 4.71-4.78, 4.52-4.54, 4.44-4.49, 4.18-4.25, 3.79-3.81, 3.63-3.69, 3.56-3.58, 2.97-3.26, 2.53-2.82, 1.19-2.09, 1.64-1.77, 1.16-1.28. IR (KBr pellet): 3468.6, 2954.9, 2872.7, 1763.4, 1732.5, 1696.6, 1450.0, 1383.2, 1301.0, 1259.9, 1218.8, 1172.6, 1105.8, 1033.9, 900.3, 746.2, 699.9, 643.4, 602.3, 561.2 cm⁻¹.

27b. Method 2 was followed. ¹H NMR (D₂O, 400 MHz) δ 5.24-5.49 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bm), 4.34-4.50 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bm), 3.79 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 3.15 (*trans* & *cis*, 2H, bs), 2.54-2.76 (*trans* & *cis*, 5H, bm), 1.18-1.96 (*trans* & *cis*, 8H, bm). IR (KBr pellet): 3351.9, 2926.4, 2864.2, 1653.8, 1524.1, 1389.2, 1306.1, 1249.1, 1197.2, 1150.5, 1083.0, 891.0, 750.9, 600.5, 553.8 cm⁻¹.

28a. Method 2 was followed. ¹H NMR (CD₃OD, 400 MHz): δ 5.39-5.48, 5.21-5.31, 4.75-4.80, 4.52-4.54, 4.44-4.49, 4.37-4.41, 4.21, 3.94, 3.80-3.83, 3.63-3.72, 3.57, 2.99-3.26, 2.87, 2.53-2.82, 1.90-2.09, 1.62-1.78, 1.15-1.27. IR (KBr pellet): 3460.6, 2952.0, 2870.6, 1733.4, 1646.9, 1586.0, 1580.8, 1453.6, 1387.5, 1362.1, 1290.8, 1189.1, 1036.5, 899.2, 746.6, 700.8, 644.9, 604.2, 558.4 cm⁻¹.

28b. Method 2 was followed. ¹H NMR (CD₃OD, 400 MHz): δ 5.26-5.48, 4.33-4.48, 3.80-3.98, 3.17, 2.86-3.02, 2.56-2.77, 1.56-2.05, 1.12-1.29. IR (KBr pellet): 3476.4, 2947.2, 2864.2, 1767.9, 1705.7, 1643.4, 1596.7, 1575.9, 1451.4, 1378.8, 1295.8, 1254.2, 1238.7, 1129.7, 1020.8, 901.4, 839.2, 745.8, 699.1, 642.0, 600.5, 599.0 cm⁻¹.

30. Method 2 was followed. ¹H NMR (D₂O, 400 MHz) δ 6.06, 5.79 (*trans & cis*, 4H, bs), 4.96, 4.46 (*cis & trans*, 4H, bs), 4.18 (*trans & cis*, 4H, bs), 3.55-3.64 (*trans & cis*, 20H, bm), 3.34 (*trans & cis*, 4H, bs), 2.89 (*trans & cis*, 2H, bs), 2.35 (*trans & cis*, 4H, bs), 1.98 (*trans & cis*, 2H, bs), 1.87 (*trans & cis*, 4H, bs). IR (KBr pellet): 3428.8, 2905.9, 2461.7, 1802.4, 1702.3, 1384.6, 1372.0, 1168.8, 1076.8, 946.7, 856.6, 548.44, 515.7 cm⁻¹.

Polymer Stereoisomers

Using Initiator 1. The polymerizations of monomers 15, 20, and 21 with initiator 1 are described above.

Using Initiator 2. Monomers 15, 20, and 21 were polymerized with initiator 2 under identical conditions as with 1, except that the mixtures were heated in a sealed dram in a 55 $^{\circ}$ C oil bath during polymerization. The *trans* to *cis* ratios were determined

from the ¹H NMR spectra by integrating the peaks corresponding to the olefinic protons of the *trans* and *cis* polymers.

Acknowledgements

Sheldon Okada is thanked for his collaborative efforts on this project. Dr. Matthias Scholl is thanked for providing catalysts **2** and **3**, and Dr. Eric Connor, for providing monomer **22**. Jeffrey Linhardt is thanked for his help with the aqueous GPC. The authors are grateful to Bayer Corporation and the Air Force Office of Sponsored Research (Grant F49620-97-1-0014) for funding this research.

References

- Portions of this chapter have been published as: Maynard, H. D.; Okada, S. Y.;
 Grubbs, R. H. *Macromolecules* 2000, in press.
- (1) (a) Pierschbacher, M. D.; Polarek, J. W.; Craig, W. S.; Tschopp, J. F.; Sipes, N. J.; Harper, J. R. J. Cell. Biochem. 1994, 56, 150-154. (b) Ojima, I.; Chakravarty, S.; Dong, Q. Biorg. Med. Chem. 1995, 3, 337-360. (c) Shakesheff, K. M.; Cannizzaro, S. M.; Langer, R. J. Biomater. Sci. Polymer Edn. 1998, 9, 507-518.
- (2) For reviews see: (a) Ruoslahti E.; Pierschbacher, M. D. Science 1987, 238, 491497. (b) Ruoslahti, E. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 1996, 12, 697-715.
- (3) Aota, S.; Nomizu, M.; Yamada, K. M. J. Biol. Chem. 1994, 269, 24756-24761.
- Komazawa, H.; Saiki, I.; Igarashi, Y.; Azuma, I.; Kojima, M.; Orikasa, A.; Ono,
 M.; Itoh, I. J. Bioact. & Compat. Polymers 1993, 8, 258-274.

- (5) For an example, see: Maynard, H. D.; Grubbs, R. H. Macromolecules 1999, 32, 6917-6924.
- (6) (a) Coles, M. P.; Gibson, V. C.; Mazzariol, L.; North, M.; Teasdale, W. G.; Williams, C. M.; Zamuner, D. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 2505-2506.
 (b) Biagini, S. C. G.; Coles, M. P.; Gibson, V. C.; Giles, M. R.; Marshall, E. L.; North, M. Polymer, 1998, 39, 1007-1014. (c) Biagini, S. C. G.; Davies, R. G.; Gibson, V. C.; Giles, M. R.; Marshall, E. L.; North, M. Polymer, 1998, 39, 1007-1014. E. L.; North, M.; Robson, D. A. Chem. Commun. 1999, 235-236.
- (7) For example see: Prime, K. L.; Whitesides, G. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 10714-10721, and references therein.
- (8) a) Schwab, P.; France, M. B.; Ziller, J. W.; Grubbs, R. H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.
 1995, 34, 2039-2041. b) Schwab, P.; Grubbs, R. H.; Ziller, J. W. J. Am. Chem.
 Soc., 1996, 118, 100-110.
- (9) (a) Scholl, M.; Ding, S.; Lee, C. W.; Grubbs, R. H. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 953-956.
 (b) Chatterjee, A. K.; Grubbs, R. H. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 1751-1753. (c) Chatterjee, A. K.; Morgan, J. P.; Scholl, M.; Grubbs, R. H., J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 3783-3784.
- (10) Heated in 1,2-dichlorobenzene to 185 °C, see: Craig, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1951,
 73, 4889-4892.
- Biagini, S. C. G.; Bush, S. M.; Gibson, V. C.; Mazzariol, L.; North, M.; Teasdale,
 W. G.; Williams, C. W.; Zagotto, G.; Zamuner, D. *Tetrahedron* 1995, *51*, 7247-7262.

- (12) Poly(15) and poly(16) have been synthesized by Baigini, et al. (ref. 6a & b) using molybdenum catalysts; since ruthenium initiators were used in our study, the syntheses and characterization of these polymers using 1 as the initiator are included here.
- (13) Leahy, D. J.; Aukhil, I.; Erickson, H. P. Cell 1996, 84, 155-164.
- (14) This is thought to be due to unfavorable steric interactions between the monomer and initiating species, see ref. 6b.
- (15) Andrews, R. J.; Grulke, E. A. In *Polymer Handbook*, 4th ed.; Brandrup, J.; Immergut, E. H.; Grulke, E. A., Eds.; Wiley Interscience: New York, 1999, p VI/208.
- (16) Maughon, B. R.; Grubbs, R. H. *Macromolecules* **1997**, *30*, 3459-3469.
- (17) Bielawski, C. W.; Grubbs, R. H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2000, in press.
- (18) Catalyst 1 is markedly less active than 2 and 3 at higher temperatures and is less stable at higher temperatures (see reference 17). For this reason, polymerizations with 1 were conducted at room temperature, while those with 2 and 3 were conducted at 55 °C.
- (19) This method could not be used with the other protected polymers due to the insolubility of these polymers in solvents suitable for centrifugation through the membrane.
- (20) Ver Nooy, C. D.; Rondestvedt, Jr., C. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1955, 77, 3583-3586.
- (21) Stille, J. R.; Santarsiero, B. D.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 843-862.

Chapter 5

Inhibition of Cell Adhesion to Fibronectin by

Oligopeptide Substituted Polynorbornenes

Abstract

Polynorbornenes substituted with peptide sequences from the RGD-containing integrin cell binding domain of fibronectin are potent inhibitors of human dermal fibroblast cell adhesion to fibronectin. Ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP) using Ru=CHPh(Cl)₂(PCy₃)(DHIMes) (1) as an initiator produced polymers substituted with GRGDS and PHSRN peptide sequences. The inhibitory activity was quantified for these polymers and compared to the free peptides. A homopolymer substituted with GRGDS was significantly more active than the free GRGDS peptide (IC₅₀ of 0.18 ± 0.07 and 1.08 ± 0.5 mM respectively), and the polymer containing both GRGDS and PHSRN was the most potent inhibitor (IC₅₀ of 0.03 ± 0.007 mM). These results demonstrate the applicability of ROMP to the synthesis of highly active inhibitors of cellular-extracellular matrix protein interactions.

Introduction

Soluble peptides containing the arginine-glycine-aspartic acid (RGD) sequence are known to duplicate or inhibit the cell-binding of the extracellular matrix protein fibronectin.¹ As a result, this sequence has been targeted to provide treatments for diseases such as cancer.² However, as discussed in Chapter 1, because RGD peptides have low affinities and short half-lives *in vivo*, the therapeutic use of this peptide has been limited.³ As a result, much effort has been directed towards the synthesis of RGDcontaining materials and mimics that would have increased therapeutic potentials compared to the free peptides.⁴ One feasible way is to substitute RGD-containing materials with oligopeptides that enhance the cellular adhesion strength of the RGD sequence.

In Chapter 4, an excellent method to synthesize copolymers substituted with RGD and other oligopeptides by ring-opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP) using the newly developed initiator 1 was described. Specifically, homopolymers with GRGD and copolymers containing GRGD and SRN, the truncated synergy domain to RGD in fibronectin, were made.⁵ This chapter describes the synthesis of homopolymers and a copolymer substituted with the more active forms of the peptides contained in the integrin cell binding domain of fibronectin, GRGDS and PHSRN.^{1b,e,10} The polymer substituted with GRGES, an inactive peptide, was also made as a control.^{1b,c} The ability of these materials to inhibit human dermal fibroblast (HDF) cell adhesion to fibronectin is discussed.



Results and Discussion

Monomer and Polymer Synthesis and Characterization. Norbornene monomers substituted with oligopeptides were synthesized by solid-phase peptide chemistry. 5-Norbornene-*exo*-2-carboxylic acid was coupled to the amino terminus of peptides attached to a 4-carboxyltrityl linker resin using HBTU, HOBT and DIEA in DMF. The monomers were then cleaved from the resin using mildly acidic conditions to give the protected monomers. All of the monomers were soluble in organic solvents. In this way, norbornenes substituted with the protected integrin binding sequence,

GR(Pbf)GD(O'Bu)S(O'Bu)-OH (2), synergy sequence PH(Trt)S(Trt)R(Pbf)N(Trt)-OH (3), and inactive sequence GR(Pbf)GE(O'Bu)S(O'Bu)-OH (4) were synthesized in 91%, 97%, and 47% yield respectively. While 2 and 3 were >95% pure after cleavage from the resin, 4 contained an impurity which persisted in the final compound.



Scheme 1. Synthesis of homo- and copolymers with pendent bioactive oligopeptides.

Hompolymers of 2-4 and a copolymer of 2 and 3 were synthesized by ROMP using 1^6 as an initiator (Scheme 1). The monomers were heated in a sealed vial in a 1:1 mixture of CH₂Cl₂ and MeOH in an oil bath at 55 °C for 2 hours. The initial monomer concentration was 0.6 M and the initial monomer to catalyst ratio was 10/1. Residual monomers were removed during isolation by precipitation into mixtures of CH₂Cl₂ and ether. The protecting groups were then cleaved using either TFA or, for polymers containing PHSRN, HF to yield the unprotected peptides. The polymers were stirred in 0.1 N NaOH for 10 minutes to generate the sodium carboxylates. After isolation, the polymers were then rigorously purified by repeated centrifugation through a membrane (MWCO=3000) followed by lyophilization resulting in the products as spongy, tancolored materials.

In this manner, polynorbornene homopolymers substituted with GRGDS (5), PHSRN (6), and GRGES (7) were synthesized. The copolymer containing GRGDS and PHSRN (8) was also prepared. The over-all yields (Table 1) for the GRGDS and GRGES containing polymers were excellent (91% and 84% respectively). The yields of the polymers containing PHSRN were somewhat reduced (40% for 6 and 64% for 8). This could be due to the rapid degradation of 1 in the presence of this peptide.⁷ The percent of GRGDS incorporated into the copolymer was 49% (determined from the ¹H NMR spectrum) which corresponded to the amount in the feed (50%).

Peptide	%x in feed	%x in polymer ^b	% yield overall	M _n (x10 ³) ^c	PDI
GRGDS	100%	100%	91%	12.0	1.37
PHSRN	100%	100%	40%	ns	ns
GRGDS/PHSRN	50/50%	49/51%	64%	9.14	1.30
GRGES	100%	100%	84%	11.5	hs

Table 1. Polymers substituted with oligopeptides.^a

^aGeneral reaction conditions: CH_2CI_2 :MeOH (1:1) as the solvent, 55 °C for 2 hrs. in sealed vial, M/C=10/1, [M]₀ = 0.6 M. ^bCalculated from ¹H NMR spectra. ^cDetermined by GPC, pH 8.0 phosphate buffer eluent, poly(ethylene oxide) standards. ns = not soluble in water. hs = high molecular weight shoulder.

Polymers 5, 7, and 8 were readily soluble in water and phosphate buffered saline (PBS). Unfortunately, the homopolymer substituted with PHSRN was not completely soluble in aqueous solutions. The number-average molecular weights (M_n) determined

by GPC (compared to poly(ethylene glycol) standards) were between 9,100 and 12,000. The polydispersity indexes (PDI's) were narrow for **5** and **8** (1.37 and 1.30 respectively). The GPC trace of **7** exhibited a slight high molecular weight shoulder. As mentioned above, the monomer **4** contained an impurity which could have caused the observed molecular weight distribution.

Inhibitory Activity of Polynorbornenes Substituted With Oligopeptides. It was originally hypothesized that polymers substituted with many GRGDS peptides along the backbone would exhibit stronger cell-adhesive affinities than the free peptide due to multivalent interactions provided by the polymer scaffold.^{8.9} Also, since PHSRN enhances cell binding to the RGD peptide in fibronectin,¹⁰ it was predicted that a copolymer substituted with both GRGDS and PHSRN may exhibit higher activities than materials containing only GRGDS. To investigate this, the ability of the polymers and peptides to inhibit HDF cell adhesion to fibronectin was determined, following a known Briefly, normal HDF neonatal cells were added to human plasma procedure.^{1b} fibronectin coated wells containing a certain concentration of the polymer and incubated at 37 °C for 1 hour. The cells were fixed with methanol, and the number of cells adopting a normal, well-spread morphology was estimated by counting a number of randomly selected fields viewed by phase contrast microscopy. The percent cell attachment was determined by comparing the experimental wells to control wells incubated with PBS alone.



Figure 1. Inhibition of normal HDF cell attachment to fibronectin by the polymers and free peptides. The HDF cells (35,000 cells/mL) were incubated in human plasma fibronectin coated wells at 37 °C for 60 min in the presence of increasing concentrations of soluble peptides or peptide substituted polymers. Adherent cells were fixed and counted by viewing a minimum of 6 randomly selected fields per well. Each point represents the average of 3 wells.

The inhibitory effects of polymers **5**, **7**, and **8** and peptides GRGDS, GRGES, and PHSRN are compared in Figure 1. As expected, GRGDS and GRGDS-containing

polymers **5** and **8** have an inhibitory effect. The inactive peptide GRGES^{1b,c} as well as PHSRN, which is known to be inactive unless covalently bound in the vicinity of the RGD containing peptide,¹⁰ have no effect.

The control polymer substituted with GRGES, **7**, did not inhibit HDF adhesion to fibronectin. Cells spread normally and effectively in the presence of this peptide, as observed by phase contrast microscopy. This indicates that the polymer backbone is nontoxic to the cells and the inhibitory effect observed for polymers **5** and **8** is due solely to the peptides substituted along the backbone. In addition, the percent cell attachment levels off for both **5** and **6** rather than continuing to decline, providing further indication that the polymers are nontoxic within the concentrations used for this experiment.



Figure 2. IC_{50} values for the GRGDS containing materials. Polymer concentrations are reported as the concentration of the GRGDS repeat unit. *Within a 95% confidence level, this value is statistically different from the other two.

The inhibitory activity was quantified for GRGDS and **5** and **8**. The IC₅₀ values, or concentration of GRGDS necessary to inhibit 50% of the cells from attaching, are represented in Figure 2. For GRGDS, an IC₅₀ of 1.08 ± 0.5 mM was obtained, which is within the literature ranges obtained for this peptide.^{1a,c} Polymer **5** has a lower IC₅₀ of 0.18 ± 0.07 mM, and **8** is the most active with an IC₅₀ of 0.028 ± 0.007 mM. These values are all statistically different (p < 0.04 between each value).

Both GRGDS-containing polymers inhibited HDF adhesion to fibronectin at lower concentrations than did the free peptide. This indicates that multivalent peptide-integrin interactions provided by the polymer scaffold may be important. Similar behavior has been observed for polypeptides containing many RGD repeats^{9b} and a synthetic polymer substituted with RGD peptides synthesized by radical chemistry.^{9a}

Polymer **8** with GRGDS and PHSRN ligands is the most potent substrate studied. The polymer backbone provides the covalent linkage necessary to obtain the PHSRNinduced enhancement of RGD adhesive activity.¹⁰ In fibronectin, PHSRN is 30-40 Å away and on the same face of the protein as RGD.¹¹ One integrin can easily span this distance. The above results indicate that the polymer backbone also provides the correct orientation and spatial separation of these ligands to effect an enhancement of GRGDS binding to the fibroblast cellular integrins.

Summary

These results highlight the applicability of ROMP to the synthesis of polymers for the inhibition of cell adhesion. Homopolymers and copolymers are readily synthesized containing complex oligopeptide substituents such as GRGDS and PHSRN. Multivalent interactions provided by the polymer scaffold enhance the inhibitory activity of the GRGDS containing polymers towards HDF cell adhesion to fibronectin. A copolymer with pendent GRGDS and PHSRN peptides is a potent inhibitor of cell binding, demonstrating that ROMP provides access to synthetic materials that can inhibit the activity of proteins such as fibronectin. Such materials may be used to modulate physiologically important integrin-extracellular matrix protein interactions and may be useful as drugs for disease related applications such as tumor therapy.

Experimental

Materials. 5-Norbornene-*exo*-2-carboxylic acid was synthesized according to a literature procedure.¹² All peptide coupling agents were purchased from Novabiochem. Centriprep flasks were purchased from Millipore. The peptides were synthesized and purified by the Beckman Institute Biopolymers Synthesis Laboratory (California Institute of Technology). Methylene chloride used in the polymerization reactions was dried over CaH₂, degassed, and vacuum transferred before use. All other chemicals were purchased from Aldrich and used as received. Dulbecco's modified eagle medium (DMEM) and all sterile cell culture reagents were purchased from GIBCO and used as received. The sterile flasks and 24-well plates coated with human plasma fibronectin were purchased from Falcon. The normal human dermal fibroblast (HDF) cells isolated from neonatal foreskin tissue of a single male donor were obtained from Clonetics.

Techniques. All operations were carried out under a dry nitrogen or argon atmosphere. Dry box operations were performed in a nitrogen-filled Vacuum Atmospheres dry box. ¹H NMR spectra were recorded on a JEOL GX-400 (399.65 MHz) spectrometer, or a Varian UnityPlus 600 (600.203 MHz) spectrometer as indicated. ¹³C NMR (75.49 MHz) spectra were recorded on a General Electric QE-300 spectrometer. Chemical shifts are reported downfield from tetramethylsilane (TMS). Infrared spectroscopy was performed on a Perkin Elmer Paragon 1000 FT-IR spectrometer using a film cast on a NaCl plate or a KBr pellet as indicated. Highresolution mass spectra were provided by the Southern California Mass Spectrometry Facility (University of California, Riverside). Aqueous gel permeation chromatography (GPC) were conducted using an HPLC system equipped with a Waters 515 HPLC pump, a Rheodyne model 7725 injector with a 200 μ L injection loop, a Waters 2487 Dual λ absorbance detector, a Waters 2410 refractometer, and two TSK columns (TASK 3000PW, TSK 5000PW). The eluent was 0.1 M Na₂HPO₁ dibasic buffer, the flow rate was 1 mL/min, and poly(ethylene oxide)s were used as the calibration standard. The HPLC results were obtained on a Beckman 126 Solvent Module HPLC equipped with a 166 UV Detector and an Altech 18-LL column using a H₂O/CH₃CN solvent system (7%) CH₃CN for 6 min, 7-90% CH₃CN over 38 min, and 90% CH₃CN for 8 min). Amino acid analysis was performed by the Beckman Research Institute in the Division of Immunology (City of Hope). All cell manipulations were performed in a sterile vertical laminar flow hood. Phase contrast microscopy was performed on an inverted Nikon Eclipse TE300 microscope with 200x magnification.

Norbornene GR(Pbf)GD(*t*-Bu)S(*t*Bu)-OH Monomer (2). H_2N -G-R(Pbf)-G-D(O'Bu)-S(O'Bu)-resin (0.75 mmol peptide, 4-carboxytrityl linker Novasyn[®] resin) was placed in a flask containing a frit and stopcock. The resin was swelled in 20 mL of DMF

for 15 min and then rinsed with DMF (1 x 10 mL). In a vial, 0.14 g (1.01 mmol) of 5norbornene-exo-2-carboxylic acid, 0.38 g (1.00 mmol) of 2-(1H-benzotriazole-1-yl)-1,1,3,3-tetramethyluronium hexaflurophosphate (HBTU), and 0.14 g (1.04 mmol) of 1hydroxybenzotriazole (HOBT) in 6.60 mL of DMF were agitated until all solids had dissolved. N,N-disopropylethylamine (DIEA) was added (0.35 mL, 2.01 mmol) and the solution was agitated and added to the resin. Nitrogen was gently bubbled through the mixture for 2 h. The solution was removed, and the resin was then rinsed with DMF (5 x \pm 10 mL), CH₂Cl₂ (5 x 10 mL), and MeOH (5 x 10 mL) and dried for 24 h at 30 millitorr. In a vial, 33 mL of acetic acid, CH₂Cl₂, and MeOH (5:4:1) were added to the dry resin and the vial was periodically swirled for 1.5-2 h. The solution was filtered to remove the resin, added to an excess of hex, and the solvent was removed *in vacuo*. The procedure was repeated to remove all of the acetic acid. The product was freeze-dried from benzene to give 0.73 g (91%) of **2** as an off-white solid. HPLC: single peak at 21.13 min. ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 600 MHz) δ 8.09 (1H, bs, G²_{NH}), 7.58 (1H, bs, D_{NH}), 7.49 (1H, bs, R_{NH}), 7.41 (1H, bs, S_{NH}), 7.23 (1H, bs, G¹_{NH}), 6.27 (1H, bs, R_e), 6.02 (1H, s, Nor_{olefin}), 5.98 (1H, s, Nor_{olefin}), 4.67 (1H, bm, D_{α}), 4.43 (1H, bm, S_{α}), 4.32 (1H, bm, R_{α}), 3.88 (2H, bm, G^{2}_{α} + G_{α}^{1} , 3.77 (1H, bm, G_{α}^{1}), 3.67 (1H, bm, S_{β}), 3.54 (1H, bm, S_{β}), 3.12 (1H, bm, R_{ω}), 2.87 (2H, s, R(Pbf)_{CH2}), 2.82 (1H, s, Nor), 2.77 (1H, s, Nor), 2.73 (1H, bm, D_β), 2.66 (1H, bm, D_{β} , 2.45 (3H, s, R(Pbf)_{CH3}), 2.38 (3H, s, R(Pbf)_{CH3}), 2.08 (1H, bs, Nor_{CHCO}), 1.98 (3H, s, R(Pbf)_{CH3}), 1.80 (1H, bm, R), 1.72 (1H, bm, Nor), 1.61 (1H, bm, R), 1.50 (3H, bm, R + Nor), 1.36 (6H, s, R(Pbf)_{CH3/furan}), 1.33 (9H, s, D_{tBu}), 1.19 (2H, bm, Nor_{bridge}), 1.07 (9H, s, S_{tBu}). NOESY cross peaks (CD₂Cl₂, 600 MHz) δ 8.09 (G2_{NH}), 4.32 (R_a); 7.58 (D_{NH}), 3.88 $(G2_{\alpha})$, 3.77 $(G2_{\alpha})$; 7.49 (R_{NH}) , 3.88 $(G1_{\alpha})$; 7.41 (S_{NH}) , 4.67 (D_{α}) ; 7.23 $(G1_{NH})$, 2.08

(Nor_{CHCO}). TOCSY cross peaks (CD₂Cl₂, 600 MHz) δ norbornene: 6.02, 5.98, 2.82, 2.77, 2.08, 1.72, 1.50, 1.19; G1: 7.23, 3.88; R: 7.49, 4.32, 3.12, 1.80, 1.61, 1.50; G2: 8.09, 3.88, 377; D: 7.58, 4.67, 2.73, 2.66; S: 7.41, 4.43, 3.67, 3.54. ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 300 MHz) δ 177.74, 173.32, 172.69, 171.15, 171.01, 158.92, 156.83, 138.26, 136.29, 132.52, 128.50, 125.08, 117.70, 86.79, 82.09, 74.13, 70.78, 61.69, 53.39, 53.08, 50.37, 47.65, 46.57, 44.39, 43.76, 42.06, 40.87, 37.84, 30.85, 29.48, 28.74, 28.21, 27.93, 27.51, 25.94, 19.54, 18.25, 12.66. IR (NaCl plate): 3320.7, 3061.2, 2967.8, 2926.3, 2864.1, 1726.4, 1653.7, 1544.8, 1456.6, 1363.2, 1249.0, 1155.6, 1098.5, 953.3, 849.5, 808.0, 709.4, 667.9, 564.1 cm⁻¹. HRMS (DCM/NBA/PPG) calcd for (MH)⁺ 975.4861, found 975.4876.

Norbornene P-H(Trt)-S(Trt)-R(Pbf)-N(Trt)-OH Monomer (3). The same procedure as for **2** was followed with H₂N-P-H(Trt)-S(Trt)-R(Pbf)-N(Trt)-resin (0.75 mmol, 4carboxytrityl linker Novasyn[®] resin), 0.14 g (1.01 mmol) of norbornene-*exo*-2-carboxylic acid, 0.38 g (1.00 mmol) of HBTU, 0.14 g (1.04 mmol) of HOBT, and 0.35 mL (2.01 mmol) of DIEA in 6.25 mL DMF to yield 1.24 g (97.3%) of **3** as a fluffy white solid. HPLC: single peak at 38.85 min. ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 600 MHz) δ 8.29 (bs), 7.59-7.38 (bm), 6.89-7.29 (bm with maxima at 6.89, 7.04, 7.13, 7.22, 7.28, 7.29), 6.63 (bm), 5.98 (s), 5.84 (bm), 5.73 (bm), 4.45 (bm), 4.30 (bm), 4.13 (bm), 3.47-3.36 (bm), 2.93-2.65 (bm, with maxima at 2.65, 2.76, 2.84, 2.93), 2.34-2.43 (bm with maxima at 2.34, 2.40), 2.10 (bm), 1.98 (s), 1.93 (bm), 1.76 (bm), 1.63 (bm), 1.54 (bm), 1.34 (s), 1.22 (bm), 0.95 (bm). ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 300 MHz) δ 174.74, 172.87, 171.27, 170.01, 158.49, 156.70, 144.51, 143.85, 141.86, 138.36, 136.19, 135.91, 132.32, 129.90, 128.49, 128.06, 127.32, 127.11, 126.92, 124.62, 120.31, 117.34, 87.20, 86.49, 70.66, 63.49, 61.24, 54.93, 51.09, 47.78, 46.95, 46.24, 45.79, 43.07, 42.76, 41.98, 30.81, 30.06, 28.70, 25.35, 21.26, 19.51, 18.20, 12.68. IR (NaCl plate): 3317.7, 3054.7, 2970.5, 2917.9, 1669.8, 1622.5, 1548.8, 1491.0, 1443.6, 1417.3, 1264.8, 1096.4, 738.7, 696.6, 659.6. HRMS (MALDI) calcd for (MNa)⁺ 1708.7737, found 1708.7739.

Norbornene G-R(Pbf)-G-E(O'Bu)-S(O'Bu)-OH (4). The same procedure as for 2 was followed with G-R(Pbf)-G-E(O'Bu)-S(O'Bu)-resin (0.25 mmol, 4-carboxytrity) linker Novasyn® resin), 0.14 g (1.01 mmol) of 5-norbornene-exo-2-carboxylic acid, 0.38 g (1.00 mmol) of HBTU, 0.14 g (1.04 mmol) of HOBT, and 0.35 mL (2.01 mmol) of DIEA in 6.60 mL DMF to yield 0.11 g (46.1%) of 4 (plus an impurity detected in the 1 H NMR spectrum) as a white solid. HPLC: single peak at 24.35 min. ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, 600 MHz) δ 8.07 (1H, bs), 7.62-7.53 (3H, bm), 7.23 (1H, bs), 6.28-6.23 (2H, bm), 6.02 (1H, s), 5.99 (1H, s), 4.75 (1H, bm), 4.42 (1H, bm), 4.28 (1H, bm), 3.86 (3H, bm), 3.68 (1H, bm), 3.56 (1H, bm), 3.12 (1H, bm), 2.86 (2H, s), 2.82 (1H, s), 2.77 (1H, s), 2.46 (3H, s), 2.39 (3H, s), 2.36 (1H, bm), 2.30 (1H, bm), 2.08 (1H, bs), 1.98 (3H, s), 1.93 (2H, bm), 1.80 (1H, bm), 1.73 (1H, bm), 1.61 (1H, bm), 1.50 (3H, bm), 1.36 (6H, s), 1.33 (9H, s), 1.19 (2H, bm), 1.06 (9H, s). IR (NaCl plate): 3444.0, 3286.2, 2970.6, 1727.7, 1627.8, 1543.6, 1448.9, 1364.7, 1249.0, 1154.3, 1096.4, 733.4, 665.0, 570.3. HRMS (DCM/NBA/PPG) calcd for (MH)⁺ 989.5018, found 989.5018.

General Polymerization Procedure. In a nitrogen-filled dry box, a solution of 1 in CH_2Cl_2 was added to a solution of monomer in MeOH (1:1 CH_2Cl_2 :MeOH) in a dram to give an initial monomer concentration of 0.6 M. The dram was sealed and removed from the box. Within 10 min, the dram was placed in an oil bath at 55 °C and the solution was stirred for 2 h. The initial monomer to catalyst ratios were 10/1. The polymerization mixtures were cooled to room temperature, diluted, and ethyl vinyl ether was added. The solutions were stirred for an additional 15-30 min before isolation by precipitation into CH_2Cl_2 :ether (3:1 for **5-7**, 1:1 for **8**). The polymers were subjected to centrifugation, the solvent was removed, and the solids dried under vacuum.

General Deprotection Procedure. For **5** and **7**, a solution of TFA, triisopropylsilane (TIS), and H_2O (95/2.5/2.5) was added to the dried polymers to make a final concentration of 20 mL/g polymer. The mixtures were stirred for 2.5 h before precipitating into cold ether. The polymers were subjected to centrifugation, the solvent was removed, and the solids washed with cold ether (2 x 5 mL) before drying under vacuum. **6** and **8** were subjected for 1 h to 10 mL of condensed HF and 0.5 mL of *p*-cresol in the proper containment apparatus. The HF was removed *in vacuo* and the solid was washed with ether before drying under vacuum

Purification. The polymers were subjected to a minimum amount of 0.1 N NaOH for 10 min, precipitated into MeOH, isolated by centrifugation, and dried under vacuum. Deionized, doubly distilled water was added to the polymers and the polymers purified by centrifugation through a membrane using Centiprep tubes with a molecular weight cut off (MWCO) of 3,000. This procedure was repeated a minimum of 5 times for each polymer. The polymer solutions were then subjected to centrifugation, the solution decanted to remove any insoluble particulate material, and lyophilized. The resulting polymers were all spongy, tan materials and were kept at -30 °C until use.

The polymers were characterized and the data not reported in the text is reported below. The ¹H NMR copolymer spectrum is the addition of the two homopolymer

spectra. All peaks are broad, and unless otherwise stated, are the composite of the *trans* and *cis* polymer proton peaks.

GRGDS Homopolymer (5). ¹H NMR (D₂O, 600 MHz): δ 7.41 (bm, NH), 7.36 (bm, NH), 7.29 (bm, NH) 5.24-5.45 (2H, bm), 4.68 (bm, D_a), 4.36 (1H), 4.26 (1H, bm), 3.94-4.02 (3H, bm), 3.84 (3H, bm), 3.20 (2H), 2.94 & 2.71 (*cis & trans*, 2H, bm), 2.65 (2H, bm), 1.90-1.97 (2H, bm), 1.76 (1H, bm), 1.64 (4H, bm), 1.23 (2H, bm). IR (KBr pellet): 3363.1, 2933.3, 1638.7, 1528.6, 1397.6, 1240.4, 1114.6, 1036.0, 967.9, 925.9, 611.5 cm⁻¹. AAA expected (found): Asp 1.00 (1.03), Ser 1.00 (0.90), Gly 2.00 (1.96), Arg 1.00 (1.11) residue/mol.

GRGES Homopolymer (7). ¹H NMR (D₂O, 600 MHz): δ 7.43 (bm, NH), 7.37 (bm, NH), 7.29 (bm, NH) 5.29-5.46 (2H, bm), 4.38 (2H, bm), 4.27 (1H), 3.92-3.98 (3H, bm), 3.85 (3H, bm), 3.20 (2H, bm), 2.98 & 2.60-2.69 (*cis & trans*, 2H, bm), 2.27 (2H, bm), 2.13 (1H, bm), 1.94 (4H, bm), 1.76 (1H, bm), 1.64 (3H, bm), 1.23 (2H, bm). IR (KBr pellet): 3323.8, 2936.0, 1655.7, 1540.4, 1451.3, 1398.9, 1241.7, 1115.9, 1042.5, 979.7, 848.6, 670.5, 539.5 cm⁻¹. AAA expected (found): Ser 1.00 (1.04), Glu 1.00 (1.09), Gly 2.00 (2.15), Arg 1.00 (0.72) residue/mol.

GRGDS/PHSRN Copolymer (8). ¹H NMR (D₂O, 600 MHz): δ 7.70, 7.31, 6.98, 5.42, 4.48, 4.37-4.40, 4.27, 3.97, 3.86, 3.18, 2.76, 2.71, 2.66, 2.18, 1.91, 1.75, 1.64, 1.28. IR (KBr pellet): 3342.1, 2933.3, 1596.7, 1444.8, 1387.1, 1313.7, 1245.6, 1046.5, 983.6, 925.9, 616.7 cm⁻¹. AAA expected (found): Asp + Asn 2.00 (2.04), Ser 2.00 (1.73), Pro 1.0 (1.07), Gly 2.00 (2.24), His 1.0 (0.97), Arg 2.00 (1.94) residue/mol.

Cell Maintenance. HDF cells were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 400 U/mL penicillin, and 400 mg/mL streptomycin in an

incubator at 37 °C and 4.9% CO₂. Subculturing was accomplished by rinsing the cells with HEPES buffered saline solution (HBSS), enzymatically removing the cells from the surface with trypsin, and neutralizing the trypsin with supplemented DMEM. The number of viable cells was assessed using a hemacytometer with trypan blue, and the cells were dispensed into 25 or 75 cm² flasks at a density of 3500 cells/cm².

Sample Preparation. Samples were weighed on a microbalance and solubilized in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) to a concentration 4x the desired final concentration. The pH of the solutions were determined and adjusted to ~7.4 as necessary. Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) alone was used in the control wells. The samples were filter (0.2 µm) sterilized before use.

Competitive Inhibition Assay. To 24-well plates coated with human plasma, fibronectin was added 100 μ l of the polymer or peptide solution. HDF cells of passage 4-7 were harvested with trypsin as described above and resuspended to 35,000 cells/mL in unmodified DMEM. Cell suspensions were allowed to recover for at least 15 min before adding 300 μ l to each well. The cells were evenly dispersed by gentle rocking of the plate before incubation for 60 min at 37 °C and 4.9% CO₂. The attached cells were fixed with methanol after removal of the sample solutions and washing with deionized H₂O. The cells were observed by phase contrast microscopy and counted in a minimum of 6 randomly selected fields per well. The percent maximum cell attachment is the average number of cells per view divided by the average number obtained for the control multiplied by 100. The IC₅₀ is the concentration where 50% of the maximum possible cells are attached.

Acknowledgements

Sheldon Okada is greatly appreciated for his intellectual and collaborative contributions to this work. Professor David Tirrell is gratefully acknowledged for providing us with the use of his cell culture room. Sarah Heilshorn, Natalie Winblade, and Jason Schense are thanked for their many helpful discussions.

References

- For examples, see: (a) Pierschbacher, M. D.; Ruoslahti, E. *Nature* 1984, *309*, 30-33. (b) Humphries, M. J.; Akiyama, S. K.; Komoriya, A.; Olden, K.; Yamada, K. M. *J. Cell Biol.* 1986, *103*, 2637-2647. (c) Pierschbacher, M. D.; Ruoslahti, E. *J. Biol. Chem.* 1987, *262*, 17294-17298.
- (2) For reviews see: (a) Akiyama, S. K.; Olden, K.; Yamada, K. M. Cancer & Metastasis Rev., 1995, 14, 173-189. (b) Ruoslahti, E. Adv. Cancer Res. 1999, 1-20.
- Koivunen, E.; Wang, B.; Dickinson, C. D.; Ruoslahti, E. *Meth. Enzym.* 1994, 245, 346-369.
- (4) For reviews, see: (a) Pierschbacher, M. D.; Polarek, J. W.; Craig, W. S.; Tschopp, J. F.; Sipes, N. J.; Harper, J. R. J. Cell. Biochem. 1994, 56, 150-154. (b) Ojima, I.; Chakravarty, S.; Dong, Q. Biorg. Med. Chem. 1995, 3, 337-360. (c) Shakesheff, K. M.; Cannizzaro, S. M.; Langer, R. J. Biomater. Sci. Polymer Edn. 1998, 9, 507-518.
- (5) Maynard, H. D.; Okada, S. Y.; Grubbs, R. H. Macromolecules 2000, in press.

- (6) Scholl, M.; Ding, S.; Lee, C. W.; Grubbs, R. H. Org. Lett. **1999**, *1*, 953-956.
- Typically, ruthenium catalysts are unstable in the presence of primary and secondary amines, and PHSRN contains more amines than does GRGDS or GRGES. See, for example: Fu, G. C.; Nguyen, S. T.; Grubbs, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 9856-9857.
- (8) For a review of polyvalent interactions, see: Mammen, M.; Choi, S. K.;
 Whitesides, G. M. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Eng. 1998, 37, 2754-2794.
- (9) This has been observed for materials containing multiple copies of RGD, see: (a) Komazawa, H.; Saiki, I.; Igarashi, Y.; Azuma, I.; Kojima, M.; Orikasa, A.; Ono, M.; Itoh, I. J. Bioact. & Compat. Polymers 1993, 8, 258-274. (b) Saiki, I. Jpn. J. Pharmacol. 1997, 75, 215-242.
- (10) Aota, S.; Nomizu, M.; Yamada, K. M. J. Biol. Chem. 1994, 269, 24756-24761.
- (11) Leahy, D. J.; Aukhil, I.; Erickson, H. P. Cell 1996, 84, 155-164.
- (12) Ver Nooy, C. D.; Rondestvedt, Jr., C. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1955, 77, 3583-3586.

Chapter 6

Purification Technique for the Removal of Ruthenium from

Olefin Metathesis Reaction Products[‡]

Abstract

Ring-closing metathesis (RCM) products of reactions utilizing $RuCl_2(=CHPh)(PCy_3)_2$ (1) as a catalyst were successfully purified of unwanted ruthenium using a water-soluble coordinating phosphine, tris(hydroxymethyl)phosphine, P(CH₂OH)₃. Several simple and efficient purification procedures were compared for the isolation of the product of the RCM of diethyl diallylmalonate. The effectiveness of this procedure was also demonstrated for the isolation of an unsaturated analog of 12-crown-4 ether.

Introduction

Metal complexes are utilized in many organic transformations, including small molecule and polymer synthesis.¹ However, removal of the metal complex after completion of the reaction can pose a serious problem during product purification, especially on an industrial scale. This residual metal can be problematic in subsequent transformations, as well as for storage and use of the material. Specifically, as described in Chapter 1, ruthenium catalysts such as benzylidene ruthenium complex 1^{2} are commonly utilized in olefin metathesis reactions such as RCM, cross metathesis, or ringopening metathesis polymerization (ROMP).³ However, it can prove very difficult to remove the highly-colored ruthenium complexes from the products of these reactions, and the residual ruthenium can cause problems such as olefin isomerization during distillation of the product, decomposition over time, and increased toxicity of the final material. In this chapter, a method is described to alleviate these problems by using a commercially available phosphine that facilitates the removal of ruthenium during product isolation.



Tris(hydroxymethyl)phosphine (2) is a water soluble and moderately air stable phosphine.⁴ Because of these properties, there have been an increasing number of reports on the use of 2 as a ligand for water-soluble transition metal complexes used as catalysts^{4,5} and for applications in medicinal chemistry.⁶ Recently, two ruthenium

complexes of 2 (See Figure 1) have been described.⁷ In these cases the phosphine readily coordinates to the ruthenium resulting in complexes that are soluble in water. These studies prompted the investigations into the use of 2 for the removal of residual ruthenium from olefin metathesis reaction products as described in this chapter.



Drießen-Hölscher, et al.

Figure 1. Water-soluble ruthenium complexes containing tris(hydroxymethyl)-phosphine.

Results and Discussion

The RCM of diethyl diallylmalonate by ruthenium complex **1** and purification of the product using **2** was undertaken as shown in Scheme 1. It was observed that when the crude product was added to a solution of 2^8 and triethylamine⁹ in methylene chloride, the solution turned from a black/brown color to pale yellow within five minutes, indicating that **2** was coordinating to the ruthenium. Upon the addition of water, the yellow color moved into the aqueous phase leaving the methylene chloride phase colorless. ¹H NMR spectroscopic studies indicated that all of the product remained in the methylene chloride phase and all of the phosphine moved to the aqueous phase (Figure 2).



Scheme 1. Purification of diethyl diallylmalonate RCM product with phosphine 2.



Figure 2. ¹H NMR spectra for the RCM of diethyl diallylmalonate: A) CH_2Cl_2 layer containing only the product, 3,3-diethylester-pentene. B) H_2O layer containing both the phosphine **2** and triethylamine.

To quantify this observation a series of purification experiments were undertaken and the results given in Table 1. The amount of ruthenium in a 5 mg sample of the RCM product was determined by inductive-coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS). All purification methods achieved a more than tenfold decrease in the amount of ruthenium remaining in the sample compared to the crude sample (entry 1). The results were similar whether 86 equivalents (entry 2) or 378 equivalents (entry 3) of **2** were used followed by a single aqueous wash. The amount of ruthenium in the product could be decreased by adding 86 equivalents of **2** followed by 3 aqueous washes (entry 4) or adding **2** to the methylene chloride layer three times, followed by an aqueous wash each time (entry 5). Because **2** is polar and is known to graft onto silica gel,¹⁰ a purification involving stirring a solution of the product, **2**, and triethylamine in methylene chloride with an excess of silica gel (entry 6) was attempted. This method gave the best result and the amount of residual ruthenium in the sample was reduced to 1 µg in 5 mg of product.

Entry	Method	Ruthenium (µg/5 mg product)
1	crude	74.6 + 0.8
2	86 eq. 2 , 1 H ₂ O wash	5.72 + 0.07
3	378 eq. 2 , 1 H ₂ O wash	5.84 + 0.07
4	86 eq. 2 , 3 H ₂ O washes	3.35 + 0.07
5	86 eq. 2 , 1 H ₂ O wash, repeated 3 times	3.56 + 0.07
6	86 eq. 2, stir with silica gel, filter	1.03 + 0.04

Table 1. Amount of ruthenium in 5 mg product by various purification methods.^a

^aNumber of eq. of **2** based on added **1**. In each case, 2 eq. Et₃N to **2** was used.

Given that in the above experiments the same results were obtained by adding 86 equivalents or greater of 2, next we studied the minimum amount of 2 that would be

necessary to draw ruthenium into the aqueous phase. A series of experiments was undertaken to determine the net ICP-MS intensity of ruthenium 101 in the aqueous phase after adding a certain number of equivalents of **2** to the methylene chloride layer followed by one aqueous wash. There was a steep rise in the net intensity and thus amount of ruthenium in the aqueous phase between 1 and 10 equivalents of **2**, followed by a leveling off of intensity (Figure 3). It appears that at least 10 equivalents of **2** is necessary to efficiently extract the ruthenium into the H₂O layer from the methylene chloride phase.



Figure 3. Ruthenium ICP-MS signal from aqueous phase versus equivalents of 2.



Scheme 2. Distillation of 3 results in an isomerization of the allyl ether to a vinyl ether to form 4. Species 4 reacts with catalyst 1 to form a ruthenium species inert to metathesis.

With this information, the methodology was extended to another example. As discussed in Chapter 3, the RCM of bisallyl triethylene glycol with 1 yields crown ether 3 which can be polymerized by ROMP to form a polyether.¹¹ However, when the purification of 3 was attempted by distillation, 2-5% of the cyclic vinyl ether 4 formed (Scheme 2). This species reacts irreversibly with 1 to form RuCl₂(=CHOR)(PCy₃)₂, which is inactive for olefin metathesis reactions. When 4 is present in solution, the ROMP of 3 is inhibited. However, when 3 was pretreated with 2 and purified with a single aqueous wash, the ruthenium concentration was reduced from 80 to 8.8 µg per 5 mg 3 as determined by ICP-MS. In this case, a tenfold decrease in the ruthenium concentration was significant enough to inhibit the detrimental isomerization during distillation, thus eliminating the need for a more time-consuming purification of 3.

Summary

This chapter describes the removal of ruthenium from RCM reaction products, facilitated by the use of water-soluble phosphine 2 during the isolation process. An aqueous extraction or silica gel purification may be used. In the case of an aqueous extraction, 10 equivalents of 2 to ruthenium is adequate to move the ruthenium to the H_2O phase. This method can be extended to the purification of other RCM products, such as unsaturated crown ethers.

Experimental

Materials. Tris(hydroxymethyl)phosphine was purchased from Strem and used as received. Diethyl diallylmalonate and the ruthenium standard were purchased from Aldrich. The crown ether substrate was synthesized as described in Chapter 2.¹¹ Water used to make the ICP-MS samples was purified through a nanopure column after distillation. Methylene chloride (CH_2Cl_2) was rigorously degassed and passed through purification columns.¹² Triethylamine and all other solvents were purchased from EM Science and used as received.

Techniques. ¹H NMR (399.65 MHz) spectra were taken on a JEOL GX-400 spectrometer. ¹H chemical shifts are reported downfield from tetramethylsilane (TMS). Inductive-coupled mass spectrometry data was obtained on an Elan 5000A using a 180 s rinse time followed by a 120 s wash delay.

General RCM procedure. To a solution of diethyl diallylmalonate (0.10 mL, 0.41 mmol) in CH_2Cl_2 (19 mL) was added a solution of **1** (17 mg, 0.02 mmol) in CH_2Cl_2 (2 mL). The mixture was stirred for 2 h at room temperature, ethyl vinyl ether (~0.1 mL)

was added, and the mixture stirred for an additional 30 min. The solvent and ethyl vinyl ether were evaporated to give the crude 3,3-diethylester-pentene product. ¹H NMR δ 5.59 (s, 2H), 4.14 (q, 2H, J=7.2 Hz), 2.96 (s, 2H), 1.21 (t, 3H, J=7.7 Hz).

Typical purification procedure. A typical purification procedure is as follows: 3,3-Diethylester-pentene (100 mg, 0.47 mmol) in methylene chloride (0.5 mL) was added to a solution of **2** (29 mg, 2.36 mmol) and triethylamine (66 μ g, 4.72 mmol) in methylene chloride (1.5 mL) and stirred for 10 min. Water (~2 mL) was added and the biphasic solution vigorously stirred for 15 min. The aqueous layer was separated and the methylene chloride removed *in vacuo* to isolate the product as a yellow oil.

General quantification by ICP-MS. Samples of approximately 5 mg were precisely weighed on a microbalance, digested overnight with concentrated nitric acid, and diluted to 1% nitric acid. The samples were filtered through 2 μ m filters to remove any particulate matter. The samples were each measured 10 times by ICP-MS, and the intensities were obtained for ruthenium isotopes 99, 101, and 102. The intensity of pure 1% nitric acid was subtracted from the sample intensities to give the net intensities. To determine the actual concentration of ruthenium in the samples, the net intensities were obtained to the net intensities obtained for the ruthenium standards. The standards were obtained by diluting a ruthenium standard of 980 μ g/mL Ru in 5 wt.% HCl with 1% nitric acid to get 2.04, 1.49, 0.98, 0.47, 0.1, 0.05, and 0.01 μ g/mL Ru standards where each sample contained less than 0.01 wt.% HCl. The numbers given indicate the average amount of ruthenium obtained for the three isotopes measured.

Acknowledgements

Dr. Peter Green is thanked for his help with the ICP-MS. Support was generously provided by the National Institutes of Health.

References

- Portions of this chapter have been previously published as: Maynard, H. D.;
 Grubbs, R. H. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1999, 40, 4137-4140.
- (1) For examples see: McQuillin, F. J.; Parker, D. G.; Stephenson, G. R. Transition Metal Organometallics for Organic Synthesis; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, 1991.
- (2) (a) Schwab, P.; France, M. B.; Ziller, J. W.; Grubbs, R. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1995, 34, 2039-2041. (b) Schwab, P.; Grubbs, R. H.; Ziller, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 100-110.
- (3) For recent reviews of olefin metathesis see: (a) Schuster, M.; Blechert, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 2036-3056. (b) Grubbs, R. H.; Chang, S. Tetrahedron 1998, 54, 4413-4450. (c) Ivin, K. J. J. Mol. Cat. A-Chem. 1998, 133, 1-16.
- (4) Ellis, J. W.; Harrison, K. N.; Hoye, P. A. T.; Orpen, A. G.; Pringle, P. G.; Smith,
 M. B. *Inorg. Chem.* 1992, *31*, 3026-3033.
- (5) (a) Hoye, P. A. T.; Pringle, P. G.; Smith, M. B.; Worboys, K. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1993, 269-274. (b) Goodwin, N. J.; Henderson, W.; Nicholson, B. K.; Sarfo, J. K.; Fawcett, J.; Russell, D. R. J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans. 1997,
4377-4384. (c) Berning, D. E.; Katti, K. V.; Barbour, L. J.; Volkert, W. A. *Inorg. Chem.* **1998**, *37*, 334-339.

- (6) (a) Komiya, S.; Awata, H.; Ishimatsu, S.; Fukuoka, A. *Inorg. Chim. Acta* 1994, 217, 201-202. (b) Berning, D. E.; Katti, K. V.; Singh, P. R.; Higgenbotham, C.; Sreenivasa Reddy, V.; Volkert, W. A. *Nucl. Med. Bio.* 1996, 23, 617-622. (c) Berning, D. E.; Katti, K. V.; Barnes, C. L.; Volkert, W. A. *Chem. Ber./Recueil* 1997, 130, 907-911.
- (7) (a) Higham, L.; Powell, A. K.; Whittlesey, M. K.; Wocadlo, S.; Wood, P. T.
 Chem. Commun. 1998, 1107-1108. (b) Drieβen-Hölscher, B.; Heinen, J. J.
 Organomet. Chem. 1998, 570, 141-146.
- Phosphine 2 was purchased from Strem Chemicals, but may be synthesized from
 [P(CH₂OH)₄]Cl, see reference 4.
- (9) Triethylamine was necessary to catalyze a reversal in CH_2Cl_2 of the hemiacetals that are formed during the synthesis of the phosphine. (For the synthesis of **2**, see reference 5a.)
- (10) Shido, T.; Okazaki, T.; Ichikawa, M. J. Catal. 1995, 157, 436-449.
- (11) Marsella, M. J.; Maynard, H. D.; Grubbs, R. H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 1101-1103.
- (12) Pangborn, A. B.; Giardello, M. A.; Grubbs, R. H.; Rosen, R. K.; Timmers, F. J.
 Organometallics 1996, 15, 1518-1520.